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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (Stock Code:
2319) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) manufacture
and distribute quality dairy products in China. It is one
of the leading dairy product manufacturers in China,
with MENGNIU as its core brand.

The Group’s diversified products range include liquid
milk products, such as UHT milk, milk beverages and
yogurt, ice cream and other dairy products such as milk
powder. In December 2011, the Group’s annual

production capacity reached 7.05 million tons.
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Highlights

2011 2010
—E——5F —TF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December BE+t-—A=1t—HILEE ARMET T N ==

Revenue WA 37,387,844 30,265,415

Gross profit ES] 9,592,152 7,786,436

Profit attributable to owners of the Company RAFHA AEGFE 1,589,274 1,237,273

Net cash inflow from operating activities BRI EA RIS RA 2,520,057 2,485,117
Earnings per share (RMB) BRAEF (ARKET)

— Basic —HAR 0.908 0.712

— Diluted —#8 0.905 0.711

Capitalising on the opportunities presented by the orderly development
of the industry, the Group continuously optimised its product portfolio
and launched more high-end and innovative new products, thereby
enabling it to consolidate its leading position in the market. The revenue
of the Group increased by 23.5% to RMB37,387.8 million while
the profit attributable to owners of the Company rose by 28.4% to
RMB1,589.3 million during the year.

The strategy of “selling to where it is produced and producing at where
it is sold” (FEEHhEH - $HHbE) was deployed throughout the country and
the aggregate annual production capacity of the Group reached 7.05
million tons as of December 2011.

Mengniu proposed the theme of “One Step Closer to Green Life”
(FEXT4EHESE) for the year and exerted its best efforts to promote a
green economy as well as organise eco-activity campaigns. During the
year, Mengniu was honored with the Best Environmental Sustainability
Initiative (Fx{E3R 15 Al #4835 4%) by the International Dairy Federation.

Since the acquisition of Junlebao, both parties have achieved synergies
by sharing resources in the procurement of raw milk and sales channels,
thereby improving the sales of products as well as branding for both
parties.

Mengniu established an overseas sales centre to tap into the
international market. Furthermore, the Group’s products were launched
again in Hong Kong and Macau, the first important step in entering the
international market.
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Plant Map
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REFEUSERAT —F——FEH

Major Awards and Achievements

The Group:

IDF Dairy Innovation Award and Best Environmental Sustainability
Initiative awarded by International Dairy Federation

Garnered the “Eco-China Contribution Award” at the Second Ecological
China Forum

Honored as the “Chinese Listed Company with the Most Influential
Brand Overseas” at the China Securities Golden Bauhinia Award

Honored as a “Star of Boao” at the Boao Forum for Asia
Received the “2011 Outstanding Enterprise in Fulfilling Corporate Social
Responsibility Award” at the China Corporate Social Responsibility

Annual Session

Garnered the “Media Innovation Bronze Award” at the 2011 EFFIE
Awards

Mengniu Brand:

Ranked 18th under the “BrandZ™ Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands 2012"

Mengniu dairy products ranked first, in terms of sales volume and sales
value, among similar products in China in 2011, according to China
Industrial Information Issuing Centre under National Bureau of Statistics
in China, the sixth time Mengniu has led this market category

Inclusion in Hurun Brand List 2011

Outstanding Brand Award 2010-2011 at the Third Conference of
Branding and Communication in China
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CEQO’s Statement

Striving for excellence in quality
Dedicated to create a greener life
Mengniu enters into a new era in 2012

Yang Wenjun
BN &
Chief Executive Officer

ABEL

| am pleased to present the annual results of China Mengniu Dairy Company 28 At R [A) 2 48R R 2P B4 FLE B R A A
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Mengniu” or the “Group”)  ([ARE ) REF AR (G4 sk AE@E DEE—
for the year ended 31 December 2011 to our shareholders. T——F T A=T—HIFEZEFFEE -

The year 2011 was a very critical year for the dairy industry in China. As —ZE——F 24N PEIARRITEIFFREREN—F » £
stated by Mr. Wen Jiabao, the Prime Minister of China, when visiting the IR RBAIE N R B SA A EEMWE s - [ EE
production plants of Mengniu, “China should raise its own breeds of milk —~ EiEHBCNNGRE - £EHSWENFTMELE
cattle, so as to produce milk and dairy products of high quality and nurture & @ =S ECHF DI E AME ] - BEATEESR
its own brands for milk and dairy products”. The entire industry underwent — JIERIS R ESIRIR AR ISR ETE - S mE - @ bRIRE
rationalisation under a more stringent regulatory regime and progressed  ZA[AIFTEEE °

towards the development of a high quality and branding-oriented base.
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On the one hand, we were very pleased to witness a stable and sustainable
growth of the dairy industry in China caused by the continuously expanding
consumption demand. On the other hand, the Government has re-
examined the production permits of dairy product enterprises. Enterprises
not complying with the stipulated requirements were eliminated. The
industry was restructured and the barrier of competition was increased,
which facilitated the development of the dairy market towards a healthy
and orderly direction and created development opportunities for large
enterprises which are leading the industry. As one of the leaders in the
dairy industry, Mengniu actively sought a competitive edge to remain at
the forefront of the prosperous development of the industry and further
consolidated its market position. Mengniu had ranked as one of the top 20
global dairy enterprises (£3k%|.2£2058) in a list issued by Rabobank, the
Netherlands.

In 2011, the total revenue of the Group was RMB37,387.8 million for the
year, representing a growth of 23.5%. Profit attributable to owners of the
Company increased to RMB1,589.3 million and basic earnings per share
were RMB0.908. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board of
Directors”) recommended a final dividend payment of R\MB0.198 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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CEO's Statement AR iR EE
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CEO’s Statement A &R &=

By capitalising on the ongoing healthy growth in the market demand
for dairy products as well as the favorable environment arising from the
gradually regulated competitive market in the industry, the Group persisted
in introducing mid to high-end dairy products with high added value to
satisfy the consumption demand and expand its market share. Furthermore,
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (AKAZLEIEFRAR)
("Junlebao”), the largest yogurt manufacturer in northern China, which
we successfully acquired in 2010, comprehensively collaborated with us in
terms of milk sources, markets, sales channels and production facilities, etc.
The ensuing synergies delivered improvements in the sales of products and
branding of both parties. Various favorable factors effectively promoted the
growth of the Group’s revenue. During the year, the liquid milk segment
of the Group continuously enjoyed advantages with revenue increasing
by 25.4% to RMB33,701.2 million, representing 90.1% of the Group's
revenue and remained number one in market share within China. The ice
cream products of Mengniu also underwent a comprehensive upgrade
towards the higher end of the market, creating a new higher-end trend
among local ice cream brands in China. The revenue from the ice cream
segment increased by 4.7% to RMB3,258.6 million, representing 8.7% of
the Group's revenue. As for other dairy products, Mengniu re-launched its
milk powder products with the novel brand of MENGNIU ARLA, which had
elicited a satisfactory preliminary market response. The growth in revenue
from other dairy products segment totally increased by 51.8% to RMB428
million, representing 1.2% of the Group's revenue.

With a sustainable growth in revenue, the profitability of the Group was
also stabilised and enhanced gradually during recent years and the net profit
margin further increased to 4.3%. We believe this favorable performance
was due to our advanced strategic planning, enhanced internal control
procedures, optimised product portfolio and restructured organisation.
Costs and expenses were tightly controlled, thereby enabling the growth
in profitability and mitigating the cost pressure brought about by the

inflationary environment.
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From a strategic expansion perspective, Mengniu continuously extended
its deployment of resources throughout China, adding production plants
at Qingyuan City in Guangdong Province and Yinchuan City in Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region. The demand from regional markets across China was
thus catered for, with an aggregate annual production capacity of 7.05
million tons during the year. Mengniu actively tapped into the international
market by leveraging its position as one of the leaders of the dairy industry
in China. We embarked on research in the global dairy market, in order to
advance towards the integration of resources globally whether within or
outside China. Our products were launched again in international markets
and distributed in Hong Kong and Macau respectively, which further
internationalised the brand of MENGNIU.

The theme of “High Quality for a Green Life” (4f & - 4x4 %) remained
the direction to be further pursued by Mengniu. In order to achieve
“High Quality” (4ff =), Mengniu carefully managed every aspect of
production operations from milk sourcing to research and development
("R&D") and quality control. Overall control of product quality was thus
enhanced. We undertook our best effort to develop safe and reliable milk
sources. The proportion of milk sources provided by ranches and scaled
farms was increased to nearly 80% during the year, and we also provided
comprehensive technical service systems to the suppliers. We have persisted
in improving the independent R&D standards for the dairy industry in China,
and actively applied for patents. We have also commenced the operation
of the post-doctoral scientific research centre and overseas R&D station in
Tokyo so as to upgrade our R&D capacity.

In terms of quality control, Mengniu is striving to perfect its “end-to-end”
(i@ 2m) comprehensive quality control system throughout the production
process. The implementation of the “Electronic Tracking System” (&5 383
Z#7%) is progressively advancing towards the target of tracking our products.
The expectation of “High Quality” (4F54E) is extended to every facet of the
products. All operational departments and branches or processing plants

of the Group have successfully passed the inspection by the State General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine (“AQSIQ")
and obtained production permits of dairy products.

RESFIEERAT 2 ——FFR

CEO's Statement AR iR EE
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CEO’s Statement &K E=

It was announced by the state quality supervision authority of the PRC
in December 2011 that a batch of products from Mengniu’s plant at
Meishan, Sichuan, was found excessive levels of flavacin M1 upon random
inspection. As such batch of products was still in the warehouse at the
time of the inspection, that batch of products was sealed immediately
and later on destroyed by the Group and had not been released to the
market. We deeply recognised from the incident that there was still
room for improvement in our internal management. On the basis of the
current management system based on the concept of the whole supply
chain management system, we forthwith bolstered the control of milk
sources, which boosted overall quality. Our internal quality control process
flow was strengthened by the division of the quality control system into
a raw materials quality control centre and a products quality control
centre. The products would thus be cross-checked by two independent
departments from production to dispatch. Moreover, the quality and safety
administration centre and raw milk quality assurance centre were formed
to further monitor the products quality. We shall also voluntarily invite third
parties such as authoritative institutions of the Government to carry out
random inspection on our products and publish the results. These efforts
were intended to assure the credibility and reliability of the results in the
quality inspection of products, and evidence the determination of Mengniu
in realising “High Quality” (4F&E).

Apart from actively expanding its businesses, the Group also continuously
exerted considerable effort to build up the “Green Life” (4k4=j%) brand
image of MENGNIU. Highlights included becoming one of the global
partners for the International Horticultural Exposition held at Xi‘an in
China, the organisation of a major ecological community event “Ecological
Movement Support China” (4£88178) » B )R [E), and the participation
in the “Earth Hour” (bEk—/)\BF) activity initiated by the World Wide
Fund for Nature (“WWEF"). Through these activities, we successfully turned
474 7E). While

we were pursuing a green vision in our branding, we also undertook

2011 into a year of “One Step Closer to Green Life” (¥t

social responsibility initiatives in promoting the ecological protection of
the environment. Moreover, through utilising environmentally friendly
packaging materials, promoting the recycling of packaging and advocating
low carbon and emissions reduction in production, we had laid down the
platform for environmental protection and sustainable development from

the perspective of corporate social responsibility.
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The year 2011 was the first year of Mengniu’s second five-year plan.
Mengniu enjoyed success with its vigorous efforts, setting an encouraging
prelude with consolidated determination, notwithstanding the intensive
competition in the industry. We also became more confident that we could
realise our strategic objective. Meanwhile, the fact that we detected the
shortcomings in our enterprise management during 2011 enabled us to
more clearly recognise how to enhance the quality of internal management
in 2012. While steadily pursuing the objectives laid down in the five-year
plan, Mengniu also commits itself to laying the groundwork for a more
prosperous development in the future.

As a pioneer in the development of the dairy industry in China, as well as a
Chinese enterprise with an appealing brand, Mengniu will not only devote
efforts to strengthen its competencies but also strive to motivate the industry
in its future development, contributing to the public good.

We will conduct our business with a solid foothold in the global dairy
industry by establishing a brand image that fulfills immense corporate social
responsibilities. We will provide healthy dairy products with high quality to
consumers and establish a role model in green sustainable development
for the benefit of society, ultimately creating maximum value for our
shareholders. On behalf of Mengniu, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our heartfelt gratitude to all sectors of society for their concern and
support.

Yang Wenjun
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERE W RO

Financial Review

Capitalising on the healthy and orderly development of the dairy market,
the Group continuously optimised its product portfolio. More high-end and
innovative new products were launched, enabling the Group to consolidate
its leading position in the market and to achieve greater success again.
During the year under review, the revenue of the Group amounted to
RMB37,387.8 million, as compared with RMB30,265.4 million in 2010,
an increase of 23.5%. Profit attributable to owners of the Company was
RMB1,589.3 million (2010: RMB1,237.3 million), an increase of 28.4%
as compared with 2010. Basic earnings per share were RMB0.908 (2010:
RMBO0.712).

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group amounted to RMB9,592.2 million, as
compared with RMB7,786.4 million in 2010, an increase of 23.2%. The
prices of raw milk and other raw materials continued to increase as a
result of growing inflation. The Group effectively mitigated the impact
of inflationary pressure on costs by actively adopting measures such as
stringent cost control and optimisation of product portfolio. As such, the
overall gross profit margin was maintained at 25.7% (2010: 25.7%).
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PEFFARERAT ~F——FER

Management Discussion and Analysis &2 & 5158 & 2 #

Operating Expenses

As a result of the expansion of its operational scale, the operating expenses
of the Group in 2011 rose to RMB7,992 million (2010: RMB6,524.9
million). However, through measures to enhance operational efficiency and
stringently controlled costs, its percentage to the Group’s revenue decreased
10 21.4% (2010: 21.6%).

The percentage of selling and distribution costs to the Group's revenue for
the year was 17.9% (2010: 17.9%), similar to that of 2010. The Group
maximised its utilisation of sales and marketing resources, and introduced
novel and diversified marketing and promotion activities targeted at different
customer segments for a wide range of products, thereby enhancing the
recognition and popularity of the MENGNIU brand to consumers. The
percentage of advertising and promotion expenses to revenue for the year
remained at 7.6% (2010: 7.8%).

The administrative and other operating expenses amounted to RMB1,297.3
million (2010: RMB1,095.8 million). With further internal restructuring and
stringent cost control, the percentage of related expenses to the Group’s
revenue was effectively reduced to 3.5% (2010: 3.7%).
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Profit from Operating Activities and Profit Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group’s EBITDA for the year was RMB2,812.1 million (2010:
RMB2,208.2 million). With effective cost control, the EBITDA margin
increased to 7.5% (2010: 7.3%) as compared with last year. Profit
attributable to the owners of the Company grew to RMB1,589.3 million
(2010: RMB1,237.3 million). Net profit margin was 4.3% for the year (2010:
4.1%).

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to
RMB2,520.1 million (2010: RMB2,485.1 million). Net cash balances
(cash and bank balances net of total bank loans) of the Group reached
RMB5,985.5 million as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010:
RMB5,997 million), indicating a strong financial position and considerably
healthy cash flow of the Group.

The outstanding bank loans of the Group amounted to RMB537.5 million
(31 December 2010: RMB700.8 million), which was repayable within one
year (31 December 2010: RMB550.8 million). Furthermore, the bank loans
totaling RMB167.1 million (31 December 2010: R\MB270.8 million) were
fixed interest-bearing loans.

The total equity of the Group was R\VIB12,048.8 million as at 31 December
2011 (31 December 2010: RMB10,217.5 million), and the debt-to-equity
ratio (total bank loans over total equity) of the Group was 4.5% (31
December 2010: 6.9%).

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB60.94 million (2010: RMB45.20
million), representing approximately 0.2% of the Group's revenue (2010:
0.1%).
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Market Review

Under the Government’s policies to promote “the preservation of domestic
demand” and “fostering of consumption” ({fRINFS * {E/HE), the dairy
industry in China continued to develop in a sound and rapid manner. An
important development was the re-examination of production permits
for the dairy enterprises by AQSIQ which facilitated the rationalising and
regulation of dairy enterprises. The competitive environment continued to
improve amidst the further consolidation of the industry. In addition, the
Government continued to enhance the safety monitoring and inspection
over dairy products, thus bolstering consumer confidence and setting a
course for the long-term and sound development of the dairy market.

As one of the leaders in the industry, Mengniu has been well positioned to
capture the development opportunities presented by the orderly advance of
the industry. Through the prominence of healthy products with high quality
and its strategic planning in the market, the pace of expansion achieved by
the Group ranked at the forefront of the industry. The statistics provided by
Nielsen Company once again demonstrated that the market share of the
Group's liquid milk and yogurt segments continued to rank top in China.
The Group was also selected for the third consecutive year as one of the
top 20 global dairy enterprises (K% 3205%) ranked by Rabobank for the
year 2011. According to the statistics of China Industrial Information Issuing
Centre under National Bureau of Statistics in China, the dairy products
of Mengniu ranked first in terms of sales volume and sales value in 2011
among similar products for the sixth consecutive year domestically.

Business Review

Despite the pressure brought about by the rising cost in farming, the
increase in the prices of raw milk and other raw materials, Mengniu
achieved remarkable results through a series of ongoing measures such
as optimisation of product portfolio, organisational restructuring and

enhancing operational efficiency, etc.
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Mengniu aggressively implemented an excellent cost control system.
Through stringent cost control measures, the Group has effectively
saved costs and enhanced overall profitability in addition to improved
management mechanisms. Furthermore, the synergies after the organisation
restructuring have been gradually realised. The operation of the Group
was advanced by utilising the unified information system, management
practices and performance appraisals. At the same time, Mengniu has
actively strengthened the employment qualification system for staff. The
constant reform of our management structure has laid a solid foundation
for maintaining our leading position in the industry.

Since Mengniu acquired Junlebao in 2010, both parties have achieved
synergies by sharing resources in purchase of raw milk and sales channels.
Each of Mengniu’s and Junlebao’s share in the yogurt market of China
has risen, demonstrating the mutual benefits of the win-win cooperation.
The successful integration also provided a viable role model for our future
mergers and collaboration.

Furthermore, Mengniu also established an overseas sales centre in August
to tap into the international market. Our products were launched again in
Hong Kong and Macau, the first important step to enter the international
market. In 2012, Mengniu plans to expand further into overseas markets
such as Singapore and Mongolia, which will extend the influence of the
MENGNIU brand in the international market.

Branding and Marketing

Mengniu has devoted efforts to become a responsible leader in the industry,
a practitioner of sustainable green development and a pioneer of healthy
lifestyle. On the basis of the brand theme of “High Quality for a Green Life”
(tFERE  #%45%), Mengniu proposed the theme of “One Step Closer
to Green Life” (FE¥T4%4)E) for the year and used its best endeavours to
promote a green economy.
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With its pioneering awareness and actions in the areas of corporate
development, enhancement of production and ecological practices,
Mengniu was selected as one of the global partners for the International
Horticultural Exposition (the “Expo”) in 2011. The Group participated in
building its own ecology park at the Expo, and illustrated the mode of
ecological development of the dairy industry to visitors from China and
overseas. The Expo is one of the most influential green events in the world.
Mengniu’s participation has not only highlighted the corporate image of
green ecology, but also created favourable sales impact in the marketing
aspect. The “Mengniu Eco-ranch Fund” (Z*4-AAEE RE ) continued
to participate in the “Ecological Movement Support China” (4ERETTE) -

Bh I ), a large-scale eco-activity campaign which was organised for
the second time jointly by the National Green Committee (£ E4%{t &
8), the State Forestry Administration (EIZX#Z/5) and the Chinese
Ecological Economics Society (FRE]A4-RE4E % E2 @), The event aimed to
draw the attention of the public to a green ecology through a series of
community activities featuring celebrities, so as to lighten the spark for green
environment and to accomplish blossomy growth of ecosystem. Mengniu
also joined the “Earth Hour” (bER—] ) activity initiated by WWF as the
first dairy enterprise in China participated in the event. At the same time,
we also participated in an activity “Package Recycling — I Am Changing the
World” (BFE - F AHER M —(EE) held at different retail outlets
and within communities to increase the corporate social responsibility.
Mengniu initiated the “Package Recycling” activities in a number of cities,
namely Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Chengdu, collecting
approximately 600,000 pieces of Tetra Pak packaging in total, and guided
the public to make joint efforts to the creation of an environmentally friendly
dairy industry. The Group devoted substantial efforts to launch a green
interactive platform, “Mengniu Green Life Arena” (RA4F4R4JEEE), which
has strong interaction and a high degree of participation. The platform is a
brand new accomplishment for the green community activities of Mengniu,
instantly conveying its branding theme of “High Quality for a Green Life” (4
» #kH5E) to consumers through instant communication with them.

EIEI, =
In 2011, Mengniu was awarded for the Best Environmental Sustainability
Initiative (Ex{EIRIE AI3HEZE28) by the International Dairy Federation,
which recognised our Group'’s contribution to ecological sustainability.
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Mengniu continued to make contribution to the society by organising the
“Love Gifts Action” (B/0ME¥)77E)) campaign. During the year, internet
was used as the major platform in collaboration with a number of reputable
portals to create an integrated information platform aimed at offering long-
term material support and psychiatric counseling to children in remote and
poor regions, as well as orphans and the disabled, along with working
class's children. The campaign drew public attention to the underprivileged
children groups and also demonstrated Mengniu’s commitment to
corporate social responsibility.

In addition to Mengniu’s initiatives to build a green, caring, charitable and
leading brand image, it also embarked on a number of large-scale innovative
marketing activities. Furthermore, Mengniu also enhanced the reputation of
its brand by sponsoring singing talent programmes such as “Heavenly Voice
on Campus” (KE52 2 + 1825 [&) and “Blossoming Flowers” (£ 58 252%),
as well as major sports activities such as the “Tour of China Road Cycling

Race 2011 QO 1FIRFP BB AR B THE).

The brand value of MENGNIU was further boosted through a series of
promotional activities during the year. Recognition and endorsements were
obtained within and outside China. Important awards received in 2011
included:

o Ranked 18th under the “BrandZ™ Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands 2012" (BrandZ™ 20125 EB (& F 52 /2505%)

. Best Environmental Sustainability Initiative (R{=IBIE R[S ER
#%) and IDF Dairy Innovation Award (IDF¥L& &% #2) awarded by
International Dairy Federation (t 55| 215 &)

° Inclusion in Hurun Brand List (A8 fak24E2) 2011

J Outstanding Brand Award 2010-2011 (2010-2011FE £ H &
2K 4#%) to Mengniu at the Third Conference of Branding and
Communication in China (55 =& Bl @8 S EF A=)
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In addition, Mengniu was the Gold Sponsor of the Boao Forum for Asia
2011 (IBZET5MER1E2011) due to the superb quality of its products and
was the only dairy product sponsor of the event for the fifth year. We were
also a cooperation partner for the Lunar Exploration Program (% A T#2)
and were honoured as the only designated dairy product for the China’s
Space Program (Fr B K% A Zmm) for a number of consecutive years.
Moreover, the Mongolian Olympic Committee (525 BRI 7 L& B =)
and Mengniu entered into a cooperation agreement, designating Mengniu
products as the Official Milk Products for Mongolian Athletes at the London
2012 Olympic Games QO12F R EES S BI:ES) 845 F 4. This
follows Mengniu’s selection as the official milk products for Mongolian
athletes for the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games.

Products

Mengniu strives to fulfil the increasingly diversified health needs of
consumers in China by emphasising the R&D of high-end products,
enriching the product portfolio and improving the functions of its products.
Thus the Group's products have been well received in the market. By
successfully building sub brands for different categories of products, and
organising unique marketing and selling activities to widely promote the
brand, the Group has enhanced its reputation and boosted growth in sales.
To date, Mengniu has an unmatched portfolio of more than 400 types of
quality dairy products that can fully satisfy the daily needs of consumers.
Continuous innovation has boosted the development of Mengniu and
consolidated its leading position in the market.

Liquid milk

Revenue from the liquid milk segment amounted to R\VIB33,701.2 million,
an increase of 25.4% as compared with RMB26,871.8 million in 2010,
accounting for 90.1% (2010: 88.8%) of the revenue of the Group. Liquid
milk remained the most important source of the Group’s revenue.

UHT milk

Revenue from UHT milk products grew by 24.1% to RMB20,837.6 million
(2010: RMB16,790.4 million), accounting for 61.8% (2010: 62.5%) of the
liquid milk segment’s revenue.
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Regarded as the flagship product of the high-end milk line, the premium
quality and high-end image of the Milk Deluxe (/75 ##) series has gained
widespread recognition within the market. During the year, the paramount
position of Milk Deluxe (475 #%) was advanced by continually integrating
elegant musical and cultural sales activities to increase the appeal of the
brand. Furthermore, the Milk Deluxe Club (iFfm#&Ef& L&) provided the
loyal consumer groups of Milk Deluxe (& #%) with opportunities to
participate in various celebrity activities, consolidating the loyalty in the
brand and established a firm consumption base. Mengniu has always closely
observed the needs of consumers. During the year, the market demand has
spurred the upgrade and modification for the Future Star Milk (KFZ 5
FAL4Y)). An enhanced nutrition formula that would facilitate growth
and is easily digestible by children was researched and developed with
reference to the different characteristics of children’s bodies. The functions
of this series of milk products can be discerned from their categorisation into
Wisdom (EZ2), Strong Build (f##&%Y) and Digestive System Friendly (7]
5 Z 7). The XinYangDao (#7248) series targeting the mid to high-end
dairy product market segment occupied a leading market position through
product differentiation. XinYangDao Zhenyang Milk (Zr&EZE4 1)),
which blended the rich flavoured oriental recipe nourishing beauty and
health, was nominated the IDF Dairy Innovation Award (IDFZga£l315%) for
the second time in representation of China. Winning this award, which is
one of the world’s most honored accolade in the dairy industry, represents
Mengniu’s remarkable success. Two other products, XinYangDao Qinyan
Milk a8 0874 47) with collagen protein and XinYangDao Low Lactose
Low Fat Milk (ZrEE1KZ #EEAE4E47), have been specifically created for
the personalised needs of modern urban residents. The Modern Ranch Pure
Milk (B2 {45444 473) series, a type of high quality UHT milk, was launched
during the year. Its milk sources were derived from top ranking ranches with
standardised management. The nutritional value of the milk is preserved
with advanced technology which is a perfect union of science and nature.

Milk beverages
Revenue from the milk beverages segment was RMB8,309.6 million (2010:

RMB7,336.2 million), increased by 13.3% from last year and accounting for
24.7% (2010: 27.3%) of the liquid milk segment revenue.
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The sales of Fruit Milk Drink (E:5#z) with chewable fruit grain remained
high. This product not only earned three global independent intellectual
property patents, but also was honoured with the China Patent Excellence
Award ([ EEF|EZEFKLE|) at the 12th China Patent Awards
Conference (B+—fERBIEF|#EE A=) for the first time. Thus, the
innovative character of this product has been widely recongnized. Youyi C
(87> C), a probiotic lactobacillus casein yogurt beverage containing casein,
is effective in promoting gastrointestinal motility, aiding digestion and
eliminating toxins from the body. This product can satisfy the consumers
that are concerned about the health of their intestines. Yiyou Te (z5/&%), a
milk beverage product of Mengniu, contains the essence of milk extracted
with the state-of-the-art technology. Launched into the market in 2011,
it was named as an “Innovative Product” (BI3TE ) at the 12th China
International Food and Beverage Exhibition 2011 organised by SIAL CHINA,
initiating a new chapter in the history of the Group as a professional dairy
products manufacturer to enter the milk beverages market with products of
plastic packaging.

Yogurt

Revenue from the yogurt segment increased by 65.9% to RMB4,554 million
(2010: RMB2,745.2 million), accounting for 13.5% (2010: 10.2%) of the
liquid milk segment revenue.

Inner Mongolia Old Yoqurt (55 27Z£%/3) has inherited the craftsmanship
of the Mongolian nomad tradition. It is made from premium whole fresh
milk free from any artificial flavor, preservatives and chemical additives. This
natural and green product has become very popular in China. Based on
this product, Mengniu advanced one step to create the European Double
Layer Fruit Yogurt (& =022/ £ 7%), a solid yogurt product fermented from
selected ranch milk and added fresh fruits in a single cup. The thick texture
of yogurt and the sweet taste of fruit is a perfect combination with great
taste. With wide market acceptance, its sales have surged rapidly since its
launch. Champion (%73 #.), a high-end dual function yogurt, is the Group's
first yogurt product to obtain national certification as a health-care product.
Champion is rich in BB-12 Bifidobacterium, which can effectively regulate
enzymes in the intestine, thereby enhancing the immune system. It is a
healthy choice for the modern urban population with sales performance
ranking at top of the market. The acquisition of Junlebao as a yogurt sub-
brand of Mengniu has enlarged its product portfolio and further enhanced

the Group's share in the yogurt market.
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Ice cream

Revenue of the ice cream segment amounted to RMB3,258.6 million (2010:
RMB3,111.5 million), up 4.7% from last year, accounting for 8.7% (2010:
10.3%) of the Group's revenue.

During the year, the Group conducted a major restructuring of its ice cream
products, elevating the position of these products to a higher tier, and
enhancing the product portfolio, thereby enhancing profitability. Focusing
on its three major brands, namely, Sui Bian (%6%), Ice+ (7k+) and the
Mood for Green (4%£25..:/&), Mengniu had launched high-end products
that became popular in the market. The Group also introduced the Deluxe
(FREEZE) series, the high-end brand of its ice cream products, which
combines natural flavor and premium milk sources to form a delicious
texture, thus gaining a favorable reputation in the market. This new brand
swiftly established its position in the ice cream market. In terms of marketing
activities for ice cream products, Mengniu organised the “Once More Piece”
(B2 —3%) event for Sui Bian (%5%), which adopted bold and avant-garde
means to interpret the vision of “All Thlngs Changmg Upon Me” (—4JIBEH
selected as the exclusive dairy products for the International Horticultural
Exposition 2011 held in Xi'an, which has helped to present the high-end
brand image of MENGNIU'’s high end products to its consumers.

Other dairy products

Revenue from other dairy products amounted to R\MB428 million (2010:
RMB282.1 million), increased by 51.8%, accounting for 1.2% (2010: 0.9%)
of the revenue of the Group.

/X)ﬁ/‘#‘

PR A B AR 5868 (—T—24F : AR
31.115087T) « MEFIERAT% » (HAREBEUAKIS.7%
(ZE—ZF 1 103%) °

FAREEEEINERETT T EEHE - MomER
FHR - BT ZeBNERES  RARNZEM - B
IAERBEE - o+ RARECIE=RmIE - R4 HEHEE
RIEZRUE RImEER © ANEEERHEE SN
SRR FRE S RS - ARABEA RIS
ERARRSTISEE RS REY
FEHEBIH - RINOREEHRIENZTE R4
BYFT REE BR—X ES) - AKIERIFIEVE SHTES
I —IBEE M | AR o RARICHMNE R
BN FAREREREESEMIER - FEBHEH
ABAEZHBEEEELFFNRDRMIETR

HfthH #im

HihF BRI AERS1.8% EARKE428EBT(ZF—
TF  ARKE2821B7T) - (EARERANI 2% (=F
—ZF : 09%) °




025

Management Discussion and Analysis &

MENGNIU ARLA (Bt 54F) debuted with a novel image tailored to the
current situation of the milk powder market in China. The promotion of
MENGNIU ARLA (B 14
sources imported from Europe in a formula customised for Chinese babies,

524) emphasised the application of premium milk

highlighting the concept of a “Scandinavian Mind with a Chinese Heart”
JEEVEZ AR, This product appealed to the consumers by creating
a new elite and elegant image. Moreover, the marketing strategies of
MENGNIU ARLA (B 1t 54F) were tailored to selected major cities for greater
penetration. Professional training was provided to sales staff to ensure the
product information was accurately delivered and follow-up activities were
conducted to customers for better after-sales services. The hard work was
paid off with MENGNIU ARLA (Bt 534) earning two major international
awards during the year. Platinum Jiazhi Infant and Baby Formula Milk
Powder (2 (£ 2841 2 A7 7 47#7) was named an “Innovative Product” (&l
¥TEfn) in the 12th China International Food and Beverage Exhibition 2011
organised by SIAL CHINA and garnered the “Innovative Formula Prize” (fif
T EIFT#E) at the 5th China (Inner Mongolia) International Dairy Expo (58
HEGE (R5H) BRI EBES). The quality of this product line has
been increasingly recognized by the public. After implementing a series of
improvement measures, the overall sales of MENGNIU ARLA (E(tt 54F)
have gradually increased. This fine-tuning of the marketing strategies has set
the right direction for the future development of MENGNIU ARLA (&1 54F)
in China’s rapidly growing milk powder market.

Quality Control

Mengniu continued to constantly upgrade both the management and
technologies of quality control during the year. In accordance with the
requirements of AQSIQ for re-examination of production permits of dairy
product enterprises in China, all operational departments and branches
or processing plants of the Group had passed the inspection in a timely
manner. The Group also deployed strategies to improve its “end-to-
end” (iHE
production process. Such measures included tightening the evaluation

I|i7) comprehensive quality control system throughout the

and management of raw materials suppliers, establishing a patrol division
and conducting sample checks of products with different attributes,
enhancing quality assurance technologies and preparing for the expansion
of its electronic tracking system (2838 Z4t) as the secondary tracking
system. In terms of certifications for quality control, Mengniu obtained
the compliance certificate for FSSC22000 recognised in the international

market, and was cleared for the certification by HACCP for the prevention

of hazardous substances in food production.

TREFIEERAT 2 ——FFR

BENRR DM

HEFRBRGMTIBEMR - B RFUNRHERITAT
% Al RS Eh B - EEMBUNE DR
BRAE  MEFAATREENFEESITE  US
HBERSENRERAEBERA © 1o Bt SE2
EIEREIMEL AR - RS oWmERE IS SIS
R - BIEE A BIRMEEEURBERNEEXSE
B WERENDBERERERARMHE T NEEIRTE o
BESN - Bl AR E TR R AR S8 - TN H2E
FOER L) R AFTASIAL CHINAZR 2011 B+ —fE
HERR G RERES FEIFER IR - RS
FERE(NES) BRI EEES LRI AR

EMENZERERA - FEE— RHIFEEE 2%
Bt R E SRS EEMISREE 2 EHE
M ARKE NIRRT BN TSP — SRR
SRIFERAR

mEEE
FN - FEEEERARESEENE Eﬁuﬁzﬁfﬂ@a’ﬁ_
& _EEORNT - ARBIEBERERERERK2HE
HBM D EEET IR ﬁf&%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁwn
ARSI T IS EBEEE - AEBEEESETE IR
Him | 2R E S TIRE RN B IRETTHIRGS - 85
IR FREAMRH BRI T E IR - B E PR IRE
TRHFARME - & 51%;3%{;&@5@&%&%%}%&
[E BRSO RS RIETEE T IESEH

REEERARELE S4B ﬁT%ﬁfﬁ’%%ﬁE@
FSSC2200088 RMTF A MR « WiBiA T ERWAER
BBl fEEEEMHACCPEE RREE o




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2011 026

Management Discussion and Analysis &2 & 513 & 2 #

Enhancement of Milk Sources

To enhance the quality of milk sources at its supply sources, increasing the
proportion of milk sources provided by ranches and scaled farms to the
Group's milk sources has always been one of the focuses of Mengniu. The
Group continued to provide assistance to the construction of milk sources
bases by providing entrusted loans, prepaying for raw milk, investing in
large-scale ranches and construction of modernised ranch facilities for
its suppliers. With the expansion in the scale of farming of suppliers, the
proportion of milk sourced from the intensive production model accounted
for nearly 80%, a leading rank within the industry. Mengniu also provided
comprehensive technical service support to the suppliers, including recruiting
technical staff or experts to offer technical training and consultation related
to vaccination of dairy cattle and scientific nutrition. At the same time, we
further controlled and managed segments such as feed and veterinary drugs
safety. Modernised farming methods were also promoted in order to ensure
excellent and reliable milk sources from upstream suppliers.

R&D Achievements

Mengniu continued to pursue innovation and research. As at 31 December
2011, Mengniu has submitted 1,161 patent applications and obtained
patents for 901 items on a cumulative basis, out of which 149 patents were
applied for and 151 patents were obtained during the year.

In order to closely monitor the international trend of the technological
development of dairy products, the operation of Mengniu’s overseas R&D
station in Tokyo, Japan officially commenced during the year, allowing the
Group to conduct surveys, analysis and experiments over the Japanese
market, which would be beneficial to the cooperative research and
application of raw materials, equipment and products. With the approval
obtained from the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security,
Mengniu established the post-doctoral scientific research centre, and began
research on related projects as planned, so as to bolster the strength in
R&D. The Group further expanded its own lactic acid bacteria library, so as
to enhance its R&D capability for growing good strains with its proprietary
intellectual property rights. In collaboration with Harbin Institute of
Technology, Mengniu conducted research in fermentation agents. One of
the research achievements, which is the application of new streptococcus
thermophiles in the industrial production of fermented milk and their effects
in prebiotics, was endorsed by the professionals from the Chinese Institute
of Food Science and Technology. These results were regarded as having
achieved an international advanced standard, with major significance for the

development of new fermented dairy products in China.
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Production and Operations

In December 2011, the aggregate annual production capacity of the Group
increased to 7.05 million tons (2010: 6.5 million tons). The strategy of
“selling to where it is produced and producing at where it is sold” (E 5
$HHbEE) was deployed throughout the country, through which production
capabilities and sales can be matched.

The Group persistently improved the internal standards of production
management. Scientific and standardised management in production
operations was strengthened through the adoption of a monitoring system.
Production efficiency was enhanced by ongoing introduction of automated
production technologies and equipment. The Group also kicked off R&D
projects with equipment suppliers on the production procedures, through
which production capacities would be enhanced by custom-designed
production equipment.

Meanwhile, the Group also underwent organisational restructuring. A
platform for sharing and optimisation of resources was formed for the
management of production and operation. Under a uniform management
system, the operation system had rationalised the supply chain procedures.
Logistics projects were implemented, enhancing efficiency whilst reducing
costs through the close cooperation of different departments. At the
same time, the implementation of operation cost reduction project and
operational management excellence model (Fi#E % &I ) also

contributed to cost efficiency.

Joint Ventures and Alliances

The Group continued to strengthen its collaboration with COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQ"). By leveraging on the vast platform provided by
COFCO, the leading cereals, oils and foodstuff enterprise in China, the
advantages of sharing resources between them enabled Mengniu to move
forward. Mengniu has also established a preferential supply relationship with
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., which offers safe and reliable premium

milk sources to the Group.
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had approximately 25,600 employees
in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Total staff costs for the year, excluding
the directors’ remuneration, were approximately RMB1,745.1 million (2010:
RMB1,556.9 million).

The Group continued to implement the employment qualification system
during the year on a trial basis. This exercise would provide the staff with
a clear code of conduct for their respective positions as well as a clear
understanding of the knowledge and skills necessary for performance
of duties. By providing information regarding their career paths, the
professionalism of staff would be systematically improved. At the same
time, the Group raised the salary standards for front line staff as appropriate
and further provided staff incentives via housing subsidies and spiritual
encouragement, etc. Furthermore, the human resources centre of the
Group also arranged employee orientation, pre-job training and on-the-
job training so as to allow the employees to cope with the overall strategic
planning and working requirements of the Group. Overseas exchange
opportunities for professional staff were increased and the quality of human
resources was elevated as a result.

Prospects

After the completion of the nationwide re-examination of production
permits for enterprises in the dairy products industry by government
authorities, the industry has been upgraded and become better regulated.
As urbanisation and the consumption level in China continue to rise, its dairy
products market should continue to bloom while the consumption demand
for quality dairy products will be elevated. At the same time, supervision of
dairy product manufacturers by the relevant government bureaus is to be
more stringent. Higher expectations on areas including quality and safety,
production scale and brand establishment of dairy products enterprises have
been proposed in China’s 12th Five-year Plan for Food Industry (& T 3

[+t=h | BERERARE).

Mengniu deems leading the development of the industry as its own
responsibility. In future, “High Quality” (4F &) will continue to be the core
guideline for its long-term development. The second five-year development
plan is to reinforce active and comprehensive corporate internal
development, through which healthy and natural choices of dairy products
will be offered to consumers in China, thereby enhancing Mengniu’s own

brand image and the overall standards of the industry.
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Enhancement of Milk Sources — Continue to Implement
the Strategy of Standardising Ranches, Exploring
Upstream Dairy Farming Industry, and Building its
Advantage in Quality Milk Sources

The Group will reinforce its advantages in milk sources and continue
to build its own ranch facilities and invest in ranches to further increase
the proportion of ranch milk sources so as to achieve its strategic goal
of expanding the use of ranch milk sources at an expedited pace.
Mengniu will strengthen the monitoring of upstream raw materials,
implement precise management procedures on veterinary drugs and
fodder, and provide comprehensive technical support for milk source
vendors so as to ensure the quality of milk sources. The Group will
also explore the industry chain by entering the upstream dairy cattle
breeding industry. It will apply modernised cattle raising technology
and create the benchmark of raw milk mass production in China so as
to create a leading model of quality milk source supply.

Quality Inspection — Establish Multi-level Internal
Inspection Process and Proactively Accept Monitoring by
Authoritative Institutions to Ensure Product Quality and
Safety

Based on its past experience, Mengniu will adopt a series of reform
measures to improve internal management of quality inspection. As
at February 2012, the former quality control system was officially
divided into two independent centres, a raw materials quality control
centre and a products quality control centre. Both centres will maintain
checks and balances over each other and carry out comprehensive
inspections on products from the pre-production stage to pre-delivery
stage through cross-checking. Mengniu has also added a quality and
safety administration centre directly responsible to the Chief Executive
Officer and a raw milk quality inspection centre within the operations
department. It has also introduced an advanced mechanism in
overseeing the whole supply chain management and invited overseas
experts to evaluate the inspection procedures, as well as strengthened
training on awareness of product quality and safety among its staff
with an aim to safeguard product quality in a multi-faceted manner.
Mengniu is also willing to accept voluntary inspection by authoritative
institutions of the Government. Its products will be submitted to
third parties for inspection on a random basis and such inspection

results will be published so as to demonstrate to the public Mengniu's
determination to pursue “High Quality” (& &'S).
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Product Portfolio — Develop Products with High Added
Value and Functionality and Enrich Product Range in
Segmented Markets

As the standard of living is enhanced, Chinese consumers’ demand
for quality and nutrition in dairy products is also rising. The Group
will closely monitor the consumer trends in dairy products, continue
to research and develop dairy products with high added value and
functionality in response to the different needs of market segments,
and increase the proportion of mid-range to high-end products
so as to optimise product structure comprehensively. The overseas
information and R&D stations as well as the advanced high-tech dairy
products research institute of Mengniu help to provide marketing
expertise and tremendous R&D efforts to the innovation and the
R&D of quality products. On this basis, Mengniu is building popular
high-end sub-brands in different product categories including UHT
milk, yogurt and ice cream, while focusing on different demographic
segments by providing greater choices of dairy products catering for
different consumer needs. Mengniu will devote efforts on innovation
and upgrades with an aim to consolidate its market share and
maintain its leading position in the industry.

Brand Building — Adhere to the Key Emphasis of “High
Quality for a Green Life” ({F@E » #&45F), Fulfilling
Social Responsibility and Enhancing Brand Image

“High Quality for a Green Life” (4 & » 4%4E)E) continues to be the
key guidelines to brand building and fulfilment of social responsibility
for Mengniu. The hardships in the past have prompted Mengniu to
pay more careful attention to quality and safety and become even
more determined to insist on its pursuit of “High Quality”. Mengniu
has set the year 2012 as “The Year of Quality”. Apart from exercising
strict control over product quality in production and operations, it is
promoting its corporate image as a corporation committed to offering
healthy dairy products and dedicated to product quality and safety,
thereby building a solid consumer base. At the same time, Mengniu
is further intensifying its green strategy and putting its low-carbon
vision into practice. Through actively organising and participating in
environmental protection campaigns, the Group is creating an eco-
friendly corporate image while contributing to the development of

ecology protection in China.
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Global Strategy - Pursue the International Dairy Market,
Integrate Market Resources and Steadily Move On to the
Initial Stage of Internationalisation

As a pioneer in the Chinese dairy industry, Mengniu is broadening its
vision and paying concern to the development trend of the global dairy
market with an aim to implement its corporate development based on
internationalisation of both its markets and management practices. For
this purpose, Mengniu has set up a global strategic department which
conducts thorough market research on the international dairy industry
in order to fully understand the demand and supply characteristics
of each regional market. With the strategic positioning in the
internationalised market, resources and capacity as an integral part of
the Group's strategy, the measures required are to be performed in a
progressive and rational manner so as to steadily achieve the goal of
globalisation of Chinese brands.

Corporate development is a course involving a long-term effort and
a strong commitment. Mengniu is focusing on long-term goals and
will meet the opportunities and challenges in the market with a
strategic insight. The year 2012 marks the second year for the Group's
implementation of its five-year plan. Mengniu will consolidate the
achievements realised in 2011, learn from past shortcomings and strive
to improve itself in order to accomplish the goals of its five-year plan,

with an aim to become one of the world’s top ten dairy companies.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Wenjun, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company in February 2004. Mr. Yang is the Chief Executive Officer
("CEO") of the Company and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) and one of the founders
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He was appointed as a vice-chairman of
the Company with effect from 10 June 2011. Mr. Yang graduated from
Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute and holds a Master’s degree from
Inner Mongolia Agricultural University. Mr. Yang has over 20 years of
management experience in the large-scale dairy products industry and
extensive experience in production management and sales and marketing of
dairy products. Mr. Yang was elected as one of the “World Economy’s Top
10 Outstanding Chinese Professional Managers” by the Professional System
Assessment Committee of the appraisal system of World Chinese Economy
(WCE) at the Annual Conference for Investment and Financing in Asia Pacific
in 2008, and as one of the “China’s Top 10 Celebrities for Industry Leaders”
and “Tenth Session of Top 10 Celebrities for China’s Reform Programme”
in 2010. Mr. Yang currently serves as the Deputy Chairman of the Dairy
Association of China.

Mr. Bai Ying, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company in July 2008 and is a vice president in Operation of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Bai graduated with a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia
Agricultural University and holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from China Europe International Business School. Mr. Bai was the vice
president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the general manager of UHT
milk division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working in the dairy
products industry for almost 20 years and has extensive experience and
advanced management concepts in the dairy industry. In 2010, Mr. Bai was
elected as “Advanced Staff of Hohhot” and “Inner Mongolia Autonomous

Region Labour Model” for the second time.
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Mr. Wu Jingshui, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director and
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in March 2010 and is a vice
president in Finance of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Wu graduated from
Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute majoring in industrial enterprise
financial accounting and holds a Master’s degree from Inner Mongolia
Agricultural University and a Master of Business Administration degree
from China Europe International Business School. He also holds a senior
accountant qualification. Before being appointed as the vice president in
Finance of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in April 2008, Mr. Wu served as the
financial general manager of liquid milk division and the Chief Financial
Officer of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive experience in financial
management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honored as a “Labour Model (Advanced
Staff) of Hohhot".

Mr. Ding Sheng, aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company in March 2010 and is a vice president in sales and marketing of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Ding graduated from Inner Mongolia Light
Industry Institute majoring in dairy products techniques and is a senior
engineer. During his work, he pursued studies in Inner Mongolia University
and Nankai University majoring in economics and management and
business administration. Mr. Ding joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003.
He served as a vice president and the general manager of yogurt division
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and has extensive management and sales and
marketing experience in the dairy industry. Mr. Ding was elected as a “Labour
Model (Advanced Staff) of Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region” in 2010.
Mr. Ding currently serves as a member of the Chinese Institute of Food
Science and Technology and the vice chairman of the lactic acid bacteria

branch of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2009 and the Chairman of the Board of Directors
of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Ning is currently the chairman of COFCO
Corporation and COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, an executive director and
chairman of China Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, a non-
executive director and chairman of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director of CPMC Holdings
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director
of Huayuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai. Mr. Ning is
also a director of BOC International Holdings Limited. Mr. Ning was a non-
executive director of Lippo China Resources Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong, from December 1998 to August 2009 and a director of
Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed in New York, from 27 August
2008 to 2 March 2011. Before joining COFCO Corporation, Mr. Ning held
various positions such as vice-chairman, director and general manager of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Ning has over 20 years
of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance,
business restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning graduated
from Shandong University in China with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics
and from the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master of
Business Administration degree in Finance.

Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 46, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in February 2004 and is a vice-chairman
of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Jiao joined the Group in
September 2002 and is currently a director and Managing Partner of CDH
China Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a Bachelor’s
degree in Mathematics from Shandong University and a Master’s degree in
Engineering from the Ministry of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Currently,
Mr. Jiao also serves as a non-executive director of China Yurun Food Group
Limited and China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, both companies listed
in Hong Kong and a director of Joyoung Company Limited, a company

listed in Shenzhen.
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Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 54, is a non-executive Director of the Company
and is one of the members in the team founding Yili Group and the founder
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Niu graduated from Inner Mongolia
University with a degree in Administration and Management and obtained
a Master’s degree in Enterprise Management at the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences Graduate School. With his extensive experience and
insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu receives high reputation in the
industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as one of “China’s Most Influential
Business Leaders” for the fifth consecutive year, and was honored the
2007 Hong Kong Bauhinia Award”. Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He
was among “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists” guided and published by
the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the People’s Republic of China in 2007 and
ranked third in the “2007 Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and received the first
and only “Lifetime Achievement in Philanthropy Award” presented by the
“China Philanthropists List” in 2010. Mr. Niu currently serves as the deputy
chairman of the Second China National Committee of International Dairy
Federation and also an independent non-executive director of Alibaba.com
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong and was an independent director
of Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion & Accessories Company, a company
listed in Shenzhen, until 22 April 2011.

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company in August 2009 and a vice-chairman of the Board of Directors
of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Yu is currently the president of COFCO
Corporation and a director of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, and also an
executive director and the managing director of China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics from the University of International Business and
Economics in Beijing and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from China Europe International Business School.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 38, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director in January 2006. Mr. Wolhardt is currently a partner of KKR
Asia Limited focusing on private equity transactions in the Greater China
region. Mr. Wolhardt is a CPA and CMA and received a B.S. with honors in
Accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the United
States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive director of China

Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company listed in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2009. Mr. Ma is currently a vice president of
COFCO Corporation. He is also a non-executive director of China Foods
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and a director of COFCO Property
(Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Ma graduated from
the University of International Business and Economics in Beijing with
a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Ma has
extensive experience in corporate finance, investment, strategic planning
and management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Fang Fenglei, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2009. Mr. Fang is the chairman of HOPU
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and the chairman of Goldman Sachs
Gaohua Securities Company Limited. Previously, Mr. Fang was a deputy
CEO of China International Capital Corporation Limited, CEO of BOC
International Holdings Limited and CEO of ICEA Finance Holdings Limited.
He was an independent non-executive director of Central China Real Estate
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, from January 2008 to December
2009. Mr. Fang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun Yat-sen University.

Mr. Ma Wangjun, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 1 March 2010. Mr. Ma is currently an
assistant president and vice chief financial controller of COFCO Corporation.
He is also a non-executive director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Beijing Technology and Business University and an Executive
Master of Business Administration degree from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Julin, aged 68, is a professor of accounting. Mr. Zhang
graduated from the Economics Department of Lanzhou University.
Mr. Zhang served as an assistant dean to the Inner Mongolia Finance
and Economics University and a vice chairman of the Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region Audit Society. Mr. Zhang is currently an independent
director of Inner Mongolia BaoTou Steel Union Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shanghai. Mr. Zhang was an independent director of Inner Mongolia Lantai
Industrial Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai, from April 2002 to May
2009. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent director for
Inner Mongolia Mengniu on 18 October 2002 and became an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 23 February 2004. Mr. Zhang
resigned from his positions as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and an independent director of Inner Mongolia Mengniu with
effect from 10 June 2011.
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Mr. Liu Fuchun, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr. Liu was a graduate of the
Beijing Foreign Trade Institute and now a senior commerce specialist. Mr. Liu
was the deputy consulate of the Chinese Consulate-General in Vancouver.
He also worked in various companies in the past, including serving as an
officer in the finance department, the business planning department, and
the general office of COFCO Corporation. He was also an officer of COFCO
Corporation’s sales representative office in the US, the deputy director
and director of COFCO Corporation’s cereals and oils department and the
general manager, executive director, deputy president and president of Top
Glory (London) Ltd., which was based in the United Kingdom. Currently,
Mr. Liu serves as an independent non-executive director of DaChan Food
(Asia) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director
of China Aviation Oil (Singapore) Corporation Ltd., a company listed in
Singapore.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr. Zhang was a graduate
of the Shandong University and the school of management at the Beihang
University and is now a senior engineer. Mr. Zhang is the chairman of
Unibank Media, and is also an independent director of SYSWIN INC., which
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange of the US, and an independent
director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Digital Group. Mr. Zhang previously served
as a director and president of Airmedia which was listed on NASDAQ in the
US and is experienced in the management of media operations and initial
public offering.

Mr. Xie Tao, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Xie is the chief executive officer
and a director of Agria Corporation, a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. Mr. Xie is also an independent non-executive director of
China Merchants China Direct Investments Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong, a director of PGG Wrightson Limited, a company listed on the
New Zealand Stock Exchange, and an independent non-executive director
of Tongyu Heavy Industry Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. Mr. Xie has previously been engaged in the advisory practice
at PricewaterhouseCoopers for 22 years where he led the China market
corporate finance practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers and served on the
firm’s management board. Mr. Xie has extensive experience in China related
cross-border investments and M&A and corporate restructuring. Mr. Xie

received his Bachelor's degree in physics from Peking University in China and
is a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of UK.
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Senior Management

Mr. Lu Jianjun, aged 35, is the Chief Administrative Officer of the
Company and the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Mr. Lu graduated from Inner Mongolia Normal University with
an art degree in Chinese Language. Mr. Lu joined the Group in June 2000,
and served as various important positions including secretary to CEO Office,
secretary to CEO, secretary to Chairman of the Board of Directors Office,
Executive Assistant to Chairman. After ten years’ work experience in such
important positions, Mr. Lu has accumulated extensive management
experience and gained unique industry insight. Mr. Lu was re-designated as
the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2009.
In May 2010, Mr. Lu was awarded the professional qualification as secretary
of board of directors by the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yao Haitao, aged 49, is a president in administration of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and Economics
College with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from China Europe International Business
School. He also holds an accountant qualification. Mr. Yao joined Inner
Mongolia Mengniu in 2003 and served as various positions including deputy
general manager of the liquid milk division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
assistant to president and vice president in administration during his term.
He has solid experience in administrative management. Mr. Yao currently
serves as the deputy chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association.

Ms. Zhao Yuanhua, aged 48, is a Vice President in Branding of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Ms. Zhao graduated from Inner Mongolia University of
Science and Technology (formerly known as Baotou University of Iron and
Steel Technology) with a Bachelor’s degree in Technology and obtained a
Master of Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. Ms. Zhao joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2000. She
served as directors of sales, marketing, and sales and marketing of the UHT
milk liquid division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and director of sales and
marketing and vice president of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. She has extensive
experience in sales and marketing and management. Ms. Zhao also serves
as a member of the Second Economics and Market Committee of China
Dairy Industry Association. In 2009, Ms. Zhao was honored as “National
Professional Model of Female Workers” and the “Outstanding Leader
Award for Advertisements of Renowned Enterprises” of China Advertising

Great-wall Awards.
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Ms. Liu Yan, aged 53, is a Vice President in Strategy of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. Ms. Liu obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration
from China Europe International Business School. Ms. Liu graduated with
a Master’s degree in Industrial Science from the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Mechanization Sciences (“CAAMS”) and was qualified as a
senior engineer. Ms. Liu also held the position of senior engineer in CAAMS.
She served as vice president of Customer Relationship Management of Tetra
Pak (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and is very experienced in the management of dairy
products industry. Ms. Liu joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in December
2010 and is responsible for the research and planning of international
strategies, planning and development of international businesses, including
the planning and execution of mergers and acquisitions investments of the
Group.

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 39, the Financial Controller and
Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in May 2007. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the Financial Controller of a Hong
Kong Main Board listed company and he also had served in an international
accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board of Directors (the “Board”),
sound internal control, and increasing transparency and accountability to
shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders.
The Company is committed to improving those practices and maintaining its
ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code of
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance practices.

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with all the compulsory
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprised fifteen Directors, including
four executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Wu
Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng, eight non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Ning Gaoning, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Yu
Xubo, Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Fang Fenglei and Mr.
Ma Wangjun and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao. The Chairman of the Board
is Mr. Ning Gaoning and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr.
Yang Wenjun. Each of Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)
and Mr. Yu Xubo is a Vice-Chairman of the Board.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of the
Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise formulation of
the Group's overall strategies and policies, setting of performance and
management targets, evaluation of business performance and supervision of
management'’s performance. The management was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the Board Committees as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 34 to 41 of the annual
report, which demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications of the Directors. There is no other material financial, business
or relevant relationships among the Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
Their role is to provide independent and objective opinions to the Board
for its consideration and decisions. The Company has received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed their independence and concluded that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.

Board Proceedings

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional operational meetings
are also held, when required. The Company Secretary is responsible for
preparing agenda and notices for the meetings. Senior management of the
Group also provides the Directors with relevant information on a timely basis
regarding key business developments of the Group and issues affecting
the Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally delivered
to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also have independent
access to the senior management in respect of operational issues. The
Directors may take independent professional advice where appropriate to
discharge their duties, at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board held five meetings.
Details of Director’s attendance at the Board and Board Committee
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meetings held in 2011 are set out in the following table. FLREgERBAFBEEHN TR -
Meeting Attended/Held
HEBITEE
Strategy and
Development
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Committee
Meetings® Committee = Committee =~ Committee  ERERERE
Directors BE EZEgeRn ERZEEE FMEEE REZES ZEE
Executive Director BiTES
Yang Wenjun BXiE 5/5 on
Bai Ying HEE 5/5
W Jingshui KK 5/5 1n
Ding Sheng TE 5/5
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ning Gaoning EoE 4/5 1
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(NEER) 4/5 373 1”1 0/1
Niu Gensheng® HARAG 5/5
Yu Xubo TR 5/5 212
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 3/5 2/2
Ma Jianping BT 5/5 11
Fang Fenglei FHEE 4/5 17
Ma Wangjun 51F 4/5 23 17
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Director
Zhang Julin® FREM@ 212 01 1 11
Liu Fuchun AeE 2/5 33 12 ”n
Zhang Xiaoya JREEdD 4/5 33 212 1”n
Xie Tao? SEge 13 2/2 0N
Notes: F5E
(1) During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and one other (1) ARRRFRBITTINAFEGER —XHEMBEZEL

meeting to handle operational-level matters. According to the Company’s
articles of association, the quorum for convening a Board meeting is two

members.

(2)  Mr. Zhang Julin resigned while Mr. Xie Tao was appointed as an independent ~ (2)

non-executive Director both with effect from 10 June 2011.

(3)  Mr. Niu Gensheng resigned as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 10 (3)
June 2011. He remains as a non-executive Director of the Company.
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the
Company Secretary of the Company and are not only open for inspection
by the Directors but also sent to the Directors for their records. All Directors
have access to the Company Secretary of the Company, who is responsible
for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and advising the
Board on compliance matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing the functioning of the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the Group'’s business.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and conducted
effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate information in a timely manner, which must be complete and
reliable.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years. The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with article 112 of the Company'’s articles of association. The Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board will be subject to re-election by the shareholders at the first general
meeting after the appointment.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in
the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has established four
Board Committees under the Board, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy and
Development Committee, each of which is governed by specific terms of
reference approved by the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers.
The terms of reference of the respective Board Committees have complied
with the CG Code provisions and are available for public inspection at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2011, the Remuneration Committee comprised five
members, three of whom are independent non-executive Directors (Mr.
Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) and the remaining two
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Yu
Xubo). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually and
recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and structure
for the directors and senior management to ensure that the level of
remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities undertaken. The
Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate annually the performance of
the directors and the senior management and recommend to the Board
specific adjustments in their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and competitive
packages based on business needs and industry practice. For determining
the level of fees paid to members of the Board, market rates and factors
such as each director’s workload and required commitment will be
taken into account. In addition, factors comprising economic and market
situations, individual contributions to the Group'’s results and development
as well as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2011 and one further meeting since 1 January 2012 up to
the date of this report. During the year, the Remuneration Committee had
performed the following:

—  assessed the performance of the Directors and senior management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and recommended to the Board,;
and

—  reviewed the proposal of granting of share options according to the
Company'’s share option scheme, and made recommendations to the
Board.
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2011, the Nomination Committee comprised five
members, three of whom are independent non-executive Directors (Mr.
Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) and the remaining two
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Jiao
Shuge). The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiao Shuge.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition, including the skills, knowledge and
experiences of the Board and make recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes. The Nomination Committee is also
responsible for identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to
become Board members and makes recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors
if necessary, in particular, candidates who can add value to the management
through their contributions in the relevant strategic business areas and which
appointments will result in the constitution of a stronger and more diverse
Board. In the selection process, the Nomination Committee makes reference
to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity, accomplishment and
experience in the dairy industry, professional and educational background,
and commitment in respect of available time.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2011 to discuss mainly the nomination of Mr. Xie Tao as an
independent non-executive Director.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2011, the Audit Committee comprised five non-
executive Directors, three of whom are independent (Mr. Liu Fuchun,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) in which one possesses the relevant
professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules and the remaining
two members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge and Mr. Ma
Wangjun). The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Xie Tao, an independent
non-executive Director.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between
other directors, the external auditors, and the management as their duties
relate to financial and other reporting, internal controls and the auditing.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and as
to the efficiency of the audits.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
December 2011 and one further meeting since 1 January 2012 up to the
date of this report. During the year, the Audit Committee has performed
the following:

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope and
findings of their audit and interim review works;

—  reviewed external auditors’ management letter and management’s
response;

—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the external
auditors’ remuneration;

—  made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors;

—  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process;

—  reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements, annual
and interim reports, and annual and interim announcements of the
Company; and

—  discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and financial
reporting matters before recommending them to the Board for
approval.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee have
been addressed by the senior management. The work and findings of the
Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues
brought to the attention of the senior management and the Board were of
sufficient significance for disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors (please
refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages 67 to 68),
the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and the Company which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December
2011 and the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and effective internal
control system, to safeguard the assets of the Group and the interest
of shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness regularly. Aiming at
strengthening the risk management culture of the Group and minimizing
the impacts of the major risks on the business and earnings of the Group,
the senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate and review
the significant risks to which the Group is exposed and reports to the Board
on a regular basis. The Group also appoints external consultants, when
considered appropriate, to review the Group's internal control, working
systems and workflows, as well as the management systems, and to make
suggestions on system enhancement.

Besides strict implementation of a performance assessment system
and training programs for its staff, the Group has in place a series of
written working systems in respect of business, production, finance, legal
compliance and administration aspects, to ensure the significant risks, to
which the Group is exposed, are contained:

—  Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various business
functions is delegated to respective management within limits set by
senior management of the headquarters or the executive Directors.
The senior management meets on a regular basis to discuss and
approve business strategies, plans and budgets prepared by individual
business units. The performance of the Group is reported to the Board
on a regular basis.

- Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks the
risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business according to their
likelihood, financial consequence and reputational impact on the
Group.

—  Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for each
business function, in which approvals, authorization, verification,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and
segregation of duties are included.

— Information and communication — The Group’s working systems
document operational procedures of all business units, as well as
authorization and approval procedures for significant decision making.

—  Monitoring — The Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment
methodology, continuously assessing and managing its business risks
by way of assessment by the headquarters of the Group and each
business unit on a regular basis, and communication of key control
procedures to employees.
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During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board had examined the
internal control system and reviewed the evaluation performed by the Audit
Committee, the management and internal and external auditors, on the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. No significant
areas of concern were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and their training programmes and budget and considered that
they are adequate.

External Auditors

The Group's independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The Audit
Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external auditors and
reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the external auditors for the
Group. In particular, the Committee will, prior to the execution of contract
with external auditors and the commencement of their duties, consider
whether the non-audit functions will result in any potential material conflict
of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended 31
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December 2011 are as follows: LK GRS BRAFEWT -
2011 2010
—E——F —TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
Services rendered R R BRE AR¥T T ARBTT
Annual audit FEET 3,540 3,400
Interim review FhERZE RS 560 540
Non-audit service SEFERT RS
Review on continuing connected transactions HHFERER S 40 40
Other professional services HAith Z 3RS 300 860
4,440 4,840
The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness of Emst ~ EE&HE LK ST EHBANEBER - 12F MK

& Young and has recommended their reappointment as the Company’s
external auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Strategy and Development Committee

The Company has established a Strategy and Development Committee on
27 August 2009, which currently comprised two executive Directors, Mr.
Yang Wenjun and Mr. Wu Jingshui and four non-executive Directors, Mr.
Ma Jianping, Mr. Jiao Shuge, Mr. Fang Fenglei and Mr. Ma Wangjun. The
Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee include
drawing up long-term development strategies and significant investments
on financing plans of the Company, proposing significant capital investment
for operation projects, and conducting studies and making recommendation
on important matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2011 to discuss mainly the significant investment
plans, budget and performance target for 2012.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the standard
required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct and rules governing dealings by all the directors in the securities of
the Company (the “Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2011, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor relations and
communications. Regular meetings are held with institutional investors and
financial analysts to ensure two-way communications on the Company’s
performance and development. When the Company announces its interim
and annual results, briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and
the press of the Group's operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to ensure
that investors are able to have access to the Company’s information, latest
news and reports. Nine out of the fifteen Directors, have attended the
annual general meeting in June 2011 to be available to answer questions at
the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each substantially
separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll voting has been adopted
for decision-making at shareholders’ meeting. Details of poll voting
procedures were included in the circular dispatched to the shareholders
of the Company. The circular also included relevant details of proposed
resolutions and biographies of the Directors standing for election.
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The board of directors (the “Directors”) presents its report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

Principal Activities and Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group’s main operating subsidiary, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), and its
subsidiaries are manufacturing and distribution of dairy products including
liquid milk (comprising UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream and
other dairy products (such as milk powder) in China.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the
financial statements.

The Group's revenue is derived principally from business activities in China.
An analysis of the Group'’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2011 by business segments is set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 69.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.198 (2010: RMBO0.16) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB349,953,000 (2010: RMB278,078,000) in total, to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on Friday, 22 June 2012.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.
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Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 73 to 74 and note 42 to the financial statements. The
Company’s distributable reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory
provisions applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted
to approximately RMB8,055,410,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
RMB7,814,927,000).

Donations
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately RMB7,924,000 (2010: RMB12,941,000).

Share Capital and Share Options
Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share options
during the year are set out in notes 41 and 44 to the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2011 were:

Executive Directors
Mr. YANG Wenjun

Mr. BAl Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui

Mr. DING Sheng

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. JJAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen)
Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. MA Jianping

Mr. FANG Fenglei

Mr. MA Wangjun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Julin
Mr. LIU Fuchun
Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya
Mr. XIE Tao

(resigned on 10 June 2011)

(appointed on 10 June 2011)
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Company's articles of association, Mr.
Ning Gaoning, Mr. Jiao Shuge, Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and
Mr. Ma Jianping, will retire by rotation and Mr. Xie Tao will also retire in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and that a confirmation of independence has
been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior management are
set out on pages 34 to 41.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests, Long and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) (the “SFO") as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

REAR N FEMERRMAE1210E  EaELE £
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([ LR DPr#z R - ARFABBIM IEITE RS
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BRERRRBFARIREEE 7 EFMB|EAR DR
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AREHEEER G 2 7R

Percentage of
the Company's/
Associated
Corporation’s
Issued
Share Capital
Company/Name of Total Number of R NG P 2
Name of Director Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares EEE BT
BEx=pn NE/ I E AR REmME EERAR e A=
(Note 1)
(HHEE)
Yang Wenjun The Company Personal Interest 1,506,196 (L) 0.09%
Btk VNG AR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 4,510,460 (L) 0.30%
NEES AR R
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 148,837 (L) 0.01%
=pe VNG| AR R
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 448,201 (L) 0.03%
NEES (BN 5
Notes: FET -

1.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2011 was 1.

1,767,441,014.

On 9 September 2011, Xin Niu International Limited, Yinniu Milk Industry 2.

Limited, Jinniu Milk Industry Limited, Niu Gensheng and a group of 21
individuals comprising Directors and management staff of the Group (the
“Management Shareholders”) (together, the “Concert Parties”) entered into
a deed of termination to terminate a concert party agreement (the “Concert
Party Agreement”) previously entered into by the Concert Parties on 24 July
2008 regarding their interest in the Company and break up the concert party
arrangement. The Concert Party Agreement constituted an agreement under
section 317 of the SFO.

Indicates a long position.

REZZ——F+ZA=+—0  ARRZEHTRHLE
2151,767,441,0148% °

R=Z——FLANHE  Xin Niu International Limited *
Yinniu Milk Industry Limited ~ Jinniu Milk Industry Limited
FIRERBANBEAEKNERLEREREEREE
B(IERERE]) (Bl —B1T8H DER] T —Hm&ILE
RA - MRIE—BUTE I B ER AR A2 RN T
TNFELAZTWBRI 2 — 8T8 ([ — 2478
T ]) REER—BETEI T THE o RIREF RS (66
E31715 - —BUTE A B Ak e o
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Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options under the
Company’s share option scheme, details of which are set out in the section
“Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company and their respective associates had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2011, the interests or short positions of substantial
shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
whose interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) are set
out above, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be maintained under section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:

ARBETESREANARZ BIAET SR BEE -
FIFHN T X[ BI85 -

B EXFHEEIN  RZE——F+-A=+—H &
RAIBEERTZITRABRE B ZBMBALRNARF]
RIS ER (5 R E S R AEEPIEXVER) Z ik
0~ EEERG REEET - BEEE RS CAEREES
MG GGIFE352EREFENERMA - RRERE
STAVZEREG AR BB P 2 s SRR

FERRER

REZZT——F+ZA=+—H  REZFHFRHAEE0IE
336ERTEFE 2 EMATALEE - FERR(RART R
Higwo == (F & RESF KRB GROIEXVED Bk (D A
BENERRABER EXEHIINAATEEREEST
A BBRIN AR R B ARG R EERSOA R
o

Percentage of

the Company'’s
Issued
Share Capital
Number of w NN
Ordinary Shares BRITRA
Name of Substantial Shareholder TERRESE BB TEREE PA=E
(Note 1)
(=)

COFCO Corporation (formerly known as FlesE AR AR (ATTE # BliEH
COFCO Limited) RmEEBRAR]) 496,014,022 (1) 28.06%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited 347,600,000 (L) 19.67%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited COFCO Dairy Investments Limited 347,600,000 (L) 19.67%
Farwill Limited Farwill Limited 495,614,022 (L) 28.04%
UBS AG UBS AG 139,458,125 (L) 7.89%
494,832 (S) 0.03%
J P Morgan Chase & Co J P Morgan Chase & Co 103,751,800 (L) 5.87%
646,000 (S) 0.04%
92,244,993 (P) 5.22%
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Notes:
(1) The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2011 was
1,767,441,014.

(2)  COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited and Farwill
Limited are subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation.

(3)  Mr. Ning Gaoning, a non-executive director and the chairman of the Company,
is also the chairman of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Yu Xubo, a non-executive
director of the Company, is also the president of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Ma
Jianping, a non-executive director of the Company, is also the vice president
and the director of the strategy department of COFCO Corporation. Mr.
Ma Wangjun, a non-executive director of the Company, is also the assistant
president and the vice chief financial controller of COFCO Corporation.

(4)  Please refer to Note 2 under “Directors’ Interests, Long and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”. The Concert Parties have ceased
to be substantial shareholders (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of
the Company as from 9 September 2011.

(S)  Indicates a short position.
() Indicates a long position.

(P)  Indicates a lending position.

Saved as disclosed above and in the section “Share Option Scheme” below,
as at 31 December 20711, no other interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 20 January 2010, the Company entered into the Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement with COFCO Corporation, a connected person of the
Company, pursuant to which the Group, subject to the Group's regular
review and at the Group's option, purchased white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products from COFCO Corporation, its subsidiaries
and certain associated companies (collectively “COFCO Corporation Group
Companies”) and COFCO Corporation Group Companies supplied white
sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and related products to the Group, for
a period commencing from 20 January 2010 to 19 January 2012.

The transactions under the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The annual value of the
transactions amount under the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
for each of the two years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011 was not
expected to exceed RMB290,000,000 and RMB450,000,000 respectively.
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MI5E -
1 RZZE—F+ZA=1+—0 ARANEETRHE
2/51,767,441,0148% »

(2)  COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited ~ COFCO Dairy Investments
Limited &z Farwill Limited /& 2 &2 B A IR A TRV A7)
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For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total amount paid/payable by
the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group Companies for the purchase
of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and related products was
approximately RMB265,832,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms
or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

On 20 February 2012, the Company entered into a new Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement with COFCO Corporation for a term commencing
from 20 January 2012 and ending on 31 December 2014, the details of
which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 February
2012. COFCO Corporation, a substantial shareholder of the Company
currently holds approximately 28.06% in the shares of the Company.

BE-Z—FT-A=+—RHIFE TEERBA
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Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The following share
options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year.
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fahrrEsTEl
ARATHRA BB BI([5H8))) - AR AR
EBRN AR AB RS REFHBIRIEE - F
P SRR ARITEE 2 AT -

Exercise
Asat Period of Exercise
Asat 31 December share options price of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of (both dates share
Name or Category of 2011 during during during R=Z——% grantof inclusive)® options
Participant R-B——F& theyear  theyear® the year 1= shareoptions  BRETHEHY B
SHREERAER —-A-H FRARE  FRIES FREH =t-0 RUEBKRERS (BEERRX) I8
HKS
o
Executive directors
HiTEE
Yang Wenjun 9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
B —ZENF —Z-TF\AT/\BZ
NA+N\R “T-WFENATEA
6,600,000 - - - 6,600,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
“EThE “2—F+-A-1+=HZ
+—A=+= —E-aF+-A-t-H
- 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015109.10.2018 24.100)
—2——F “Z-RF+A+AZE
+A+H “T-\F+ANA
Bai Ying 34,250 - (34,250) - - 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 t0 25.10.2012 1340
St —ETNE ZERHETAZTRBE
+A=t~R —E--Ft+A-t@A
3,680,000 - (1,840,000) - 1,840,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
“ZEN\E “Z-ZFN\ATN\BE
NATNR “S-WFENATEA
3,210,000 - - - 3,210,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
ZEThE “2—F+-A-1+=HZ
+—A=+= —E-aF+-A=-t=H
- 3,200,000 - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015109.10.2018 24.100)
—2——F “Z-RF+ATAE
+A+H “E-\F+ANA
Wu Jingshui 15,750 - (15,750) - - 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 t0 25.10.2012 1340
REK “ETNE ZERHETAZTRBE
+A=t~R —E-—-Ft+A-t@A
1,650,000 - (550,000) - 1,100,000 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
“TTNE “Z-ZFN\ATN\BE
NATNR “T-WFENATEA
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
ZEThE “2—F+-A-1+=HZ
+—A=+= —E-1F+-A=-t=B
- 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015109.10.2018 24.100)
—2——F “Z-RF+A+AZE
+A+H “Z-\F+ANA
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Exercise
Asat Period of Exercise
Asat 31December share options price of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of (both dates share
Name or Category of 2011 during during during R=Z——% grantof inclusive)® options
Participant N-B——& theyear  theyear® the year +=H share options R T BB
SREERIER —A-H ERRE  FRfIEe FREN =t-0B RUBRERY (BEEEMR) e
HKS
BT
Ding Sheng 24,000 - (24,000) - - 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 10 25.10.2012 1340
TE ZTERE “EZHETAZ1RBE
+A=+~B  ZE-Z%tA=fHA
1,850,000 - (700,000) - 1,150,000 18.8.2008 18.8.201010 17.8.2014 2203
—ZENF —Z-TF\AT/\BZE
JAV:RwA\= —Z-FEN\A+tH
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
“TTNE “E—H#+-fA-f=HZ%
+-BA=t=B Z—E-R&+-B=-t+=H
- 3,200,000 - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24.102
F——% “Z-RETATEE
+A+A —Z-\&TANA
Employees in Aggregate 1,683,642 - (1423827) (@7,707) 212,108 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 10 25.10.2012 1340
EEE ZTERE “EZHETAZ1RBE
+A=+~B  ZE-Z£tA=fHA
56,945,280 - (24345173)  (7,819613) 24,780,494 18.8.2008 188201010 17.8.2014 22.03
—ZENF —Z-TF\AT/\BZE
JAV:RwA\= —Z-mE\A+tH
73,428,000 - (519,442)  (11,319,690) 61,588,868 23.11.2009 23.11.20111022.11.2015 24.40
ZETTNE “E—4#+-fA-f=H%
+-A=t=B Z—E-R&%t+-B=-t+=H
4,470,000 - - (100,0000 4,370,000 6.12.2010 6.12.2012105.12.2016 22.80
“E-TF “E-—F+-A5xEZE
TZARH ~F—"¥t-AnA
- 47,200,000 - - 47,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24102
—E——5 “Z-1E+ATHEZE
TA+A ZZE-\&TANA
165,890,922 65,000,000 (29452,442) (19,287,010) 182,151,470
Notes: MI5E
(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after a certain (1) ZEBEREZITEHRE TRBHEKETARER

vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance targets, and ends on a
date which is no later than seven years from the date of grant of such options.
Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

The closing price of the Company's shares immediately before the date of grant
(i.e. 7 October 2011) was HK$24.05.

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$26.37.

As at the date of this report, the total number of the Company’s shares
available for issue under the Scheme (excluding the share options granted but
not yet to be exercised) is 12,183,682 shares, which represented approximately
0.69% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

BREBAER - WEREZFERERREE T B F
EARLE - B EINEMFSHN I TERA T4 -

AABRORBEEFRLBSHEI=ZZE—F+AtR)AT
Z W EA24.0558 T °

AN F) R BE A R IETT(E B AT 2 iR P KT (B S
263787 °

MARE B - RIEAH SRR R AT HETROEZ(TE
R MB AT BBIE) 512,183,682 87 + 5
ARREIRZ A HE TR0 490.69% °
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The values of share options calculated using the binomial model are subject
to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of and
uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of the expected future
performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the
model itself. Details of the valuation are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. Any change to the variables used may materially affect the
estimation of the fair value of an option.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Public Float

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the
Group combined was less than 30% of the total purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers of the
Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of the Group.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has pledged certain bank deposits,
land use rights and certain property, plant and equipment aggregating to
approximately RMB555,103,000 (2010: RMB291,881,000). Details are set
out in the respective notes to the financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are set out in notes 46 and
49, respectively, to the financial statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and for the previous four financial periods
are set out on page 216.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 44 to 53.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Yang Wenjun
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

=z XK

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 69 to 215, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report ¥& 32 #% 2 f ¥k 2

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—ZT——F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2011 2010
—E2——fF —E-TF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
BdEE AR¥T T ARETFTT
REVENUE WA 4 37,387,844 30,265,415
Cost of sales SHERK AR (27,795,692) (22,478,979)
GROSS PROFIT ER 9,592,152 7,786,436
Other income and gains NS e 4 296,265 193,472
Selling and distribution costs SHE RICHER (6,694,705) (5,429,141)
Administrative expenses THEA (1,110,089) (1,036,039)
Other operating expenses Hthgs e & 5 (187,162) (59,745)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZETERE 1,896,461 1,454,983
Interest income FLEUA 173,052 87,884
Finance costs BB 8 (60,942) (45,203)
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(RES N AR E K EtE 20 52,059 40,438
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B0 FHE 6 2,060,630 1,538,102
Income tax expense FriSfisz i 9 (276,081) (182,185)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AERIE 1,784,549 1,355,917
Attributable to: AR & 77 e -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NCIE 2SN 1,589,274 1,237,273
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR AR 195,275 118,644
1,784,549 1,355,917
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO A RIZERIEE A
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EihERER
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED IN (AR ARY TS
RMB PER SHARE) 11
— Basic —FK 0.908 0.712
— Diluted —8 0.905 0.711

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in N4 &5 I iz IR A< AR B B0 F 15 7 B 745 s 2 PO =k 10488
note 10 to the financial statements. 2o
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2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BFE AREFT AREFIT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AREF)H 1,784,549 1,355,917
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ht 2wk
Available-for-sale investments: AMEEERSE
Changes in fair value N (EE 22 (108,536) 145,366
Income tax effect FriStim s & 22 17,035 (39,865)
(91,501) 105,501
Exchange differences on translation of HMEBINETEH)
foreign operations E R =58 (196,303) (150,885)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHMEEKE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MEREE (287,804) (45,384)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEEXHEKRHALE
FOR THE YEAR 1,496,745 1,310,533
Attributable to: A& ER -
Owners of the Company AN/NEIL V=N 1,304,899 1,183,864
Non-controlling interests FEFENR A% B 191,846 126,669
1,496,745 1,310,533
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As at 31 December 2011 R=Z——F+=-HA=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —ZE—FF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B ARMT T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - R NG 12 6,806,539 5,380,385
Construction in progress wEEIR 13 887,103 535,104
Land use rights s A 14 585,007 484,572
Long term prepayments REFFEFIER 28 243,942 -
Goodwill [EES 15 482,436 451,613
Other intangible assets HihmpEE 16 224,887 221,508
Investments in associates REE A RIRIEE 20 153,352 113,857
Available-for-sale investments AEHERSE 22 295,206 301,681
Deferred tax assets FEIEFTSTE E 23 66,749 81,060
Other financial assets Hih e & E 24 69,961 71,754
9,815,182 7,641,534

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 25 1,685,247 1,176,423
Bills receivable eSS 26 261,024 20,539
Trade receivables FEULERTR 27 574,734 554,933
Prepayments and deposits AR kiRE 28 774,907 942,303
Other receivables Hib el zrag 29 289,427 169,897
Investment deposits WEF 30 102,800 -
Pledged deposits RESTFR 31 175,289 102,399
Cash and bank balances RNE NLIRTTETF 31 6,523,075 6,697,813
10,386,503 9,664,307

CURRENT LIABILITIES REIEE
Trade payables FERTERER 32 2,543,405 2,061,193
Bills payable ARG 33 1,141,141 1,487,302
Deferred income ERER S 39 18,912 15,082
Other payables H M ERFIE 34 1,581,781 1,061,253
Accruals and customers’ deposits EIRBANMEFP® 35 1,180,720 880,142
Interest-bearing bank loans STERIRITER 36 537,544 550,786
Other loans HMER 37 119,094 140,018
Income tax payable FEITER1S TR 103,228 42,513
7,225,825 6,238,289
NET CURRENT ASSETS BABEE 3,160,678 3,426,018

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERRSHEES 12,975,860 11,067,552




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2011 072

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4r& Bf #5A 5 &

As at 31 December 2011 R=Z——F+=-HA=+—H

2011 2010
—E2——fF —E—FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PR AR%T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Interest-bearing bank loans FHEIRITER 36 - 150,000
Long term payables REAEN T8 38 188,739 14,102
Deferred income EEW A 39 234,940 226,049
Deferred tax liabilities BEAMSMAE 23 22,830 39,865
Other financial liabilities Hitemad 40 480,531 420,027
927,040 850,043
NET ASSETS BEE 12,048,820 10,217,509
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZNA &HEB AJE(LRERS
Issued capital BB TR 41 181,087 178,679
Retained earnings IREFE 3,074,337 2,050,216
Other reserves Hih AR 42(A) 8,215,634 7,529,169
11,471,058 9,758,064
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AR R A RS 577,762 459,445
TOTAL EQUITY R 12,048,820 10,217,509
Ning Gaoning Yang Wenjun
BEE BX&
Director Director

EBEF

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SEBRBBE

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HE—ZT——F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RREA AEGER
Non-
Issued Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves eamings Total interests equity
BEORA  HiE  RENE At FEERRR iR

Notes ~ RMBO00  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
i ARMTT ARBTT ARMTT ARETT ARMTT ARETE

Note 42(A)
HizE42(0)
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-TF—-A—AH 178,611 7,102,301 1,294,766 8,575,678 336,016 8911,694
Profit for the year REFE - - 1,237,273 1,237,273 118,644 1,355,917
Other comprehensive income  FEEM 2 -
for the year:
Changes in fair value of AHEEREARE
avalable-for-sale investments, &8 - HIRFE
net of tax - 97,476 - 97,476 8,025 105,501
Exchange difference on BB TSR
translation of foreign R ER
operations - (150,885) - (150,885) - (150,885)
Total comprehensive income FEZAKSESE
for the year - (53,409) 1,237,273 1,183,864 126,669 1,310,533
Shares issued under equity-settled 1R 45 SARR{A S H
share option arrangements BRETHRIRG M4 68 13,343 - 13411 - 13411
Equity-settled share option ARREA S <1
arrangements EEEL 44 - 366,183 - 366,183 - 366,183
Transfer to statutory reserves BREATHE - 236378 (236379 - - -
Final 2009 dividend declared BER-ZTNF
RS 10 - - (245,445) (245,445) - (245,445)
Dividends paid to non-controlling — [FERRRA% &
shareholders RR 4 - - - - (27.228) (27,228)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RTRA) 45 - - - - 221,287 221,287
Derecognition of puttable BILRERADEE
non-controlling interests FERRAR R 40 - (135627) - (135627) (197299 (332,926)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZF+_f
=+—H 178,679 7,529,169 2,050,216 9,758,064 459,445 10,217,509
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 &#ZE—ZT——F+—_A=+—RHIFE
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Attributable to owners of the Company

LNNGTE 2PN S
Non-
Issued Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
ERTRA  HttRE  REAE At FERRR Bign
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz AR%TR ARETT AR¥®TR AR%TR ARETT AR%ETR
Note 42(A)
HizE42(A)
At 1 January 2011 RZE—F—H—H 178,679 7,529,169 2,050,216 9,758,064 459,445 10,217,509
Profit for the year AEME = - 1589274 1,589,274 195,275 1,784,549
Other comprehensive income FEHMRENE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of AREEREARE
available-for-sale investments, S8 HRTE
net of tax - (88,072) - (88,072) (3.429) (91,501)
Exchange difference on BE BN ETEH
translation of foreign b % ZHE
operations - (196,303) - (196,303) - (196,303)
Total comprehensive income FEZEMEESE
for the year - (284,375) 1,589,274 1,304,899 191,846 1,496,745
Shares issued under equity-settled 1R 1% SARR{A ST H
share option arrangements BRETHEIRD 4 2,408 518,208 - 520,616 - 520,616
Equity-settled share option PARR R 289
arrangements BB Lt 44 - 173,541 - 173,541 - 173,541
Transfer to statutory reserves RS LT R - 285,920 (285,920) - - -
Final 2010 dividend declared EER-Z—ZF
HIRIRE, 10 - - (279233) (2719233 - (279233)
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [FIZEXEARAR SRR AL &,
shareholders - - - - (51,047) (51,047)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RTRA) 45 - - - - 21,635 21,635
Derecognition of puttable R\ FRER R E SRR
non-controlling interests e 40 - (6,829) - (6,829) (44,117) (50,946)
At 31 December 2011 RZE——14F
+-A=1+-H 181,087 8215634  3,074337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE=Z——
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PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR

2011 2010
—E——F —T-THF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B ARMT T ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RELBEENRERE
Profit before tax AU EINES 2,060,630 1,538,102
Adjustments for: BTYSIBIEL A% -
Interest income FBUA (173,052) (87,884)
Finance costs BE KA 8 60,942 45,203
Depreciation of items of property, W - R MERIBTTE
plant and equipment 6 839,264 697,996
Amortisation of land use rights + b {3 PR AR £ 6 12,538 9,172
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & Ay 6 11,735 5,608
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEYE - BEK&
plant and equipment LiEEE 5 8,502 18,661
Share-based payment expense LARR 0 A ETR A A 44 173,541 366,183
Provision/(write-back of provision) for JREUSBR R R E A MR
trade receivables and other receivables B /(B ER D) 6 12,973 (1,013)
Share of profits and losses of associates JEERE ARIFEREE 20 (52,059) (40,438)
Write-down of inventories to FEMRBZEEIRFE
net realisable value 5 1,522 865
Government grants R B (55,771) -
Amortisation of deferred income RIEW R 3R 4 (17.257) (14,857)
Foreign exchange differences, net ME W R AR 4 (143,693) (57,338)
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate BREE LN a]
WS 4 (21,566) (6,256)
Unrealised fair value losses on AEWITASRT A
derivative financial instruments N EEE 6 6,731 -
2,724,980 2,474,004
Increase in other financial assets Hih & EL (26,230) (58,552)
Increase in inventories ZEEN (512,744) (425,877)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables %HKE&%&%H&%‘%}E
A (3En) (272,752) 41,417
Decrease in pledged deposits {%u SFIRL 57,175 57,389
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TERTR -~ =& R E MR
other receivables Ergrspicelly| (167,288) (632,163)
Increase in trade and bills payables FERTRRR S FERT =IBIE N 252,847 1,053,248
Increase in accruals and other payables TEIRE A KA
FIEEAN 706,936 116,273
Cash generated from operations 430K B 2 e A 0 TE S 2,762,924 2,625,739
Interest paid SASFE (46,420) (38,864)
Income taxes paid SN (196,447) (101,758)
Net cash flows from operating activities REERELNTEERE 2,520,057 2,485,117
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &8 B & RE XK

For the year ended 31 December 2011 &#ZE—ZT——F+—_A=+—RHIFE

2011 2010
—B——F —T-THF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B AR¥T T ARETTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEENRESRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BEEME  WE L MEE
plant and equipment FriS5IE 12,371 3,740
Purchase of items of property, EEWE - BB &EE
plant and equipment (586,726) (218,080)
Purchase of construction in progress TEZETAREN 13 (1,705,881) (865,743)
Purchase of other intangible assets H b & B N 16 (6,796) (1,678)
Purchase of land use rights b s PR RERE N 14 (94,110) (54,166)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments EEHEERE (106,491) (129,776)
Disposal of available-for-sale investments HEHEEERE 3,870 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEFRA] 3,268 (281,639)
Capital injection to associates HEENAEE (738) (4,374)
Capital injection to a jointly-controlled entity H—REREGHIEREE (20,000) -
Receipt of government grants WER AT Bh & 20,630 10,713
Withdrawal/(Purchase) of time deposits with BE(BEE)RIEA A
original maturity of more than three months =B A TEEIFR 759,355 (759,161)
Interest received U ELHIE, 167,721 82,020
Dividends received from associates U ER B A BB 11,163 12,559
Dividends received from an available-for-sale e ATt BB 1A A
investment R B 144 867
Disposal of associates HERE N T] - 250
Purchase of investment deposits KBTI (102,800) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEEFTIEERERE (1,645,020) (2,204,468)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHEENRSRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans FHEIRITERATE A 404,186 139,246
Repayment of interest-bearing bank loans BEFTEHRITER (723,682) (311,694)
Repayment of other loans BEEREMER (2,646) -
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged deposits for IRITERRESFR
bank loans B/ (1) (130,065) 81,180
Dividends paid to owners of the Company TR R TR AR E 10 (279,233) (245,445)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 3z {< 3422 A% B B8 A% 2, (51,970) (27,228)
Proceeds from other loans HtE RS 5RIE 42,493 42,356
Repayment of long term payables BERHENTIE (37,886) (87,407)
Capital contribution by a joint venture partner ~ && BT E 20,000 -
Shares issued under equity-settled share option TR IR AR S 1~ QBB A% 2
arrangements TR 44 520,616 13,411
Net cash flows from financing activities RETBHELENTRESRE (238,187) (395,581)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 #HZE—ZT——F+-_A=+—HILFE
2011 2010
—B——F —T-THF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B ARMT T ARETT
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReMRSEEY
cash equivalents g0, O ) %88 636,850 (114,932)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNEERELEEY
beginning of year 31 3,775,255 3,986,624
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  FERE B 2 (;F%5E) (52,233) (96,437)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year FRANRERREEEY 31 4,359,872 3,775,255
Analysis of balances of cash and RERASZEYERDIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated in REFE TR TP TIERR
the consolidated statement of financial position IR & M ERTT4EF 31 6,523,075 6,697,813
Time deposits with original maturity more than ~ JREIEFH A=1& 8 A £/
three months TEEITFR 31 (2,163,203) (2,922,558)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RiraReRERTIIRSY
the consolidated statement of cash flows He MREEED 31 4,359,872 3,775,255
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Statement of Financial Position

BAEER R AR

As at 31 December 2011 R=Z——F+=-HA=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
B3 AREFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MR E 12 28 17
Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE 22 69,008 114,831
Loans to a subsidiary i = S/NCTE O =] 18 2,656,684 2,680,430
Investments in subsidiaries RFRARIRIEE 19 5,043,682 5,017,482
7,769,402 7,812,760
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables H b fE k18 29 647,991 394,196
Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTTHTF 31 622,766 599,995
1,270,757 994,191
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables HibfEIE 1,133 1,544
1,133 1,544
NET CURRENT ASSETS BABEE 1,269,624 992,647
NET ASSETS FEE 9,039,026 8,805,407
EQUITY =
Issued capital [RECSETEN 41 181,087 178,679
Reserves i 42(B) 8,857,939 8,626,728
TOTAL EQUITY R 9,039,026 8,805,407
Ning Gaoning Yang Wenjun
= pr] BX&
Director Director

EF

EF
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The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture
and distribution of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared on a historical cost basis except for share options,
certain available-for-sale equity investments and derivative financial
instruments which have been measured at fair value. They are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 201 1. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
result of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the day that such control ceases. All intra-group
balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in
full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the
non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the
fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate.
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The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.
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IFRS 1 Amendment

IAS 24 (Revised)

Improvements to
IFRSs 2010

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards
— Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS
7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

Related Party Disclosures

IAS 32 Amendment  Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Presentation — Classification of Rights Issues

IFRIC-Int 14 Amendments to IFRIC-Int 14 Prepayments of a
Amendments Minimum Funding Requirement
IFRIC-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued in
May 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of IAS
24 (Revised), and amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 1 and IAS 27 included
in Improvements to IFRSs 2010, the adoption of the new and
revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs are as
follows:

(@) IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions of related
parties. The new definitions emphasis a symmetrical view of
related party relationships and clarify the circumstances in which
persons and key management personnel affect related party
relationships of an entity. The revised standard also introduces
an exemption from the general related party disclosure
requirements for transactions with a government and entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the same government as the reporting entity. The accounting
policy for related parties has been revised to reflect the changes
in the definitions of related parties under the revised standard.
The adoption of the revised standard did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group. Details of
the related party transactions, including the related comparative
information, are included in note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of
some of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a significant
financial impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group. Detalils of the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e IFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment clarifies
that the amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration do
not apply to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates precede the
application of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests. Only
the components of non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by another IFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance to clarify
the accounting treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily
replaced share-based payment awards.

e |AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each component
of other comprehensive income can be presented either
in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to
the financial statements. The Group elects to present
the analysis of each component of other comprehensive
income in the statement of changes in equity.

e |AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that the consequential
amendments from IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) made to IAS
21, IAS 28 and IAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier
if IAS 27 is applied earlier.
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The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9

IFRS 10

IFRS 11

IFRS 12

IFRS 13

IAS 1 Amendments

IAS 12 Amendments

IAS 19 (2011)

IAS 27 (2011)

IAS 28 (2011)

IAS 32 Amendments

IFRIC-Int 20

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards
— Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters'

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets'

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements*

Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities*

Fair Value Measurement*

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Presentation of Items of other
Comprehensive Income3

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes —
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and Joint \Ventures*

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets

and Financial Liabilities>

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine*
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1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

The Group is in the process of determining whether these new and
revised standards and interpretations will have any material impact on
the Group's results of operations and financial position.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in subsidiaries that are not classified as held-for-
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's investments in its jointly-controlled entities are accounted
for by the proportionate consolidation method, which involves
recognising its share of the jointly-controlled entities’ assets, liabilities,
income and expenses with similar items in the consolidated financial
statements on a line-by-line basis. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the jointly-
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are treated as
non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates
is included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
is included as part of the Group's investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company'’s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwvill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportional share of net assets
in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs
are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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Business combinations and goodwiill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date through
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39
either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is account for within equity. In
instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the
scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
IFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group'’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group'’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Business combinations and goodwiill (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, construction
contract assets, financial assets, investment properties, goodwill and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

()

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)

(i

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of
a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and structures 20 years
Plant and machinery 51to 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plants and properties under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be
highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwvill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences
Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost. Trademarks
acquired as part of a business combination are valued at fair value
based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful life are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Trademarks with
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 3 to 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) continued)

Research and development costs (continued)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the
leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments
under finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged
to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature
are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms of 50
years.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are dassified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale investments, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classifications of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at
fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, entrusted loans, quoted and
unguoted available-for-sale equity investments, and derivative financial
instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets
held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or l0ss (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in other income and gains or finance costs in
the income statement. These net fair value changes do not include
any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognized in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit and loss are designated at their initial recognition date
and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied. The Group has not
designated any financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group evaluates its financial assets held for trading to determine
whether the intention to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When in rare circumstances the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s intention
to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets. The reclassification
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the asset. This evaluation does
not affect any financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss using the fair value option at designation as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value
though profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in interest income in the
consolidated income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in finance costs for
loans in other operating expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets in
listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit
or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended
to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are subsequently
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised
as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which
time the cumulative gain and loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement in other income and gains, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired when the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the consolidated income statement in other operating expenses.
Interest and dividends earned while holding the available-for-sale
investments are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the consolidated income statement as
“Other income and gains” in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and management'’s intent to
do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets. Reclassification to loans and
receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet the definition
of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity. The
reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted only when
the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of
the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount
is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to the impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income
statement.
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Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate
of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of the event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a further
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other operating
expenses in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred
on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment
losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale investments, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of
what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in
the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the consolidated income statement. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced
carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of interest
income. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through
the income statement if the increase in fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in the income statement.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are dlassified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised at fair value plus, in the case of
loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other
payables, financial guarantee contracts, interest-bearing bank loans,
other loans, and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised
in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognized in
the income statement does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit and loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied. The Group has not
designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active financial
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing model.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
commodity contracts, to hedge its commodity price risks. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative under IAS 39 are recognised in the income
statement in cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a
non-financial item in accordance with the group’s expected purchase,
sale or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement, except for the
effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into a
current and non-current portion based on an assessment of the facts
and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows):

e Where the Group will hold a derivative as an economic hedge
(and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period beyond 12
months after the reporting date, the derivative is classified as
non-current (or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistent with the classification of the underlying item.

e  Embedded derivates that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistent with the cash flows of the host
contract.

. Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective
hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the
classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative
instruments are separated into a current portion and a non-
current portion only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and
conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials — cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods —  cost of direct materials and labour and a
proportion of manufacturing overheads
based on normal operating capacity but
excluding borrowing costs on a weighted
average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

PRERFIARARAR —F——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements B ##& 2k Mt

PTESMI A M)

Illbﬁﬁgplllbﬁﬁﬁﬁtb

WELEE AB R TANITAE T ATRESH =
ERERNFHE(BIERANRERE) D ERR
ISR - REFI RRE SIEREN R -

o  EAKBESHAITAETAERKEL (M
WEERE e ERERE) EBERER
Hife + —{E A HAf - 0T TR ThERAEREIR
BB —BOBERIERE (HEBI SR
B RIEmEE D

BEEBRAAITETARTS
’]E’Jfﬁ/i\ % B -

o IBEARRBEREFIAMITETEJEE
BEHHPIEE MR —B O - ITETEER
AI{E AT 2 BeRs B 0851 B Eh b n ;R IER
AL -

ﬁ4b
B DAEL Y AN B B2 AT 3R SRE M S R B E ENEE
aﬂﬁ o

REEMEZRUMEBRRELNRANEGR
BRIETEANT

BHE - RAGRIMEFSETE)
Fn — HEMBREEERAIRAE UK

RBEREESL I EHEE
REER BTRERGEER
(RIVEF AR

AR FERAEEREEMET IR
EHHEMRNERETE -



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2011 104

Notes to Financial Statements B4 3R 2% i =%

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

Provisions

A provisions is recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general guidance for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into considerations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the consolidated income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated income statement by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives a non-monetary grant, the asset and the
grant are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary asset and
released to the consolidated income statement over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a
below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying asset,
the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined
using the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the
government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of
interest, which is the difference between the initial carrying value of
the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant
and released to the consolidated income statement over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease term.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in People’s Republic of China
except for Hong Kong (“Mainland China”) participate in a central
defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed by the local
municipal government in the locations in which they operate.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the companies’
payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in
Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for the its employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 44 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated income statement for the period represents
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions
are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use, are
capitalised as a part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained earnings within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends are approved
by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised directly as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances. The
Company, established in the Cayman lIslands, uses the Hong Kong
dollar as its functional currency and the subsidiaries, established in
the PRC, use the Renminbi (“RMB") as their functional currency. As
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Group. Transactions in foreign currencies
are initially recorded at the functional currency rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to
the consolidated income statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate as at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-
monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of companies
whose functional currency differs from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group at the
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their
income statements are translated at the weighted average exchange
rates for the reporting period. The exchange differences arising on
the retranslation are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for withholding
taxes arising from the distributions of dividends from certain
subsidiaries according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to
judgement on the timing of the payment of the dividends or on
whether certain companies of the Group is determined to be a
Chinese resident enterprise by the PRC governing tax authorities in
the future. Management considered that it is not probable that the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries will distribute profits earned on or after
1 January 2008 till the end of 2011 in the foreseeable future, and
accordingly no additional provision for withholding tax was made in
2011. Where the final outcome of these matters are different from the
amounts originally rewarded, the difference will impact the deferred
tax provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Operating lease commitments — group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain of its ranch
facilities comprising of plant and machinery included in the property,
plant and equipment account. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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Judgements (continued)

Operating lease commitments — group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain machinery.
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it does not bear all the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of these machinery and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and own-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or
leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwvill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Details of goodwill are given in note 17 to the
financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to
sell is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, which affects the
probability of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations
of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of
financial instruments.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of available-for sale investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired. In the case of equity
investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would
include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
investment below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement,
the Group evaluates, among other factors, historical share price
movements and the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of
its customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each reporting
period.

Fair value of contingent considerations

Contingent considerations, resulting from business combinations,
are valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business
combinations. Where the contingent consideration meets the
definition of a derivative and thus, a financial liability, it is subsequently
remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of
the fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions
take into consideration the probability of meeting each performance
target and the discount factors.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of
equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions
of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate
inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the option,
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The
assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 44 to the financial
statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the Group'’s property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charges where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the future
periods.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

e Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and distribution of
ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk”), milk beverages and
yogurt;

e |ce cream products segment — manufacture and distribution of
ice cream; and

e  Other dairy products segment — mainly manufacture and
distribution of milk powder.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit/(loss) before tax except that
interest income, finance costs, dividend income, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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Year ended 31 December 2011
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HE—T——F+-_A=1+—RHIFE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Other dairy
products products products Total
REDER KENER HEtAESR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT ARETRT AR%ETRT AR%Tx
Segment revenue: DEEA
Sales to external customers PHE TN R 33,701,215 3,258,602 428,027 37,387,844
Intersegment sales DESEHE 185,099 17,057 89,761 291,917
33,886,314 3,275,659 517,788 37,679,761
Reconciliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment sales  ¥f$5 2RI H#HE (291,917)
Revenue WA 37,387,844
Segment results DEREE 2,026,108 31,181 (21,188) 2,036,101
Recondiliation: TR
Interest income SN 173,052
Finance costs BhE R (60,942)
Share of profits and losses of iyl
associates KEig 52,059
Unallocated corporate expenses TOEEREISZH (139,640)
Profit before tax TR RIAE 2,060,630
Income tax expense FrS®isz (276,081)
Profit for the year ANEERI 1,784,549
Segment assets PEEE 14,940,212 1,613,604 343,248 16,897,064
Reconciliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment S8 2B R PR Uk ol
receivables (4,756,443)
Unallocated corporate assets TOHN NGB EE 8,061,064
Total assets BEE 20,201,685
Segment liabilities DHEE 10,814,233 1,016,822 261,879 12,092,934
Recondiliation: FHEE
Elimination of intersegment EH ) S RN R
payables (4,756,443)
Unallocated corporate liabilities PR ARIAE 816,374
Total liabilities waE 8,152,865
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Year ended 31 December 2011 HE_Z——F+-_A=1+—HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Other dairy
products products products Total
RERINER AKEHMAER HtIHEm e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR%®TxR
Other segment information: Hit o EER :
Depreciation and amortisation e &}%&@ﬁ 706,532 85,752 23,113 815,397
Unallocated amounts T ER 48,140
Total depreciation and PrE Rt
amortisation 863,537
Capital expenditure iéleiﬁﬂfi 2,393,609 230,444 7,260 2,631,313
Unallocated amounts Fvan=i 15 64,951
Total capital expenditure BARMY BEE 2,696,264*
Impairment losses recognised A FERERR
in the consolidated income REEE
statement 1,868 12,596 31 14,495
Other non-cash expenses E{J@Ei@ﬁ_\ > 66,420 6,357 652 73,429
Unallocated amounts A EBFR 100,112
Total non-cash expenses I HARER 188,036
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * ERARYBRENEDE BELXRE THETL

equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land use rights,
and assets from the acquisition of associates and subsidiaries.

2 BVEE  LtEmEREEERER
REEFNEE -

AIAF
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3. Operating Segment Information (ontinued)

Year ended 31 December 2010

120

3. BEDIER @)

BE—T-TFE+_A=1t—HLFE

Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total
BENER KEMER HbIEEG HaET
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREBTIT AREFTT ARETT AR®ETT
Segment revenue: DEBULA :
Sales to external customers PHE FINER 26,871,834 3,111,521 282,060 30,265,415
Intersegment sales HEREHE 75,917 736 250,196 326,849
26,947,751 3,112,257 532,256 30,592,264
Reconciliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment sales %785 2R HE (326,849)
Revenue WA 30,265,415
Segment results DEREELE 1,836,040 17,125 (25,181) 1,827,984
Recondiliation: TR
Interest income SN 87,884
Finance costs BLER AN (45,203)
Share of profits and losses of iyl
associates KNER 40,438
Unallocated corporate expenses TRER AT H (373,001)
Profit before tax TR RIAE 1,538,102
Income tax expense Fr8FiZ (182,185)
Profit for the year AL R 1,355,917
Segment assets PEWEE 11,499,448 1,387,524 372,228 13,259,200
Reconciliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment H5H ) B R FEUGR
receivables (3,938,771)
Unallocated corporate assets AEHAEEE 7,985,412
Total assets BEE 17,305,841
Segment liabilities DEEE 8,995,050 848,956 275,372 10,119,378
Recondiliation: TR
Elimination of intersegment EiE 0 EBREIENTR
payables (3,938,771)
Unallocated corporate liabilities SER AT AE 907,725
Total liabilities BaE 7,088,332
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3. Operating Segment Information (ontinued)

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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Y
w

n

SEDEER @

ETTE+A=t+—HIFE

Year ended 31 December 2010 B
Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total
BENER KEMER HbIEEG FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AREFTT AREFTT ARETT ARETT
Other segment information: HithpEPER
Depreciation and amortisation e Y 569,016 83,855 22,727 675,598
Unallocated amounts nsiEeE] 37,178
Total depreciation and T RSB EE
amortisation 712,776
Capital expenditure BREY 1,305,886 70,429 4,325 1,380,640
Unallocated amounts T EBFRIE 45,423
Total capital expenditure BARFAL R 1,426,063*
Impairment losses recognised REraFERERE
in the consolidated income EEE
statement (889) 178 563 (148)
Other non-cash expenses HibIERE T H 147,262 8,814 4,140 160,216
Unallocated amounts T ERFIE 205,967
Total non-cash expenses JEIRE & H4EzE 366,035
*  (Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *  BARIZBEANBEYE  BERZE - EEL

equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land use rights,
and assets from the acquisition of associates and subsidiaries.

Geographical information

a.

Revenue from external customers

12 BIVAE - Db RRERRIBK S A RMT
NEEENEE -

&S

a.

Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in

Mainland China.

Non-current assets

b.

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located in

Mainland China.

HRESNEREFHBA
90% A EHIA R B LR R BIARER RS o

FRBEE
AREEI0% A EHIERENE IR EIA
23
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Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods returns and
trade discounts, and after eliminations of all significant intra-group
transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as

WARAEENERE  FLEHBERNERF
B EIRRERESIH - AREHEEE AR
BRREZERRZ ZEMSHIZER

AREBEHUA - EMRARYEE DTN -

follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —ETF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Pt ARYET T ARETT
Revenue: A
Sale of goods s s 37,387,844 30,265,415
Other income and gains: HA A RUkES
Government grants BAEEh @) 59,488 77,365
Amortisation of deferred income RIEM G S (o) 17,257 14,857
Gain on deemed disposal of RELE—KBE AR
an associate Wzs 21,566 6,256
Foreign exchange gains, net FE 5 W 558 143,693 57,338
Others HAith 54,261 37,656
296,265 193,472
37,684,109 30,458,887
Notes: BisE -

(@  The government grants in the form of cash donations have been received
for the Group's contribution to the local economy with respect to the
establishment of infrastructure relating to the dairy products industry.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attaching to these
grants.

(b)  The Group has received certain government grants in the form of
property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations to purchase
items of property, plant and equipment. The grants are initially recorded as
deferred income and amortised to match the depreciation charge of the
underlying property, plant and equipment in accordance with the assets’
estimated useful lives (note 39).

(@)

(b)

AEBRERARIANBTEERZREME M7
KEAMAER - BER SRR AR
£ o ZEMBEWRMTHEAIAER G
REIR

BT AR - BB MR AR GRS BRIARE
W - BEERRETR  AAEESRTETH
B) - ZE MBS VRIER RHELE R - WIREE
ENEET R e AEERES - UREARRYE - M
B MR R B R s (it RE39) ©
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5. Other Operating Expenses 5. HtKEEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Write-off of inventories MEETFE 6,258 6,740
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value — 7F &R Z Al & IR FE 1,522 865
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEWMZE - BEM&EBE
plant and equipment 8,502 18,661
Donations B 7,924 12,941
Provision/(write-back of provision) for FEMTAR R I Ho A FE R IR
trade receivables and other receivables B (B 12,973 (1,013)
Educational surcharges and city construction tax 245 B I AR T 48 2 aR 143,005 13,782
Others EHth 6,978 7,769

187,162 59,745
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The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

124

AL BETATREEMR,(GEA) TFI5EER

STEME
2011 2010
—E——F —=—=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Cost of inventories sold HEFBEMA 27,788,961 22,478,979
Realised and unrealised fair value losses of DR RARPRITESRIA
derivative financial instruments, net (note 34) AR EEEFE(E34) 6,731 -
Cost of sales SHEMRA 27,795,692 22,478,979
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ EEBHER(TaEWNE7
remuneration as disclosed in note 7) Fri M= Eme)
—Wages, salaries, housing benefits and other —I% e FEEME
allowances H bRk 1,471,455 1,172,323
— Retirement benefit contributions —IRRIEFIHR 137,049 93,941
— Share-based payment expense (note 44) — DARRAR Y ST A
(P5E44) 136,620 290,587
1,745,124 1,556,851
Depreciation of items of property, plant and W - R MBS
equipment 839,264 697,996
Amortisation of land use rights + b {5 PR AR £ 12,538 9,172
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b dm & o e 11,735 5,608
Research and development costs EFEMRFHBEER
— current year expenditure 54,787 37,111
Provision/(write-back of provision) for E LA BR S N Lt FE W SR TE
trade receivables and other receivables BHE (B ERE) 12,973 (1,013)
Minimum lease payments under operating FEE ;A TEERERN
leases on buildings and certain production KEHERERES
equipment 153,082 252,888
Display space leasing fees By =EEER 593,090 495,076
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R 4,140 3,980
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Directors’ and Senior Executive’s Emoluments
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements B # 3% 2% i =+

EERSTITHAEME
RIEBFBHE RS ERARES EmRA E
MHRAI) REEQRIEGIE 161 EHBOATEE
EST

2011 2010

—E——5F —ETF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETIT

Fees we 1,010 1,001

Other emoluments EfbBiE

— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —E ¥ e - TEEF -

allowances and benefits in kind HAth) 280 R BEYFE 7,224 8,729

— Retirement benefit contributions —IRRRBFIHETR 249 201

8,483 9,931
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Basic salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement

and benefits benefit Total

Fees in kind contributions remuneration
BEAREE
EEEF
HAERER

e BEYAE RAERNHR el
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
M AR®TRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR

2011 —E——5F
Executive directors WITES
—Mr. Yang Wenjun —BXERAE 30 2,425 43 2,498
—Mr. Wu Jingshui —REKEE ©) 30 1,069 43 1,142
— Mr. Bai Ying — BB 30 2,108 53 2,191
—Mr. Ding Sheng —TESAE (@ 30 1,185 67 1,282
Non-executive directors FEBITES
— Mr. Ning Gaoning —ERELE 100 - - 100
— Mr. Niu Gensheng B e vt 30 437 43 510
— Mr. Jiao Shuge —EBREEE (b) = - - -
— Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt — Julian Juul
Wolhardt?cE  (b) = = = =
—Mr. Yu Xubo — T LA 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Jianping —BEFiL 100 - - 100
— Mr. Fang Fenglei —HRERE 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Wangjun —SEELEE () 100 - - 100
Independent non-executive BAIENITES
directors
—Mr. Zhang Julin —REMEAE (@) 50 - - 50
— Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —oREETR A 120 - - 120
— Mr. Liu Fuchun —2EERE 120 - - 120
—Mr. Xie Tao —EHEELE @) 70 = = 70

1,010 7,224 249 8,483
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7. Directors’ and Senior Executive’s Emoluments 7. EZERSHRITHAEME @)

(continued)

Basic salaries,
housing
benefits,
other
allowances Retirement

and benefits benefit Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration

EXEE

EEREH -

EL )25 &

e BEYFE RAEFIER sl
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M AR®ETT ARETT ARBTTE ARBTT

2010 —E—TF
Executive directors WITES
— Mr. Yang Wenjun — BB A 30 2,625 34 2,689
—Mr. Yao Tongshan —skRIL e A @) 3 13 3 19
—Mr. Wu Jingshui —REKESE (a) 28 1,149 34 1,211
—Mr. Bai Ying —HBEAE 30 2,050 34 2,114
—Mr. Ding Sheng —TERE @) 28 1,566 62 1,656
Non-executive directors IEMITESE
— Mr. Ning Gaoning —EEELE 100 - - 100
—Mr. Niu Gensheng —HIRAERAE 30 1,326 34 1,390
— Mr. Jiao Shuge — R LA (b) - - - -
— Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul
Wolhardt#e4  (b) - - - -
—Mr. Yu Xubo — TR LA 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Jianping —BEYRAE 100 - - 100
—Mr. Fang Fenglei —HRERE 100 - - 100
—Mr. Ma Wangjun -BIE%AE @) 92 - - 92
Independent non-executive B IEITES
directors
—Mr. Zhang Julin —sREMEAE @) 120 - - 120
— Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —oREETR A 120 - - 120
— Mr. Liu Fuchun —2RELLE 120 - - 120

1,001 8,729 201 9,931
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Notes:

Mr. Yao Tongshan and Mr. Zhang Julin resigned as directors on 1 March
2010 and 10 June 2011, respectively. Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Ding Sheng
and Mr. Ma Wangjun were appointed as directors on 1 March 2010 and
Mr. Xie Tao was appointed as director on 10 June 2011.

The two (2010: two) non-executive directors agreed to waive
their entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB200,000 (2010:
RMB200,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned, there was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options in respect
of their services to the Group under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements. In accordance with IFRS 2, share option benefits represent
the fair value at grant date of the share options issued under the share
option scheme of the Company amortised to the consolidated income
statement during the year disregarding whether the options have been
vested/exercised or not. During the year, the share option benefits
relating to the share options granted to Mr. Yang Wenjun, Mr. Yao
Tongshan, Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Bai Ying and Mr. Ding Sheng were
approximately RMB18,952,000 (2010: RMB37,189,000), nil (2010:
RMBS5,332,000), RMB4,298,000 (2010:RMB7,575,000), RMB8,448,000
(2010: RMB16,686,000) and RMB5,223,000 (2010: RMB8,814,000),
respectively. Share option benefits relating to the share options granted
to the directors are not included in the above analysis.

HKRILEERREREES R - —2F =1
—ARZZE——FXATHEEES - RRKE
£ TERERGEEEREN T —TF=F—
BEZERES  URHBEEENR T ——FX
ATRERERES-

RAEE » AA(ZF—FF : B IFRTES
FREREHEESHNS - SFESHEARK200,0007T
(ZZT—Z 4 : AR¥200,0007T) ° BRATIESN -
AN [E W AR AT A R E B RS R B R E (R A
SHYZHE -

FRN - ETESREHAEENRBEERRQBR
BRI T B3R BB AR (B B E B E R I IS 3R
KHIFE44) o RIBEBR I IEIRE2ERIE 25 - BB
BT IE A A RIRE AR ST B FT B 1 TR BB ARAR IR
BHABNRAAE  FRERLGASFIBERATMN
B MR SERESRCRE 11E - &
A BEARTHBXEEL « hRILEE - REK
S s ABURA R T BAABRIENBRERT
D RIA A ANR#18952,000T( —E—T4F : A
R#537,189,0007T) * ARBZL(ZZT—FF :
AR#5332,0007T) + AR%4,298,0007t (==
—ZE : ARMT7,575,0007T) « ARE8,448,000
T(ZE—TF : AR¥16,686,0007T) & AR
5,223,0007t( = —Z4F : AR¥8,814,0007T) °
AT E IR RS E SR L EREN
RERARAR A
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Four (2010: four) of the five highest paid individuals were directors AfZEHF A TR (ZE—ZF : Oi)E
whose emoluments have been shown above. Details of emoluments = FERSHMNEERE R EXHE - AEE
paid to the remaining one (2010: one) non-director, highest paid SNFEHBE—N(ZT—ZF: —()IFEE K
individual, who is a senior executive, for the year was as follows: BESIITHRABRBEIT

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®F T ARETT

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other allowances ~ EZA%r & - TREEH - Eith

and benefits in kind ERE R B 1,715 1,364
Retirement scheme contributions RREFFTEIER 67 61
1,782 1,425
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose BEB AL TARH S SEHEESEENSE M
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: T

Number of employees

BEHE

2011 2010

—B——F —ETF

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ C22,000,000/8 7T = 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017%7T%2,500,000/8 7T 1 -

1 1
During the year, share options were granted to one (2010: one) FR - —R(CE—ZTF: —R)ELFTFESE
non-director, highest paid employee in respect of her services to the B RLH SR B A AR IS B R (R A 1B e
Group, further details of which are set out in note 44 to the financial SRR MITEA4FIHEE) - TN - BRAAZE RS
statements. During the year, the share option benefits relating to the FEFES R BRENBERERNEHO/A
share options granted to the non-director, highest paid employee is R#2,319,0007T(=Z—Z4 : AK#9,300,000
approximately RMB2,319,000 (2010: RMB9,300,000) in aggregate. TT) o FlATIEEEEENZERaTIFES

The share option benefits relating to the share options granted to (B B AR AR AR R )

this non-director, highest paid employee is not included in the above
analysis.
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An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXRN DT
2011 2010
—F——% —T-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARETT
Interest on long term payables REBFETFRIEFIE 9,846 6,339
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within AR AFAEEEENET
five years BHFE 46,540 38,303
Increase in discounted amounts of contingent AR AT Mg sk A E
consideration arising from the passage of time FITIRIRE 4,556 561
60,942 45,203

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group had no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The tax charge
represents the provision for the PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) and

deferred tax for the year.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Corporate Income
Tax (“PRC CIT law"), except for certain preferential treatment available
to sixteen (2010: twenty-two) of the Group’s subsidiaries and a jointly-
controlled entity, the entities within the Group are subject to CIT at a
rate of 25% (2010: 25%) on the taxable income as reported in their
statutory accounts which are prepared in accordance with the PRC

accounting standards and financial regulations.

FEFTISTHIEME

AR AT E RS -

REBEANF W EA BB E L ERTA
A REFHERENSHEE - PR HIRER
FRFHENTBECEMER(TREMER ) ME

RIFHEARKXMBEEMETOE(THBERE
RBE]D BT ARE+AR(ZE—FF:
—t @) FRE R A RES
BEE  AEEE THEEEREDEERE AT
2 WMPERTFEIR25% (ZF—FF : 25%) 2%
KXMEEREY  EZERARRRPEGHE

ERESETH
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2011 2010
—E——5F —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARKBTT
Current income tax BNHEAFTIS B
Current income tax charge BNERFTS RS 260,330 130,551
Adjustments recognized in the year for FRFEFEE SRR D
current tax of prior years A 1,440 953
Deferred income tax EIERBH
Relating to origination and reversal of BT EEE NIRRT EREN
tax losses and temporary differences (note 23) B M Bl (FI5E23) 14,311 50,681
276,081 182,185

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before

EEERN - SR ANBEREE SR EAER

tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax expense at the et Y @ BIRRAE TR ERRtE

Group'’s effective income tax rate for the year is as follows:

BIFTSBLSH - FEAN T

2011 2010
—T——F —ETF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
BizE ARETT AREFTT
Profit before tax HATFE 2,060,630 1,538,102
At CIT rate of 25% (2010: 25%) B25%(ZF—FF : 25%) 1%
e RtE 515,157 384,525
Non-deductible items and others, net TAHEINFRTE B REA(F5R) 17,352 55,376
Adjustment recognised in the year for current £ Rk % HIFR{S 5 HER 4
tax of prior years R 1,440 953
Effect of preferential tax rates BEHERNTE (a) (102,931) (148,950)
Effect of tax exemptions R mEmNT 2 (@ (132,691) (68,368)
Tax losses not recognised RIERTSEE 13,566 7,514
Utilisation of previously unrecognised R RERH RIS E R
tax credits (35,812) (48,865)
At the effective income tax rate of 2134%(ZZ—ZF : 11.8%)
13.4% (2010: 11.8%) BRERNRETE 276,081 182,185
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Notes:

Sixteen (2010: twenty-two) subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity
were subject to tax concessions in 2011. The total taxable profits
of the subsidiaries that are subject to tax concessions amounted to
approximately RMB541,960,000 (2010: RMB804,315,000) in aggregate.
Out of the sixteen subsidiaries, six (2010: fifteen) plus the jointly-
controlled entity were granted tax concessions by the state tax bureau
in accordance with the PRC CIT law and the corresponding transitional
tax concession policy and “The notice of preferential tax policies for
companies located in West China”. Thirteen (2010: ten) subsidiaries were
granted tax concessions in accordance with the policy of “The notice of
preferential tax policy for preliminary processing of agriculture products”.

Pt

(@)

RZZE—F  + B2 —ZF : —+=H)
FRAER—EEREFHEEZIRERE ° Z
ZEFBRENTABNERTEFBRES
AN ERHE541,960,000c (Z T —FF : AR
804,315,0007T) ° T/ ETFARA » HAE(ZE
—ZF  +HRE) FARRZERZ EEERR
R TR R UHBE LA AR K ER
BEBCR (RS - ERBSER - SEEER
RIS AR E R R R BN BR AT -
T=F(=ZZ—ZF : +/) FRAMNHRBER R
(AR B EZ D EAMEREBRBERR R ER N
T&E(HIT)RBADNBER B -

(b)  The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to approximately () ErEATRETIEASARE17,447,0007T(=F
RMB17,447,000 (2010: RMB9,948,000) is included in the share of —Z4F : AR9,948,0007T) + Bt ASRATIER
profits and losses of associates on the face of the consolidated income HIRE(EEEE R RIAE REER o
statement.

2011 2010
—EB——F —ETF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
liF=s ARET T ARBFT
Declared and paid during the year AERERLEZT
Equity dividends on ordinary shares Gl 279,233 245,445
Proposed for approval at the AGM BEIEERREFASH
Equity dividends on ordinary shares: RS,
Proposed final - RMB0.198 BREARIRE —GRER
(2010: 0.16) per ordinary share A R#0.1987T
(—Z—F4F : 0.1677) (a)(b) 349,953 278,078

Notes: MEE

a.  The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the a. BURFEERREAHAR BRI EERRA
Company's shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting FARG([REBFAEG DHE - ZERBIARE—
(the "AGM"). This dividend was not recognised as a liability in the T——F+ZA=T B EWTEREERAE
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2011 but was & EERMABZE T —F+-A=+—Hit
reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year ending 31 FENRBANBAE o
December 2012.

b.  The proposed final dividend for the year is appropriated from the b. BREFEHRRER-ZZNF—A—HAIMES

undistributed profit earned before 1 January 2008.

ERDECAE R -



133

The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during that year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options during
the year pursuant to the contingent ordinary share provision in IAS 33
Earnings per Share.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in
calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amount is as
follows:

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements B ##& 3% Mt

AL B E A BRI TR IR PR 2 T 2 B
5 At FITIR ASE PO B BT 2 AR A0 AT
SBE -

BREERNIRBFARAREBREES AR
EAMBERR AR B SRER BN FFRANER
B 31T B BN T B RAR S AP A R At
BT ARIB B & 5T RIS 3355 R EF/H
AT BEBBEIRERBERTO TR INE T
gEtE -

ST E T ARE R R 8 E 2 765 T A DA g AR 1 8
EEEEEOINE

2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
Number of Number of
shares shares
R EE RO E
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for s+ E GREAZFIFTRH) @
the purpose of the basic earnings per share [l aE
calculation 1,750,820 1,737,398
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, RARF NPT A BRI T
assuming issued at no consideration on the IRERERITZ LB INE
deemed exercise of all share options g
during the year 5,728 3,443
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5T E GRCEEE B FIFTFRH L@
the purpose of the diluted earnings fis e 152k
per share calculation 1,756,548 1,740,841
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Movements of the Group's property, plant and equipment during the REBKYZE - BB REERRNERNEZHAT
year are as follows:

Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
EEREEN B KR WORE AE )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR®TR ARBT ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2011, net of RZZ—%—f—H"

accumulated depreciation MREFTE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—FKFRF]

(note 45) (Plf5T45) 16,065 25,850 1,521 24 43,680
Additions bech i 102,097 693,933 79,876 12,833 888,739
Transfers from construction in -~ B B 7ER T2

progress (note 13) (BizE13) 603,541 722,168 15,063 3721 1,304,493
Disposals RE (561) (9,539) (923) (471) (11,494)
Depreciation provided FRNERE

during the year (116,271) (655,032) (57,567) (10,394) (839,264)

At 31 December 2011, netof R=Z——=E+=f

accumulated depreciation =+—8  HHRE

il 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
At 1 January 2011 RZE—F—HA—H
Cost AME 2,207,809 6,139,155 347,408 72,540 8,766,912
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (485,735) (2,670,887) (189,469) (40,436) (3,386,527)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
At 31 December 2011 R_Z——F+_H

=+—A
Cost RAE 2,937,279 1,541,572 427,662 88,157 11,000,670
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (610,334) (3,301,924) (231,753) (50,120) (4,194,131)

Net carrying amount REHE 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (ontinued) 12. Y% - BENZE @)
Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
BERZEY PR Rees NG E xt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2010, net of RZZ-TF—-A—-H"

accumulated depreciation MRRTE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17514 4,919,608
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RFAE]

(note 45) (Pi7E45) 127,657 175,635 7,346 6,397 317,035
Additions b1l 58,075 87,191 70,299 16,338 231,903
Transfers from construction in -~ EREARTIE

progress (note 13) (B3E13) 177,197 453,412 11,560 2,051 644,220
Disposals RE (5,101) (25,846) (555) (2,883) (34,385)
Depreciation provided ERTERRE

during the year (105,578) (526,802) (58,303) (7,313) (697,996)

At 31 December 2010, netof A=E—FF+-f

accumulated depreciation =+—8 Rt

e 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
At 1 January 2010 R_Z-TF—A—H
Cost KA 1,833,736 5,441,320 261,79 47,167 7,584,019
Accumulated depreciation ZETHE (363,912) (2,136,642) (134,204) (29,653) (2,664,411)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,469,824 3,304,678 127,592 17,514 4,919,608
At 31 December 2010 RZE—-2F4+=

=t+-H
Cost A 2,207,809 6,139,155 347,408 72,540 8,766,912
Accumulated depreciation ZITE (485,735) (2,670,887 (189,469) (40,436) (3,386,527)

Net carrying amount FEFE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
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()

(b)

Al of the Group'’s buildings are located in Mainland China.

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with
a net book value of approximately RMB345,261,000
(2010: RMB116,786,000), nil (2010: RMB1,136,000) and
RMB31,958,000 (2010: RMB38,726,000) have been pledged to
secure the long term payables, other loans and short term bank
loans, respectively, details of which are set out in notes 38, 37
and 36 to the financial statements.

The Group leases its ranch facilities included in property,
plant and equipment with a net book value of approximately
RMB 185,243,000 (2010: Nil) to a dairy farm company under
operating lease arrangements, with lease terms ranging from five
to six years (note 48(a)).

Movements of the Company’s property, plant and equipment during

the year, which comprise only office equipment, are as follows:

@ AEENEESRNHEALE

b AEBETEEHFENAARE
345261000 c(ZF —ZTF : ARK
116,786,0007T) * (=T —F4F : }\Eﬁ%
1,136,0007T ) &2 A R #31,958,0007T. (=
T4 © 38,726,00070) KIMIZE - RS IRk 1%5
KREARSBRSREARMNTUE - HMER
KA HSRITE IR G o BT ISE B
TS P5E38 « PiIaE37 R FiaE36 ©

© AEERBLEEHAERER—RHERAME
EHIIAME - BE REEHBUSHR 5@9’1
BREFEX AR #5185,243,0007T (=
Fm\) S J%Hﬁﬂﬁi/ﬁ(mtﬂzz(a))

ARBEOYE - BB ERE(ZBRPARE) R
REREENT

Company
/NG|
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
At 1 January, net of accumulated depreciation —A—8B  REIE 17 28
Additions N 21 -
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE (10) (11)
At 31 December, net of accumulated depreciation A+—A=+—H - HE X5t
e 28 17
At 1 January m—HA—H
Cost BXANE 167 167
Accumulated depreciation Z2:HrE (150) (139)
Net carrying amount AREHE 17 28
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~
Cost BANE 188 167
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiTE (160) (150)
Net carrying amount AREHE 28 17




Movements of the Group’s construction in progress, all of which are

located in Mainland China, are as follows:
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ANEE 2B BARENEE TAZE BT

Group
TEE
2011 2010
—g2——F —T-THF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FURREE 535,104 326,679
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) g —=RFAr (fi7Ea5) 10,994 27,188
Additions during the year FAENN 1,705,881 865,743
Transfers to property, plant and equipment BRI - R NERE
(note 12) (PiE12) (1,344,493) (644,220)
Transfers to land use rights (note 14) PR 4 i AR (P 14) (15,003) (30,961)
Transfers to other intangible assets (note 16) g A mp A E (FE16) (5,380) (9,325)
Carrying amount at end of year FERMAREE 887,103 535,104
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Group
AEE
2011 2010
—s——% =5
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREREE 495,052 375,247
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) WHE—RF A a) (FEE45) 6,179 43,850
Additions during the year FREEM 94,110 54,166
Transfers from construction in progress (note 13) & B AR T2 (MEE13) 15,003 30,961
Amortisation provided during the year FNEHREH (12,538) (9,172)
Carrying amount at end of year FIRMIREE 597,806 495,052
Current portion included in prepayments and BUERER S (BT ARBYEEERTERS
deposits under current assets (note 28) AR (Ki7E28)) 12,799 10,480
Non-current portion FERNEAER > 585,007 484,572
597,806 495,052

(@ The leasehold land is held under a long term lease of 50 years
and is situated in Mainland China.

(b) Certain land use rights of the Group with a net book value
of approximately RMB2,595,000 (2010: RMB32,834,000)
have been pledged to secure the short-term bank loans of the
Group, details of which are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements.

@ MHEETHASOFRIBERH - URPEK

BE o

() AEEREFELRARE2,5950007m(=
T —Z4F : 32,834,0007T) HIE T T R AE
B EAAEEE B TIEROIER - 5
R IR RN B TR ZRPIFES6 ©
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Group
TEE
2011 2010
—B——fF —E—TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January »—A—BA/EREE 451,613 199,143
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) Wi —=R 7R R (Ki5E45) 30,823 252,470
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt A=+—HrEEE 482,436 451,613

During 2011, the Group acquired an additional 41.66% equity interest
in Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Leshi”). The business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB30,823,000. Further details of
the acquisition are included in note 45 to the financial statements.

During 2010, the Group acquired a 51% equity interest in
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”). The business
acquisition gave rise to goodwill of RMB252,470,000. Further details
of the acquisition are included in note 45 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the goodwill was tested for
impairment (note 17).

RZB——FN - AEBEWEAREBLELRE
FLEBR AT ([0 ) 5B .66%MRIE © %575
UG B 7 A P 2B A R%530,823,0007T © WA #E —
H BRI B IR RIS o

REZT—TFR - ASEREERFELEIE
BRARI([ELLE |)51%MHE - ZEBRBES
8 AR #5252,470,0007T © WEERVE — SRFIEE
AR TS FRZR P EA5 ©

=

RNR—BE——FR T ZTF+_A=+—"H &
S0 ETRERR (FE17) »
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Movements of the Group’s other intangible assets are as follows:

AEENEMET EEZEMT

Patents and Computer
licences  Trademarks software Others Total
SRR ISEE [ = Hity fst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%®TrR AR%Tr AR¥Tz ARETx
(a) (b)
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of RZE—F—Hf—H"
accumulated amortisation N RS 1,062 184,059 27,936 8,451 221,508
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45) W& —R T &) (fiF45) 2,938 - - - 2,938
Additions Byl - - 6,796 - 6,796
Transfers from construction EEAERIR(NF3)
in progress (note 13) - - 5,380 - 5,380
Amortisation provided during ENEHRESH
the year (181) (1,560) (4,160) (5,834) (11,735)
At 31 December 2011 RZE—%F+=-A=+—H 3,819 182,499 35,952 2,617 224,887
At 31 December 2011 R-E—F+=-A=1+—H
Cost KAE 6413 189,909 49,904 9,503 255,729
Accumulated amortisation ity (2,594) (7,410) (13,952) (6,886) (30,842)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,819 182,499 35,952 2,617 224,887
Costat 1 January 2010, net of RZE-Z5-A-1"
accumulated amortisation N R B St 608 11,400 19,629 - 31,637
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 45)  UKBE—K T A ] (FiH45) - 174,219 754 9,503 184,476
Additions 290 649 - 1,029 - 1,678
Transfers from construction B eERTR(E3)
in progress (note 13) - - 9,325 - 9,325
Amortisation provided during FENEHREEH
the year (195) (1,560) (2,801) (1,052) (5,608)
At 31 December 2010 RZE-TE+-A=1—H 1,062 184,059 27936 8451 221,508
At 31 December 2010 R-E-ZF+-A=1+—H
Cost KAE 1413 189,909 37,728 9,503 238,553
Accumulated amortisation St (351) (5,850) (9,792) (1,052) (17,045)
Net camying amount REFE 1,062 184,059 27,936 8451 221,508
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There were two trademarks: a trademark acquired in 2007 at
a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at cost less any
impairment losses and was amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 10 years; a trademark acquired
as part of a business combination in 2010 at RMB174,219,000,
which was regarded as having an indefinite useful life because
the trademarked product is expected to generate net cash
inflows indefinitely. As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the
trademark was tested for impairment (note 17).

Others mainly represented the exclusive right of milk supply,
distribution channels and a right to receive dividends acquired
as part of a business combination in 2010 at RMB5,982,000,
RMB2,195,000 and RMB1,326,000, respectively. Their useful
lives ranged from six months to 10 years.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and trademarks

with indefinite lives have been allocated to the following cash-

generating units (the “CGUs") for impairment testing:

liquid milk products excluding Junlebao CGU;

ice cream products CGU;

other dairy products CGU; and

Junlebao CGU.

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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(@)

FIZE A ME : —ER2007FIZKAAR
#£15,690,000 T 48 + B IRAN AN BRI A EA
REBKTBR R A B AR ST A E R
10588 ZS—ERERZEBE HHa—3D
PRZZE—TFUAREE174,219,0007T 48
88 - I A PR EE o TR B A DAERR AR AR
SIMAMEAR RHEE ERAEREH - K=
T——FRZTFTFI+A=1+—08 %
REEETTRERIF (FEE17) ©

HihF ERIEREBEHN—HIR T —
USRI R & - HEHRE R
I B HIRER 5 Bl A ARYES,982,0000T © AR
#52,195,0007T &2 A R #1,326,0007T © E A
FRFHEANEAZETFTE -

BREBARGHRHERERFHEEES O
ETNREELFEM([REEEEN ) ERER

Al -

BRRNERRSELEV(BLERSES
BERIERSN)

PREOWEE IR S A A BEAT -

HibF BB eELSM : &

BREHSELEN
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The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful SRESREELEMVAREREREAFH

lives allocated to each of cash generating units are as follows: PEISHBREEL T -
Liquid milk products
excluding Junlebao Ice cream products Other dairy products Junlebao Total
REMER
(BE=ERD) KEHER A5 bt | At

2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010
2§ “$-FF “$——F “F-%F S§-—F “FFF ¥-F “FFF “¥—F 5%
RMB'O00  RVB0O00  RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMIB'O00  RMBO00  RMB'O00  RMB0O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARSTL ARETL ARMTRL ARMTL ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Goodwil e 167,433 167433 23,865 23,865 7,845 7845 283293 252470 482436 451613
Trademarks [51E - - - - - - 174219 174219 174219 174219

167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 7,845 7845 451512 426689 656,655 625832

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior management
covering a five-year period. The growth rates used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the five-year period are based on the estimated
growth rate of each unit taking into account the industry growth rate,
past experience and the medium or long term growth target of each
CGU. The growth rates for these CGUs are higher than the respective
average industry growth rates. Senior management believes such
growth rates are justified because:

the growth rates of these CGUs have significantly exceeded
those in the market in the past years;

—  the new product launch and new market expansion have been
successful in the past;

—  market share grew continuously in the past years due to strong
brand equity and marketing capability; and

—  expertise on product innovation, portfolio enhancement and
marketing will be further leveraged.

ERGEEBA T RE S FIMERRERA
BEUENIFMBEEAENARE - KRR
TEERA EAEHEBEET A - AR
EREMURRSTROERE - TIAE B
fEt R AR  WERITRIERE B
BEARSEE BT R RA B L
B8« ISR BRI OERERAEEHT
BTRERE - BREEABRERSEREA
2 RER

— WEReEASNEREAZFREMSGIER
= ;

— BEELFERKBEHHS B TR
I

— ERYMEEZMEHEENNHEST - BE
BETSNEFELR X

—  BRE—SHEEQMN - BLERSER
BHER .
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The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the growth
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RARBR2REBRHOITREFARAFHULR
tE
JILER

rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year period are as HERERENT
follows:
Discount rate Growth rate
BiEES BR=E
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —ETEE —E——F —ETF
Liquid milk products excluding  /RES4E RIRSELE
Junlebao CGU (BRERSESE
BRI 13.93% 13.67% 4.0% 40%
Ice cream products CGU HENERRSEE
B 14.03% 13.43% 3.0% 3.0%
Other dairy products CGU HEhI BmeES
B 13.82% 13.59% 4.0% 4.0%
Junlebao CGU BREENSESSN 15.44% 16.73% 4.0% 4.0%

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of each
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

a)  Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margin achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

b) Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

¢  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the actual
data of the past year of countries from where raw materials are
sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.

EESRSELBUMNERBERRAT &
IERR - BEERRSRERNETHERE
AAPTRIEN SR E 2R T

a) FEEEMNX-AREEREEMNXEENE
T ERTAE R —FATERN FIHER
& WRETE BRI I AR ANIE
i ¥ PATEEE

b) IIRE—FTRITIRE IR ARG REIR &
EEBMHEFERR o

0 BREMHERZEH-S2ERIRBRARBEE
BREUE -

T ERRNEELEIPBIEIR B -
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The loans to a subsidiary included in the Company’s non-current assets
of RMB2,656,684,000 (2010: RMB2,680,430,000) are unsecured
and repayable within twenty years. The annual interest rates had been
made by reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The
carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to its fair

SARRRGERBEENEN —RFARIHKIEA
AR #52,656,684000t (ZFE—FF : AR
2,680,430,0007T) A EEHA - BAR - TFRNE
B FRRLER/BRITEERENE - Bl—
RTRRFERREEEE AR ERE

value.
Company
b /N
2011 2010
—E2——fF —E—FF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Unlisted shares, at cost e ETMRRD - R AE 4,302,622 4,239,647
Loans to a subsidiary BN —RTFRARIFIAE 741,060 777,835
5,043,682 5,017,482

Loans to a subsidiary included in the investments in subsidiaries above
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
In the opinion of the directors, the loans are considered as quasi-
equity loans to the subsidiary. The carrying amount of the loans to a
subsidiary approximates to its fair value.

FEA LR F A BRI E W — K F R R]5IE
REER  2EEEBETERY EERR X
FEMFRIR AR R — R F A R AR FIR ©
FEW—ZK F AR FIRRBRE EERE R A B -
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries ontinuedq) 19.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2011
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RN REIRIRE @

RZB——F+-A=+—RH  "RAFARH

are set out below: FIRENTX
Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
A AL R B EERTRA AAREENRERSE  FEEH
Direct Indirect
Ei il
China Dairy Holdings (i) 5 June 2002 us$214 100% - Investment holding
—TE-FXAEAE 21457 RERR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) 15 June 2002 US$100 - 100%  Investment holding
ZERCERATRA 10037T RERR
China Mengniu Investment 11 April 2011 HK$1,000 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited () —T—FMmA+—H 1,000 7T REER
(PEFHREBRAF) ()
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) 18 August 1999 RMB1,504,290,870 897%  8432%  Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited (i) —NAANFNATNAR  AR#1,504,2908707T dairy products
GEGEESSEIE )G FERHE SR
BBRAR) (i
Beijing Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (v) 4 July 2000 RMB500,000 - 4851%  Packaging and sale of dairy
IRFFAERBREERA) (0() (v —ZEZE+ANA AR#500,0007T products
BRRHEEM
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding 9 February 2002 RMB45,000,000 - 9329% Investment holding
Industry Management Co,, Ltd. () (i)~ —ZFE-F-ANH AR#45,000,0007T RERR
(NREEFHSEXER
BREERR) () (i)
Mengniu Dairy (Wulanhaote) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 18 June 2002 RMB60,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHE(SBES)BEEEAR) 06 —EZ-F ATNE  AEH60,000,0007T dairy products
FEREEER
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Keergin 19 June 2002 RMB100,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. (i) (i) “EE-EXA+TNAHE ARE100,000,0007T dairy products
(GEEEGSE LTIl FERHE SR

EERTD) () i)
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19. RFRBNRE @

Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
A8 AR/ B 8 BRTRE FAREGHRERSNE  TEXH
Direct Indirect
B i
Mengniu Dairy (Dangyang) Co., Ltd. () (i) 7 November 2002 RMB42,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAX(EB)AREARRD OG)  —FE-F+—AtH  AK42,000,0007T dairy products
EERHEI Hm
Mengniu Dairy (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (i) iii) 11 November 2002 RMB120,000,000 2670%  6838%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHAZCLR)BERELERR)) (i) —TE_F AR#120,000,0007T dairy products
T—A+—8 FEREE RS
Jinhua Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. () (i) (iv) 19 February 2003 RMB500,000 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
(SEFFIAEARAE) ()G (v) “EE=F-A+NH AERH500,0007T dairy products
EERHEI Hm
Mengniu Dairy (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 4 December 2003 RMB100,000,000 26.05% 68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAECER)BEREFEAR) ()  —TT=F+-AWAB ARK%100,000,0007C dairy products
EERHEIHm
Beijing Mengniu Hongda Dairy 12 September 2002 RMB20,000,000 - 4851%  Packaging and sale of dairy
Co,, Ltd. () (i) (v) “EZ-FNATZH ARKK20,000,0007 products
(EREFRENRRER BERHEIHm
BEARD) () i) (v)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou 9 January 2003 RMB30,000,000 2640%  6866%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. () i) —TT=F-ANA AR#30,000,0007C dairy products
(RREFFAERBEREERE) () (i EERHEI M
Mengniu Dairy (Dengkou Bayan Gaole) 13 July 2003 RMB70,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. () (i) “TT=FLAT=H  ARME70,000,000T dairy products
(FHAEBOEERY) FEREEA SR
BREERRD) () (i)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) 14 July 2003 RMB10,000,000 - 8396%  Manufacture and sale of
Shanxi Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “TT=F+A+mA  AK%10,000,0007T dairy products
GEGESSEEE)ITiEE EERHEI Hm

BRAR) () i)
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Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
8 TEMARL, /R B+ BRIREA FAREEHREEIE  FEEXER
Direct Indirect
HE E
Mengniu Dairy (Jiaozuo) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 6 November 2003 RMB170,000,000 - 09329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHIE(RE)BRAR) ()G) “ET=F+-ARE  ARE170,000,0007 dairy products
EEREEASD
Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i) iii) 18 November 2003 RMB 110,000,000 26.03% 69.01%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHIERTBBEFAT) () i) —TE=F AK#110,000,0007T dairy products
+—A+N\H EERDEAZSR
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i} 31 March 2004 RMB56,000,000 26.06%  6898%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAZE(EB)BREARR) (O ()  —TTHF AE56,000,0007T dairy products
“A=1—H EERIEAZD
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 31 March 2004 RMB70,000,000 26.05% 68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAEBELBRETLRD (G)  —TTWE AE#70,000,0007T dairy products
=A=1+—H FEREEASD
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 4 February 2005 RMB355,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAE(BRLBREERR) ()Gi) —TTRF_AMAE  AKH355000,0007C dairy products
EERIEAZSR
Hubei Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. 6 January 2006 RMB120,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(Former name: Mengniu (Wuhan) “EERF-ARA AKRE120,000,0007T dairy products
Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd.) () (i) FERNEARG
(Bt RAEBRAERLRR(RS :
SHRB)RZRAERRAE)) () i
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy 2 August 2006 RMB150,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) ZEERENAZR ARH150,000,0007T dairy products
(REAEFRREERRAF) () ) EERIEAZD
Mengniu Dairy (Tai Yuan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 13 April 2006 RMB116,670,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FRHAERR)ERRA) () () “TTAFNAT=A  AR%116,670,0007T dairy products
EEREEASR
Mengniu Dairy (Shangzhi) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 10 June 2005 RMBS&0,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FFAE(RE)EREERA (G  —TTRF ATH AR #80,000,0007T dairy products

FERNEA SIS
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19. RFRBNERE @)

Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
8 TEMARSL, /AR B R BRAREA FAREEHRERSE  FEER
Direct Indirect
HE iz
Mengniu Dairy (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (i (i 15 June 2005 RMB30,000,000 - 7277%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEAEEIL)BRAF) () 6) “TERFAATAA AKRE30,000,000T dairy products
EERMENEM
Mengniu Dairy (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 1 November 2005 RMB96,840,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHIE(EE)BRAR) () i “ZTRF+—FA—8  AK%96,840,0007C dairy products
EEREEASR
Mengniu Dairy (Baoding) Co., Ltd. (i) (i 22 January 2007 RMB62,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAE(RE)ERRAD) () ) ZTTLF AR #62,000,0007T dairy products
—fB=+=H EERMEEm
Beijing Mengniu Cheese Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 23 May 2007 RMB5,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(EREHNEEBR AR () (i) “ETtRE ARH5,000,0007T dairy products
TA-t=R EERMENEM
Mengniu Dairy Meishan Co., Ltd. (i) ii) 29 August 2007 RMB60,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEAZEBIWAERAR) () G “TTHE AE60,000,0007T dairy products
NEZHE EEREEASR
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (il 29 August 2007 RMB67,121,418 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(REEILAEBERAR) () i ZTTLF ARH67,121418TC dairy products
NAZTAR FERNEIER
Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) Co., Ltd. (i) (il 23 November 2007 RMB75,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAEEERR)BRAGD 06  —TTLF AR#75,000,0007C dairy products
+—-A=+=8H EERMENEM
Mengniu Dairy (Qingyuan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 25 September 2009 RMB120,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAECER)BRAR) () i —ITNE AR#120,000,0007T dairy products
AAEZ+hHE EEREEASR
Mengniu Dairy (Sugjian) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii 20 September 2010 RMB110,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAE(EEB)ERRAD) ) 6) “T-ZFAA=FTH  AR110,000,0007 dairy products

FERNEI SR
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Notes to Financial Statements B # 3% 2% i =+

Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
8 TEMARL,/ R B+ BRARE FAREEHRERIE  FEEXK
Direct Indirect
HE E
Mengniu Dairy (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (i) (il 9July 2010 RMB134,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(BHAZERR)BRAR) () i “E-TFELANE ARM134,000,0007T dairy products
FEREEASD
Mengniu Dairy (Yinchuan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 27 July 2010 RMB210,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAERINERRT) () () “T-%F AE#210,000,0007T dairy products
S = EERIEAZSR
Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment 29 November 2010 RMB200,000,000 - 9329%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. () (i) “T-TF AE#200,000,0007T REZR
(WRERNFEEBREERF) () ) +—AZt+NH
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) Co., Ltd. () (i) 16 May 2011 RMB150,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAEEK)BRAA) () i) —T——ERA+RE  ARH150,000,0007 dairy products
EERPEAZS
Baoding Mengniu Beverage Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 17 May 2011 RMB80,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(REZHFRBRAR) () (i) “Z—FRA+tE  AKE80,000,0007C dairy products
EEREEARD
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) 21 April 2000 RMB53,251,700 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
(ARHBLEILERAT) (i) (v) “TTTHF AE#53,251,7007T dairy products
mA-+-H EEREEASD
Shijiazhuang Yongsheng Dairy 25 September 2007 RMB80,000,000 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) (v) e AEE80,000,0007T dairy products
(ARILKBEELEBBRA) () i) (v) AA=+HA EERIEAZSR
Baoding Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. () (i) (iv) 25 August 2003 RMB32,540,000 - 2423%  Manufacture and sale of
(REBLBIZEBEARA) () i) (v) “ET=F AE#32,540,0007T dairy products
NAZ+HA FEREEARD
Hebei Guanwei Dairy Co., Ltd. 30 July 1996 RMB9,650,000 - 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
(Former name: Luguan Honggj Dairy —NWhAEEA=THE  ARM9650,0007C dairy products
Co., Ltd.) () G iv) EEREEASD

(L BHARERAR(RE « BRAE

ARBRARD)) () () (v
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Percentage of equity
Date of incorporation/ interest attributable to
Name establishment* Issued share capital the Company Principal activities
£ ML, R B BRTRE FAREGHRERSNE  ITEXH
Direct Indirect
E# G4
Jiangsu Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) (iv) 8 March 2004 RMB20,617,666 - 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
(THELEIEERRT) ) 6) () “TEME=AN\H AE#20,617,6667T dairy products
EEREEIN M
Xuzhou Junlebao Guorun Dairy 20 June 2008 RMB10,000,000 - 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd. () (i) (v) “TT\FRAZTHE  AKH10000,0007C dairy products
(RMBLEREIRBRAR) ()G (v) HEREELRS
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy 20 June 2008 RMB29,000,300 - 3048%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (i) (v) () “ZT)\FRAZTHE ARH29,0003007 dairy products
(RFHARLELNIE EERHEI Hm

ABRAE) () () () W)

(i

(iii)

Except for China Dairy Holdings and China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited,
which were incorporated in the Cayman Islands and Mauritius,
respectively, all subsidiaries were established in the PRC.

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited liability
under PRC law.

The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

Since more than 50% of the equity interest of the subsidiaries
was held by either Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Mengniu”) or Inner Mongolia Hehe
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hehe") in which the Company held a
93.29% equity interest, the Company had control over the
subsidiaries even with less than 50% of equity interest held
indirectly as at the end of reporting period.

On 17 March 2011, the Group acquired an additional 41.66%
equity interest in Leshi. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 45 to the financial statements.

(i

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

% China Dairy Holdings & China Dairy (Mauritius)
Limited 7 BIPA B 2 B & R EARSKHTFE AL -
FTAF R AR B AZ

AEERB LK GBI AR K R IRATAE
EEMAC B R RIPTEAZ

2+
A

¥

EFRREREFEIARZEMAEREME
) e

2
n

ZEFRAAOREBEPEERZEMRTIGE

AR

u)

R|ERR  ARZETRARIE— R
HASRESFIAE(EE)ROBRAT(R
F IR HAMEEFREFTAR(KR
M) RRRIEHEIZ 29% M )15E - HE
RNARIEEEE DR — R - AAREZ
EFRNANDE B -

R-T——F=ZA++tH  ANEERIELRE
FIEBINA1.66% AR HE - UBE#E — FRFIBER
B ISR MIFEAS o
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Notes to Financial Statements B # 3% 2% i =+

Investments in Associates 20. REEENTNRE
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET R ARETT
Share of net assets DEFEE 153,352 113,857
Details of the Group's principal associates at 31 December 2011 are RZF——F+ZA=+—H ' ~XEBEZEZEH
set out below: ENRIRFIBEHNRTX

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FEACRTRG MR/ FEERERRE
£ ax BRRERBE B () IRRE
2011 2010
—B——-F _T-TF
Xinjiang Tianxue Food Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 23% 23%  Trading of dairy products
(mERZERMBRAT) () &R hEIARE ABME
Fuzhou Mengxin Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 43% 43%  Trading of dairy products
(RINSBEHERAF) () &R hEIARE ABmE
Shijiazhuang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co,, Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BFEFFKEMHERRAR) () HMER hEIARE ABME
Tianjin Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFKEMHERREERA) () &R hEIARE ABmE
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
Co,, Ltd. () &R hEARE ABME
(BNTRGAEEHBRAF) ()
Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 26% 26%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFIRBRAF) () EMER hETARE AHRESH
Guilin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(EMREAXHEBRAA) () &R hEIARE ARRESH
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20. Investments in Associates (ontinued) 20. REEZE N BIMIRE (@)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FiEEERTRE FEMKL/ AEBEGRRE
8 &5 TRk e BAL(EE) TEER
2011 2010
2% —T-IF
Tianjin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(REMFFIAEHEBR LA () HMER N ERES
Wenzhou Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
ORINFHZLEABR R () AER A IEmE
Heilongjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BEIEHIEHEBRLAA) () AMER N HERES
Chengdu Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 34% 34%  Trading of dairy products
(KESFIEHEBBRAEELF) () AER LA IEmE
Nanjing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BREHFIEHEBRLRA) () AMER N HERES
Jinan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(ERSFAEARRR) () AER A IEmE
Taiyuan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(REMEFHEBRAF) () HAMER AR ERES
Nanchang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BESHIEHERBARLT) () AER AR IEmE
Chongging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(EEMEFIAEHEBRLA) () HAMER N ERES
Hefei Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 43% 39%  Trading of dairy products
(REEMEFAEHEBR L) () AER AR IEmE
Shijiazhuang Jinmengyuan Trading Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BRESRRESBREMLT) () HMER N HERES
Beijing Mengniu Technical Development Registered capital ~ Mainland China 19% 19%  Technology development
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) AR YN B UEES

(R MEERBRAF) () (i)
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20. FRu

BN
= A

NERVIRE ()

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FAEEERTRE =FMKL/ AEBEGRRE
&8 -2 TRk e BAL(AEE) FEER
2011 2010
—E2——-F —T-FTF
Wulumugi Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BEAESFIAEHEBRAF) () HMER YN ERES
Kunming Deluxe Commercial Trading Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(EWER#EEARRR) () aER A IEmE
Changsha Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(ROMEFIEBHREARA) () HMER YN HERES
Xi'an Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 43% 43%  Trading of dairy products
(ALSFIEHEBRBRA) () aER A IBEE
Changchun Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(RESHImEEBRRA) () HMER YN HERES
Xuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BINEHIEHEBRBRA) () aER IR IEmE
Foshan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BILTEFIEHEEBRRA) () HMER YN HERES
Guiyang Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BEBSHAUEB BB () AER IR IBmE
Shengyang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () (i) ~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 19% 19%  Trading of dairy products
(BEEFIEHEEBBARA) () ) HER YN HERES
Xiangfan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BEMEFIEHEBRBLRA) () aER IR IEmE
Hangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(MINEHESBRARTF) () HMER YN HERES
Suzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BN ERHEEBRB L) () AER A IEmE
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20. RERE QB RE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FiEEERTRE FEMKL/ AEBEGRRE
Z8 &5 TRk e BAL(EE) TEER
2011 2010
2% —T-IF
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 29% 29%  Trading of dairy products
(BINTERFIZEBHEBR LA () HMER LleyNG ERES
Shanghai Mengniu Food Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(EE54RAHEBRBLRF) () AER AR IEmE
Hohhot Menglai Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(FRERMEREEAREELT) () AMER FREIARE HERES
Cangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BINTRFAEHEBRARF) () AER AR IEmE
Changsha Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () HMER FREIARE ERES
(RAFFRZRAEHEERRDTF) ()
Changsha Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(ROEHKEMHEEBRLT) () AMER R HBRES
Wuhan Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BERFLRRMEERRDTF) () FHEAR IR HERES
Nanjing Wanjiahao Mengniu Ice Cream Sales  Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co,, Ltd. () AMER B ERES
(ARERUSHALMHEERLR) ()
Hefei Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(REESHKEMHEEBRAR) () FHE AR IR IERE
Nanjing Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co., Ltd. () HfEx LN AEMmE
(AREFAERRIARHEEERAF) ()
Changsha Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co., Ltd. () AER A IEmE

(EPSFAFERARRHEARRAA) ()
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20. Investments in Associates ontinued) 20. NEFE A TNIRE @)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FEERTRG EMRL/ EEEEGHRE
A &8 BRRERLR B (&) TEEH
2011 2010
g5 -—T-%%
Guangzhou Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy ~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Sales Co., Ld. (i) AMER FREIRRE HES Y

(BMNTRFAFERDAERRAF) ()

Jinhua Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(REZFKEMHERRRF) () &R hEIARE ARRESH

Dalian Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(RESFKEMHERRAF) () &R REIARE AHRES

Nanchang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(ERFKEMHERRAT) () &R hEIARE ARRESH

Taiyuan Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales  Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () &R REIARE ARRES

(KRS AXRERAMHAEERLRA) ()

Xi'an Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales ~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co, Ltd. () &R REIARE ARRESH

(ALRFFARERIAMBERRLRA) ()

Zhanjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(EIMEFAFHERRRTA) () &R BTN S ARRE

Dezhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

(BINTRFAFHERRATF) () &R REIARE ARRESH

Zhaoging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital ~ Mainland China 29% 29%  Trading of dairy products

(BETSFAFHERRRA) () &R hEARE ARRESH

Liuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 33% 33%  Trading of dairy products

(NS ARHEBRAA) () &R REARE ARRESH

Quanzhou Mengniu Hongtai Dairy Sales Registered capital ~ Mainland China 23% 23%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. () &R hEIARE ARRE

(FMTRFIFBTHEERRT) ()
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20. FRERE L

BN E @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FREERTRG EMRL/ EEEEGNRE
A &8 BRRERLR B (EE) TEXK
2011 2010
2% _TTF
Harbin Mengniu Frozen Food Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(MEESFRRRRMEARAT) ) BEA REARE ALRES
Harbin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(REESSHZARRF) () &R BTN ARRE
Jiaxing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(FEZTARHEERAA) () &R hEIARE AHRESH
Hengshui Guangyuanjuxing Trading Co., Ltd. (i) ~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BKTEREEHZARLA) () Bali=EN B ARE ARRE
Kunming Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BRFFARHEBRAA) () &R hEIARE AHRESH
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Saikexing Reproductive  Registered capital ~ Mainland China 20% 28%  Cultivation and sale of
Biotechnology Co., Ltd (i) AR B AR cattle embryos
(AREERELR EMEIMRH BB REE4H
BRAA) ()
Xianyang Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BBERFAXHERRAA) () HMER BTN ABmE
Wuhan Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) ~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFRZRISHEARAR ) BREA REAR ARGRE
Tianjin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 45% 45%  Trading of dairy products
(RETRTEFEZARRA) () HMER BTN ABME
Shenzhen Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RYNEGESBRRA) () &R hEIARE ARRE
Changzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. )~ Registered capital ~ Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BN AmBEERRAA) () HMER BTN ABHME
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Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity interest
Particulars of registration and attributable to the Group
Name issued shares held operations (indirect) Principal activities
FEERTRG EMRL/ EEEEGHRE
A &8 BRRERLE B () TEEH
2011 2010
—B——-f _—T-TF
Beijing Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital ~ Mainland China 45% - Trading of dairy products
(ERFFARBEBRAA) () &R REIARE AHRESH
Chengdu Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital ~ Mainland China 46% - Trading of dairy products
Sales Co, Ltd. () BaliEN BTN ARRESH
(RHBSHERIMHEERBRAR) ()
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Registered capital ~ Mainland China - 1%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) i B IR dairy products
(RFERLBLEIFBRAR) () (i) (i FEREEHR

(i

(iii)

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Since more than 20% of the equity interest of the associates
was held by either Mengniu or Junlebao, the Company had
significant influence over the associates even with less than 20%
of equity interest held indirectly as at the end of the reporting
period.

On 17 March 2011, the Group acquired an additional 41.66%
equity interest in Leshi. Further details of the acquisition are
included in note 45 to the financial statements.

(0]

(i

(iii)

AEEB LK GBI B 2 IRBAE
EEMAK B A RIPTEAZ

RIMEIR - RZEEE A RE20% M
MRFHELERE @ AAEARFRERSE
HIRREIE R 20% « AR R EZFHERFMD
BERTEN -

N

R-Z——F=F++tH  ANEERBLE
KEINAN.66% I HE o B E — FRFIBER
B TS FRRHITEAS ©
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TREFASEREQRNTHERE (FHiXA

the Group's associates extracted from their unaudited management HARKLEZEERE)
accounts:
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETIT
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: DB ENTMNEERAE
Current assets mENEE 415,951 318,014
Non-current assets IERBNEE 49,137 46,866
Current liabilities nRBEE (300,035) (248,710)
Non-current liabilities IEREEE (11,701) (2,313)
Net assets FEE 153,352 113,857
Share of the associates’ revenues and profits D EEE A TR A K
and losses: (skEsiE)
Revenues PN 2,150,137 1,884,221
Profits and losses AE(kEsE) 52,059 40,438

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements. The Group has discontinued

b B E R R ERAERDENTERERA

BRIE o REBDKRILHEREMEE THERR

the recognition of its share of losses of certain associates because WEE - AREEHE D RNEEBBRNEER

the share of losses of the associates exceeded the Group's interests
in the associates. The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of
losses of these associates for the current year and cumulatively were
RMB6,607,000 (2010: RMB15,305,000) and RMB33,142,000 (2010:

RMB34,081,000), respectively.

34,081,0007T) ©

BEDRINELD - RAFE - ARERERE
HEERERRINERRRFABEIBIAAR
#6,607,0007T(=F —FF : AKH15,305000

o) B ARE33142,0000( —ZE—T4F : AR
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21. Investments in a Jointly-Controlled Entity
Details of the Company’s jointly-controlled entity are set out below:

Place of

21

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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. REAREZEHERNRE
ARSI BRI

Percentage of equity

Particulars of establishment and interest attributable
Name issued shares held  operations to the Group (indirect)  Principal activities
FrEEE T AEEELER
=g R E R RO IR & 3t B B2t () FEXEK
2011 2010
=B _"ZZF
Mengniu Arla (Inner Registered capital Mainland China 46.65% 46.65% Manufacture and sale
Mongolia) Dairy FEEA PN of dairy products
Products Co., Ltd. () FEREEARM

REEA S
BREERFN)

()  Not audited by Emst & Young Hong Kong or another member firm of

the Ernst & Young global network.

The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly-
controlled entity at 31 December 2011 and for the year then ended,
which is included in the consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

() REBERKEFEIEBPIK L KR RBEHIE
AR B A RIFTER

TREMN-E——F+- A=+ —HREEZX
AEFEASESERARZEHERNEE A
& WAKRX - BHSBEFAAGEMEERE

2011 2010
—ZT——F —E-TF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREF T ARETFIT
Share of the assets and liabilities: ELHEENAE:
Current assets TENEE 110,090 123,715
Non-current assets ERBEE 190,659 207,711
Current liabilities mEasE (222,736) (238,475)
Net assets FEE 78,013 92,951
Share of the revenue and loss; NS E
Revenue PN 286,595 195,371
Cost of sales and operating expenses HER A REEEH (321,543) (211,334)
Loss [E518 (34,948) (15,963)
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22. Available-For-Sale Investments 22. At ERE
Group
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B ARETR ARBFIT
Listed equity investments, at fair value:  _=HRRAIRE @ HARE -
Hong Kong BB (@) 69,008 114,831
Unlisted equity investments, JEETRRANE -
At fair value NI @) 103,319 171,461
At cost BRZANE (b) 122,879 15,389
226,198 186,850
295,206 301,681
Company
AT
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT

Listed equity investments, at fair value: ~ FHRRANIZE - IRARE ¢
Hong Kong BB (a) 69,008 114,831
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Notes:

The holding company of an unlisted company, in which the Group held
a 2.32% equity interest at the cost of RMB12,000,000 at that time,
was listed in 2010. Accordingly, the fair value of the unlisted equity
investment has been estimated by reference to the quoted market share
price of its holding company, taking into account the liquidity factors.

In addition, the Company invested cash of approximately HK$151,512,000
(equivalent to RMB128,926,000) into the aforementioned holding
company upon its listing, representing a 1.08% equity interest in the
holding company at that time. The fair value of the listed equity securities
is determined by reference to published quotations in an active market.

The above equity investments have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate
and were designated as available-for-sale financial assets.

Changes in fair value of the Group’s above available-for-sale
investments recognised in other comprehensive income amounted
to RMB91,501,000 (2010: gain of RMB105,501,000), net of tax of
RMB 17,035,000 (2010: RMB39,865,000) (note 23).

As at 31 December 2011, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of RMB122,879,000 (2010: RMB15,389,000) were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of opinion that their fair
value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose
of them in the near future.

The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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—BEELEMAR(REER =T —TFERAAR
#12,000,0007T 35 H2.32% WA ) Z 1M A Al
ZT—TF W o FI - ZSELETMRAREHA
AETIZ2EEZR A RN HISHRRELE ER
A EMIEGT

[ R /N )i e 2L /N Wl A B B 5= )
151,512,00078 703 & (A5 A A R #5128,926,000

7)) HEERZIER A B E R 1.08%R%E o L
BAFBHFNARBEIHRERNERNT B AMRIRE
EE o

ERBEAREWEETFEEHARREEER - W
EERAHEESHEE -

REMEERERROANEE ] HEERERN
ARhEEHEARKI50100T(=ZFE—=F
£ gz AR 105,501,000 (FIRR T B A R
17,035,000t (= —Z 4 : AR % 39,865,000
70)) (FfzE23) ©

RZF—F+=A=+—0 AREGEBEAAE
HENBENESHREL EERAEEQAET
RERISERT 2 - MEREEA AR 122,879,00070(=

—Z4F . AR¥15,389,0007T) B T IE LML
RICERE AN R BT R - AEBEEENEH
AHEZERE -

FREEMEHEERABNESIT

Deferred tax assets: B FERIEE
Group
REEE
2011 2010
—=2——F —T-TF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFTT
At 1 January A—H—H 81,060 131,741
Deferred tax debited to the consolidated income G RA4R A FEFRHIRRHOIRE
statement during the year (note 9) FriSRi(BEE9) (14,311) (50,681)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December R+ A=T—HNEEMSE
AR 66,749 81,060
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Deferred tax liabilities: FEEFHIESE !
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——fF = —FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETIT
At 1 January n—A—8 39,865 -
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FARTHEERENARE
statement of comprehensive income arising BE)MELST AFEEE
from fair value changes of available-for-sale HRAPEEFTISTE
investments during the year (note 22(a)) (ftsE22(@0)) (17,035) 39,865
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December R+ A=+—HNEEMSE
HaEesE 22,830 39,865

Deferred income tax assets at 31 December 2011 related to the

following:

ETSIEE AR

Consolidated statement of

R-E——F+-_A=t—HNBEREHREE

Consolidated

financial position income statement
FREMBMR R FEFIBER
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——fF —T-FTF ZB-—-—F "ZTTF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARBTT AR¥®TR ARETT
Tax losses available for offsetting A48 B 14 FER R T EAY
against future taxable profits WIEER 10,244 56,565 (46,321) (35,313)
Write-down of inventories to net iR 7 & 2 Al 17 )5&
realisable value 257 103 154 (28)
Un-invoiced accruals REBEZENEREA 30,859 - 30,859 (16,925)
Deferred income PRI ZR 25,389 24,392 997 1,585
Deferred tax assets BEFTISTEE 66,749 81,060
Deferred income tax expense RIEFTIS IS (BEE9)
(note 9) (14,311) (50,681)

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible temporary

differences can be utilised in the coming years.

EIEETRMAREER AR ERTAE - 7
FRVAMEAN_E i TR 1R BRI HURET A 1 2 22 o
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Deferred tax liabilities: (ontinued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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EEHERE ()
EREFTSTREEL AL N5ITRE W7 -

Group

TEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) AR B K e = A Y B TR ESHE() 160,102 102,212

Tax credits related to purchases of domestic R E RN EA ETIE

equipment (i) K 0 (ii) 20,749 56,319
Deductible temporary differences AR =R 132,379 172,576
313,230 331,607

(i) The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a maximum of five
years.

(i) Tax credits can be carried forward for five to seven years to offset the tax
payables if the future year tax exceeded the base year tax.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above
items as it is not considered probable that tax profits will be available
against which the above items can be utilised or tax authorities should
approve the Group to utilise the above tax credits or deductible
temporary differences.

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

()  EAFIREIER B A BE A EE R R ER
MMBRZHE -

() RS OB BB S R ROBLK - BURIR
AR L LB -

EIEFTS T A EY Bl b S IBW T IAER -
R TAIER A L S BB AABANE - X
BISHEA T A st E AR E S A Ll B EE Rk
AR ER -

RBPBEEEMETE - RPBEAERIZHINE
EEMINE IR EE SRR BB 10%IEH
B BRARER —ZETN\F—H—RRER I
BARZEELFTA=+—BEMEENR
) o finirp B EASNE I PR AR 2 FHIRT B
BIEHE » BIRHRBETRHIR R - REER)
ERMER5%310% © Bt » AEBEERZER
HEAEXR YN FARIR-EENF—A—Hi
EER BN REAS TR -
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Deferred tax liabilities: (ontinued)

At 31 December 2011, no deferred tax liabilities (2010: Nil) have
been recognised for the withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding tax of
Mengniu and other subsidiaries located in Mainland China whose
equity interests were directly held by the Company. The directors of
the Company represented that there was no plan to distribute the
earnings generated in 2009, 2010 and 2011.

At 31 December 2011, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2010: Nil) for taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of certain of Mengniu’s subsidiaries and
associates, as Mengniu has no liability to additional tax should such
amount be remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Except for the amount disclosed above, the Group and the Company
did not have any material unrecognised deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

Other financial assets represented entrusted loans to certain dairy
farmers via banks. A maturity analysis of the entrusted loans of the
Group is as follows:

EEHESE - (&)
R=ZT——F+=A=+—H  TRRREFR
AZRA AR B A B R B A AR A RS B AE T A A
B AR BB 2 I i FE S O FE B RE R FT 15 &
BE(ZZE—2F : &) - AR EERNHE 2
RR_ZEZTNF  — T ZTFR-_ZFT——FEAE
RAFIEDIR o

RIB——F+-A=+—H  #EEAIEE
FETFRA R E R BRARE B 27 i R 6
MEBENBEAARERREMSHEE(CT—FF
&) - WHRAREMEZSIUREEL - R4 TMER
BBRIMNAIA

A R 7 2 ) LR B S R 2. T A 0 48 B
e -

B ENSEN R2F——F+_A
=1T—0  ARERARRBEEFAEARER
BREFEHEESELEREHEE(—T—2F
&) -

HiveMEEEBRITRETE THPHNEE
B - AEEZEERZBIEAFTAT -

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETIT
Within 1 year —FN 45,911 17,888
1 to 2 years —ZWF 41,564 31,507
2 to 3 years NE=F 24,666 29,188
Over 3 years =FHE 3,731 11,059
Total entrusted loans REEERsEEE 115,872 89,642
Less: Amount due within one year included in B P ARBIE EH A AL
current assets under other receivables FIER—F AN R EIFIE
(note 29) (FfF5E29) (45,911) (17,888)

69,961 71,754
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The above entrusted loans are unsecured, with annual interest rates
ranging from 5.40% to 6.90% (2010: 5.76% t0 8.16%).

The above entrusted loans are neither past due nor impaired and have
no recent history of default.

As the Group’s entrusted loans related to a large number of diversified
suppliers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR
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LM EAERAERE  FHENT540% 2
6.90%(—ZF—=%F : 576%%8.16%) °

BRERFERWEBRASORE - AR &
R TR 2 7% ©

R AEENZEEREARE T RIRRHE A
W B EEXEESETER -

Group
AIEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Raw materials RRHE 1,155,840 880,156
Finished goods ERm 529,407 296,267
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net YR N B ] B IR R E R B E
realisable value FHEMFEERE 1,685,247 1,176,423

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense
was RMB1,522,000 (2010: RMB865,000). This was recognised in
other operating expenses (note 5).

RERTNFEMRSE A ARE1,522,0007T

(ZZ—ZF : AR¥S65,0007T) @ WHHEAD AL
2 FA (FiEs) P HERR ©
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An aged analysis of the bills receivable as at the end of the reporting REEER IR E BRE B E B R R B B ARER
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DU :
Group
EE
2011 2010
—F——F —TTF
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 3 months 31E A AR 224,987 19,439
4 to 6 months 4% 68 A 36,037 1,100
261,024 20,539
The amount due from associates of approximately RMB66,316,000 JELSTHSS & A BIRUIE A A R 66,316,0007T (= F —
(2010: Nil) is included in the above balances. T ;)5 A _LaliAERR o
None of the bills receivable is either past due or impaired, for which R R EE R AREORE - BETBIERER
there were no recent history of default. FOERLE ©
Group
AEE
2011 2010
S —z-=f
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Trade receivables FEUBR R 576,578 556,422
Impairment BB (1,844) (1,489)
574,734 554,933
The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 30 days to REB—BAFEETBBERANEEH £
its customers which is extendable in certain circumstances. The Group BEBER TR - KREBZYESHAARER
closely monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned and LEAA o BB A | Pt K N 2 B Y FE U BE 2k T ER A
the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of ETAERNEFLER R EEAEEEHRE
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. B o ZNEE BN dmAE e U BR 2k 75 T4 A AT (AT B 4
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements DERE M EEIRF o FEUEBR RN F) S, o

over its trade receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.



27. Trade Receivables ontinued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice dated and net of provision, is as follows:
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27. FEWBRR &

RIBEIR - KHRBEENRUORIZER A
EVERER DA -

Group

TEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTIT
Within 3 months 3E A AR 465,053 444,546
4 to 6 months 472618 A 86,195 101,423
7 to 12 months 721218 A 15,347 8,205
Over 1 year 14900 E 8,139 759
574,734 554,933

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

FEMRFOR E B RO E BN T

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E2——fF —T-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETT
At 1 January W—HA—H 1,489 2,502
Impairment losses recognised ERERARERR 14,818 1,264
Amount written-off as uncollectible ANA] UG O] i sE A R R (12,541) -
Impairment losses reversed BEELR{ER X (1,922) (2,277)
At 31 December A+-—A=+—8H 1,844 1,489
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The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

{8 B Sk BB T E R (E B RE A FE U BR A BR e
DITEAT -

Group
TEE
2011 2010
—EB——F ZETEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
Neither past due nor impaired BB EA MR E 573,220 533,314
Past due but not impaired BRI EERE
— Within 3 months —3EAR 249 3,081
— Over 3 months —3fEAAE - 3,579
573,469 539,974

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from associates of approximately RMB259,948,000
(2010: RMB276,844,000) are included in the above balances. As at
31 December 2010, an amount due from a jointly-controlled entity
of approximately RMB155,000 was included in the above balances.
These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to other major customers of
the Group.

SEARBE TR E < FEARIR T A8 T RIAR
MEPER - REEIMYEERFOR 2 -

B HRHEL SR (B2 UGB T 8 — LB T 3
FEH ZEXPEASBENBERFNEER
B o RIBBELSR AAREERREFTUZE
ﬁ*ﬁ%é’ﬂi‘rﬁfﬁﬁéﬁ EREEEEWEARNNE
""""" MR AR R A Z 2] -

LiEHRPEREREBEAARBOARK
259,948,000 T(=E—F 4 : AR¥276,844,000
TT) e RZE—ZF+-A=+—H  Lli#EHS
FE PR UL R 1| B B R IB A A R #5155,0007T, © £
AR AEERRER  EREEHEATAE
EEHMEEZRPHESE ©
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Group
TEH
2011 2010
—T——F ZT—TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTT
Deposits b 11,406 6,844
Prepayments SEINEN 644,627 834,496
Value-added tax recoverable RIS ED 82,204 75,518
Corporate income tax recoverable AR TSR 10,357 14,965
Land use rights — current portion (note 14) T3t AR — BNHARE
(PfEE14) 12,799 10,480
Long term prepayments (note a) KA (MIEa) 257,456 -
Total prepayments and deposits SEANE e ok 1,018,849 942,303
Less: Long term prepayments — non-current B REFFBA R —FERDEREE
portion (note a) GEL) (243,942) -
774,907 942,303

Notes:

(@  During the year, the Group has entered into various long term raw
milk supply contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In
accordance with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw milk supplies

for the next six years.

(b)  The amount due from an associate of approximately RMB32,215,000
(2010: RMB1,951,000) and an amount due from a jointly-controlled
entity of approximately RMB20,689,000 (2010: RMB54,000,000) are

included in the above balances.

GEE

(@)

(b)

FA - AREEE TREUBIFTARTLEZOHR
HEHEDEESLN - REZEAK - AR
REFSEIRN R YR

RSB ERERBELEYATIRENARE
32,215,0007C( = Z—Z4 : AR#1,951,0007T)
Ko i W (R4 11| S SR TE 49 A R #520,689,000 7T
(ZZ—ZF : AR¥54,000,0007T) °
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The balance of other receivables can be analysed as follows: E MR IBAEADITIAT
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—EB——F —ET-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREF T
Dividends receivable FEUIE S, 13,302 393
Other financial assets (note 24) Hiteph & (Fiik24) 45,911 17,888
Others Hih 230,214 151,616
Total HEt 289,427 169,897
Company
AT
2011 2010
—EB——F —ET-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREF T
Dividends receivable JEUIAR, 595,820 357,247
Loans to a subsidiary JEW—KFARIFIE 52,034 36,843
Others EAt 137 106
Total #Et 647,991 394,196
The loans to a subsidiary included in other receivables above are ST A _EAUE i UG FRIB R FE U — R T A RIIE B
unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable within one year. The IR SR REAR—FAEE - BR—XRT2
carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to its fair AIFIERAREE A A EEE ©
value.
The amount due from associates of approximately RMB29,000 (2010: ST s A5 B R FE KBS 2 R R R IB A R A R

Nil) is included in the above balances. 29,0007C(=ZF—Z 4 : ) o
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30. Investment Deposits 30. REF
As at 31 December 2011, the Group's investment deposits were RZTE——F+ZHA=+—8  KEENKETRF
purchased from a domestic bank with good credit rating and were TR E B EETRR T ARMIRIT - Wi
stated at amortised cost. The investment deposits were acquired BXANBIER o TR RE IR EF R R EIR A =1&
with original maturity of three months and were not allowed to be R BESWEBRTERET - NEREH B A
withdrawn prior to the maturity date without the bank’s consent. The 8 o WEFRAEER - HAFNER59% (=
investment deposits were unsecured and had an expected annual T—TF &)

interest rate of 5.9% (2010: Nil).

31. Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Deposits 31. RERBITEERRESFR

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—g——% —=-T¢
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%ET R ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 4,359,872 3,775,255
Pledged deposits REBEESEFEXK 175,289 102,399
Time deposits with original maturity of [REERR A ={EA A L&Y
more than three months TEEFER 2,163,203 2,922,558
6,698,364 6,800,212
Less: Deposits pledged for banking facilities A VEAIRTTRIE IR IRE
(note 33 and 36) RE SR (M5E33536) (175,289) (102,399)
Cash and bank balances B MIRITHETE 6,523,075 6,697,813
Company
AT
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT

Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTTHETF 622,766 599,995
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At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of
the Group and the Company denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB6,395,613,000 (2010: RMB5,101,754,000) and
RMB402,307,000 (2010: Nil). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rate. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

An aged analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

RIMEBRR  NEBRARQRNIR S REFT
EEHUARBEEBEMN  AERDBNHOEA
R#¥63%561300 (=T —ZF : ARK
5,101,754,0007T ) &2 A R #5402,307,0007T ( =& —
T ) o AREWIEABARH B AHME -
ST+ AR R B K e Y V1N 5 22 1171 R A P

EREERRE  ASEEESREEEET
SNEZETSEVERTT - i ARKEE N AR EE

RITIFRARB TS ARG S o B EEBRFERIIR

FAREENEIRREHERKMENF—AE=EA

RN RITFERERTEIR - LA RARTR 52 HA 2 2077 3R R

quE RITHEBR KRB TR FHREERLT
4 HAHE R SR BRAOERTT o

AEEEMNRFRIFES A HNRREROTAT

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3MEAUA 2,350,904 1,994,978
4 10 6 months 472618 A 177,669 51,315
7 to 12 months 721218 A 12,114 13,909
Over 1 year 1F LA+ 2,718 991
2,543,405 2,061,193

The amounts due to an associate of approximately RMB1,000 EERBIREN T E A RF AL AR 1,0007T

(2010: RMB28,955,000) and due to a jointly-controlled entity of
approximately RMB10,000 (2010: Nil) are included in the above
balances. The balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

The Group's trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

(*i—?i : AR #28,955,0007T ) K FEf A
7 | B B SR IE 4 AR5 10,000 ( — 2 — T4 ¢
) o ZEREHRBEIRR - R ERAREREE -

AEERNEMNRFSEER R RS -
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An aged analysis of the bills payable of the Group, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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REBENEERIBFET A HNREITAT -

Group
REEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
RMB’000 RMVIB'000
ARET T ARETFTT
Within 3 months 3EAA 617,363 493,824
410 6 months 426{E A 523,778 993,478
1,141,141 1,487,302

Except for an aggregate balance of approximately RMB121,629,000
(2010: RMB539,490,000) secured by the pledge of certain of the
Group's deposits amounting to approximately RMB37,504,000 (2010:
RMB94,839,000) (note 31), bills payable are unsecured. The above
balances are non-interest-bearing.

Included in other payables is an amount of RMB6,731,000, which
represents unrealised fair value losses of derivative financial instruments
as at 31 December, 2011 (2010: Nil).

During the year, the Group has entered into various commodity
futures contracts to manage its price exposure to future purchases
of white sugar. Net fair value loss on derivative financial instruments
of RMB6,731,000 (note 6) was charged to the consolidated income
statement during the year.

Included in other payables was an amount due to associates of
approximately RMB3,675,000 (2010: RMB16,962,000) and an
amount due to a jointly-controlled entity of approximately RMB32,000
(2010: Nil).

A ARE121,629,000T( —E—F4 : A
5%39,490,00075)E’\JJEH%%E«M%MAM%I
BEAAREES7,504,000 (= —ZF : AR
94,839,0007T) (FfisE31) B E T EE AN - &
BMREENZIRAEER - DlERARE -

R-_T——F+_-_fA=+—Hit A\EENKIE
BIFEFEAARE6,731,0007CHIDTA S BT BoR &
BAREEER(ZE—ZTF: &)

FR - AREFNZHEMRBESL - NEERE
BERERRMEYNERERR - FRFTALE
FERNITESR T AR BEBFEAARE
6,731,0007T(Ffi3E6) °

ATAEAMEM RIE AR MBS QARREHAR
#3,675000L( = —ZF : AK%16,962,000
7)) DA RFER RGBSR IB A A R EE32,000
T(ZE—FF : &) o
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35. Accruals and Customers’ Deposits 35. RIREAREFEE
Group
2011 2010
—B——fF —TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Advances from customers BT 919,197 666,841
Salary and welfare payables Bt RErE 261,523 213,301
1,180,720 880,142
The amounts due to associates of approximately RMB112,217,000 FEHRBEFERERNBERARNREBNARE

(2010: RMB86,931,000) are included in the above balances. The
balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable on

112,217,0007c( —ZE—ZF : /\E’fﬁ86931,000
JL) o iR AEIR - B REREKEE -

demand.
36. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans 36. sHEMRITER
Group
2011 2010
—2—-F —TTF
Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
Maturity rate rate Maturity rate rate
IMA EEAE  FRA=E FEE EEAE O FEFE
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR%®TR ARETT ARETT
Current )
Short term bank loans, secured CHIRTER(FEE) 2012 128575 45,000 2011 118,686 -
Short term bank loans, unsecured 52 ERSRITE Z () 2012 38,500 175,469 2011 152,100 80,000
Current portion of long term RERITER (TR 8
bank loans - unsecured BIEREE S 2012 - 150,000 2011 - 200,000
Non-current JEEER
Long term bank loans, unsecured  EEIRITE SR (EIER) - - - 2012 - 150,000
167,075 370,469 270,786 430,000
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The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows:

PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR
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RITEFHERENT

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARYTF T ARBTT
Within 1 year —FN 537,544 550,786
11to 2 years 1FZE2F - 150,000
Total interest-bearing bank loans STRERITER R 537,544 700,786

Less: Amount due within one year included in B ORENa G —FREIE

current liabilities EeiE| (537,544) (550,786)
- 150,000

Notes:

©

At 31 December 2011, short term bank loans of approximately
RMB173,575,000 (2010: RMB93,686,000) were secured by certain land
use rights (note 14), property, plant and equipment (note 12(b)) and
pledged deposits (note 31) of the Group. At 31 December 2010, a short
term bank loan of approximately RMB25,000,000 was secured by certain
assets of an associate.

As at 31 December 2011, except for a short term bank loan of
US$21,500,000 equivalent to approximately RMB135,469,000 (2010:
US$4,219,000) denominated in United States dollars, all the Group's
interest-bearing bank loans were denominated in RMB.

During the year, the annual interest rates of the short term bank loans
and the long term bank loans varied from 1.95% to 9.36% and 4.86%
10 5.76% (2010: varied from 2.05% to 9.36% and 4.86% to 5.04%),
respectively.

©

R-ZE——F+-A=1+—08 EHETER
HAR®E173575000C (T —ZTF : AR
93,686,0007T ) J3 B AN 5 B 5 T - 4b {3 FA 4 (I E
14) ~ W3 - BB REE(KTE120) RIRESF
RFFE3N SR - R—T—TFE+—-F=+—
B - AR TE A AR %25,000,0007T 75—
B A RIHE T8 E VR -

R-ZE——F+-_A=+—8 BTEHETE
21,500,000 7T (485 74 4 A R #5 135,469,000
TE)(—ZT—F4F : 4,219,000% 7T ) LAE T A BAL
Hh  AERERTERTBRITERTIAARB BER

REER  BHETERMRPRITERNE
H & 5 Bl F1.95% %= 9.36% I 4.86% %= 5.76%
(ZZF—ZF : NF2.05%%E9.36% [ 4.86% =
5.04%) 28 °
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Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F ==
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT
Short term loans RRHAE 119,094 140,018

Except for other loans amounting to RMB2,646,000 as at 31
December 2010 which were interest-bearing and were secured by
certain property, plant and equipment (note 12(b)), all other loans are
unsecured, interest-free, and with no repayment terms.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities in the
PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s establishment of
production plants in various locations in the PRC.

BRTR=ZZE—ZTHF+_A=T—HRAHEARE
2,646,000TCH E W E R RETE M BE TYE - B
B Rkt (Y1 2(0)) {EIRIRSN - FTE MBS
HEIER  RERREREHRENR -

Hih &2 B RS R A AREE
ERRZET REEEREMR
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The Group's long term payables represent the amortised costs of
the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase of production
equipment. The effective interest rate used for the amortisation is the
prevailing market interest rate. The balances are repayable as follows:

PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR
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AEENRAEMNFOREARBELER B M
A FIREVESEARAS o BT E R ERNE S
ERITISME « BRAGHHETRIMNT

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARBTT
Within 1 year 1A 61,822 43,932
1 to 2 years 1826 47,648 8,560
2 to 5 years 2E5F 126,111 5,542
Over 5 years S5&ELA 14,980 -
Total long term payables REBFE FIEAEEE 250,561 58,034

Less: Amount due within one year included in B FTARBI R EF EHAER

current liabilities under other payables FIAR—F A E|HiFIE (61,822) (43,932)
188,739 14,102

Certain long term payables are secured by the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 12(b)).

AT REEMFBBUAREBNYE « BE M RE
YRR (FIEE12(b)) ©
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Z{EMt BN E BREERNAEER TETmE
MR K& - WA & BRI M AKEREF
B BAKEBEEETYE BERSZE U
¥ BEREERAEDSEIEIARRBEIE -
B e B € AR AR W - BIERER
B - BB KRB ET AT E A B - A
match the depreciation charge of the property, plant and equipment BLEZERTHEENE  BERZENTES
granted or purchased in accordance with their estimated useful lives. A o FNZAARIEEIAT -

Various local government authorities have granted certain property,
plant and equipment to the Group for nil consideration and provided
finance to the Group to purchase certain property, plant and
equipment by way of a cash donation. Both the property, plant and
equipment and grants are recorded initially at fair value. The grants
received are regarded as deferred income, which is amortised to

Movements of the balances during the year are as follows:

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
At beginning of year F1) 241,131 243,775
Received during the year FFAURER 29,978 12,213
Amortisation during the year (note 4) FINEE (7E4) (17,257) (14,857)
At end of year FLR 253,852 241,131
Current portion BNERER 18,912 15,082
Non-current portion FERNEAER > 234,940 226,049
253,852 241,131
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PRFFARERAT ~F——FIR
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Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BT AR®T T ARETT
Contingent consideration (note 45) HARE(MI5145) @) 96,659 87,101
Present value of redemption amount for ADHE IR AR R AE RS
potential acquisition of puttable non- BB
controlling interests SERIRE (b) 383,872 332,926
480,531 420,027
Notes: P
(@  The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000 @ AEER-Z-TFRBEELEELENIARE

arising from the Group's acquisition of Junlebao in 2010 was re-
measured to RMB91,401,000 as at 31 December 2011.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB6,025,000 arising
from the Group’s acquisition of Leshi in 2011 was re-measured to
RMB5,258,000 as at 31 December 2011.

According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among the
Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao, the
Group granted a put option to the non-controlling shareholders under
which the non-controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the
Group has an obligation to buy the 49% equity interest in Junlebao
after 2016. At 31 December 2011, the Group derecognised the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests of RMB231,170,000 and recognised
a financial liability at the present value of the amount payable upon
exercise of the option of RMB383,872,000 and accounted for the
difference in equity.

A’T@/\EMWOOOOOOOOE RZE——F+=
A=+—HEHM:T=AARKI1,401,0007T °

AEER T ——FIRBLHELENIARER
AREARYE0250005t ' R=FT——F+=8
=+—HEFTEAARKS,258,0007T °

RIEAEE - BB RELENIHERARRET L
RIRR SRS B s + A5 B M) JEFR AR AR BRI HH 70
BBl RET—R"FERIFEERBRREEL
& RASERETEEELEAO%RE - R
T——F+-A=+—H  NEERI-ERIEE
AR A% SR s HOBRE (B A R %6 231,170,0007T R I%Z1T
R R R FE (T SR IB IR B A R #5383,872,0007T
HROEAE  WEEE AR ©
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41. Share Capital 41, B
2011 2010
—E2——F ZETEF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%T T ARBFT
Authorised: VERE
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  3,000,000,000/% &I EI{E
0. 178 TTHY B @A 319,235 319,235
Number of
ordinary shares
ZEREA
Note ‘000 RMB'000
M=t T AR%T R
Issued and fully paid: EEITRERE
At 1 January 2011 RZZE——F—H—H 1,737,988 178,679
Shares issued under the equity-settled share 1845 AR 2~ B9 BE A%
option scheme FrEIE TR @) 29,452 2,408
At 31 December 2011 RZT——F
+ZA=+—8H 1,767,440 181,087
Number of
ordinary shares
egtilibesd=
Note ‘000 RMB’'000
liEss Tz ARBTT
At 1 January 2010 R—EZ—ZFF—H—H 1,737,192 178,611
Shares issued under the equity-settled share 1R 15 LARR A7 Sz 1+ 89 B A
option scheme FTEIBI TR D @ 796 68
At 31 December 2010 RZT—FF
+-—A=+—H 1,737,988 178,679
(@) Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share @ AAEBBIERT B RAREZAT BB TR
options issued under the scheme are included in note 44 to the BRI EDI R B TRk i aT44 o

financial statements.



42. Reserves
(A) Group

181

The movements of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 73 to 74 of

the financial statements.

Movements in the other reserves of the Group during the year

are as follows:

PEFFARERAT ~F——FER
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42. f#E
(A) F£E
ARSI (8 5B B TR (S T B
B  WAR SRR EIEEARNRAM
HRBEN -

FEA - NEERWEMEFEZZOT -

Available-
for-sale
Currency  investment Share
Share Contributed  Statutory translation  revaluation option Other
premium surplus reserves  differences reserve reserve reserve Total
it
K% LERE
RiFEE EHBR  iERE  REER  EMRG ERERE  HURE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR ARETR
Note (a) Note (b) Note 22 Note 44
Hizta) i) 90 Iitzkas
At 1 January 2010 RZZT-T5-F—-H 5,597,236 232,020 953417 (141981) - 461,609 - 7,102,301
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ AFE 2 ENE
Change in fair value of avallable-for-sale ~ AIEHERANLES
investments, net of tax MRFE - - - - 97476 - - 97476
Exchange difference on translation of REBNERNELES
foreign operations - - - (150,885) - - - (150,885)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE 2 ENAEE - - - (15088)) 97476 - - (53409)
Shares issued under equity-settled share 1B AR S M AV EBRRIE
option armangements ZHEARD 13383 - - - - - - 13383
Equity-settied share option arangements  LABR/A S R TRIER
(note 44) (Piztaq) - - - - - 3618 - 366183
Transfer o statutory resenves BREDLTHE - - 236378 - - - - 236378
Derecognition of puttable non-controlling 4% |FRER AN A S FHER
interests (note 40) RrRER (fizH40) - - - - - - (162 (135627)
Transfer of share option reserve upon fiEERERERR
exercise of share options RRERE 15991 - - - - (1599 - -
At 1 January 2011 W-%——%-F-H 5,626,570 232020 1,189,795 (292,866) 97,476 811,801 (135627) 7,529,169
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ AFEf2EUE
Change n fair value of avallable-for-sdle AT ERERLESE)
investments, net of tax BillGE e - - - - (88,072) - - (88,072)
Exchange difference on translation of BEGERNELER
foreign operations - - - (196,303) - - - (196,303)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FE 2 EUGEE - - - (196,303) (88,072) - - (284,375)
Sharesissued under equity-settled share MRS TE0BERRTE
option arrangements ZHEIRA 518,208 - - - - - - 518208
Equity-settled share option amangements AR AR IEZ Bt
(note 44) (Miskad) - - - - - 1B5M - 1B
Transfer o statutory resenves BRDETHE - - 28590 - - - - 28590
Derecognition of puttable non-controlling 42| FREZADEEFHER
interests (note 40) Tsries (iz40) - - - - - - (6.829) (6,829)
Transfer of share option reserve upon Bl e
evercise of share options BERE 182,813 - - - - (182813) - -
At 31 December 2011 RZZ—E+-A=t-F = 632159 232020 1475715 (489,169) 9,404 802,529 (142,456) 8215634
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42 Resel’veS (continued) 42 ﬁ%'fﬁ(ﬁ%)
(B) Company (B) ZA&AF
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are as FER - ARRWEMGEESSIINT
follows:
Available-
for-sale
Currency  investment Share
Share  Contributed  translation  revaluation Retained option
premium surplus  differences reserve eamings reserve Total
it
&%  LERE

RiveE  BHBH  BEER ERE  RENE  BRERE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARMTR ARETR

Note (3) Note 22 Note 42
itza) M2 liRZY)
At 1 January 2010 R-2-2F-f-H 7946,289 387,574 (434.45) - 176,044 461,609 8,537,059
Profit for the year (note (d) REFIE (i) - - - - 266,954 - 266,954
Other comprehensive income for the year: A& R 12 F iz
Change in fair value of available-for-sale THEERENAEES
investments, net of tax HRHE - - - (14,095) - - (14,095)
Exchange difference on translation of AR EBHEL R
foreign operations - - (297211) - - - (29721)
Total comprehensive income forthe year £ E 2 A4S - - (297,.271) (14,095) 266,954 - (44412)
Shares ssied under equity-settled share option IREBR % (E0EERE
arrangements THEARA 13343 - - - - - 13343
Equity-settled share option amangements — BR{A S EEEIRIER B
(note 44) (PHa4) - - - - - 366,183 366,183
Transfer of share option reserve upon ERRENERE
exercise of share options BRERE 15,991 - - - - (15,991) -
Final 2009 dividend declared BER-TINEEARE - - - - (245,445) - (245,445)
At 1 January 2011 R=E—%-A-H 7975623 387,574 (731,728) (14,095) 197,553 811,801 8,626,728
Profit for the year (note (d) AREFIE(FiHd) - 5 - - 280,383 = 280,383
Other comprehensive income for the year: A E A2 EUE :
Change in fair value of avaiable-for-sale RHERERLERY)
investments, net of tax Bl - - - (40,395) - - (40,395)
Exchange difference on translation of BERINERNERER
foreign operations - - (421,293) - - - (421,293)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE2EMGLE - - (421,293) (40,395) 280,383 - (181,305)
Shares sstied under equity-settled share option IREBRR( % (TE0BERE
arrangements THEARG 518,208 - - - - - 518,208
Equity-settled share option arrangements BRI AEERERHE
(note 44) (Htztaa) - - - - - 173541 173541
Transfer of share option reserve upon riEREnEsE
evercise of share options BiERE 182,813 - - - - (182.813) -
Final 2010 dividend declared BER-T-ZEERRE = = = = (279233) = (279.233)

At 31 December 2011 RZE—E+-A=1-H 8,676,644 387574 (1,153,021) (54,490) 198,703 802529 8857939
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(B) Compa NY (continued)
Notes:

(@) Contributed surplus
The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof, and the excess of the amount of capital injected by the minority
shareholder over its additional interest in the subsidiary’s net assets
attributable to the Company’s owners was recorded as contributed
surplus of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the then combined net assets value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

(b) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the PRC
domestic companies are required to transfer 10% of their profit after
income tax, as determined under the PRC accounting standards and
financial regulations, to the statutory common reserve. Subject to
certain restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
the statutory common reserve may be used to offset against the
accumulated losses, if any.

(c) Distributable reserves
Under the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium and contributed surplus of the Company are distributable
to shareholders, provided that immediately following such distributions,
the Company is able to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

(d) The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2011 dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
was RMB280,383,000 (2010: RMB266,954,000), including the dividend
income from subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB238,573,000
(2010: RMB252,314,000).

During the year, the Group purchased property, plant and equipment
by means of long term payables with total contractual amount and
total amortised cost of approximately RMB297,457,000 (2010: Nil)
and RMB235,028,000 (2010: Nil), respectively.

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements B %k 2k Mt

(B) FAF@
i -

() EHEK
AEENEZ BB ERIERIRE B SE IS
FRARMRAE EEARA B AR AP E
TBRMHEERNZER - RZPBERMEARN
BARSFEBBHERSZ T AREEFENFEIME
mPARAEEARERD - DB AREEN
BHER -

AR EZBRSERBEEESEMPEB TR
M B & OF 8 B FEE AR B AR it A@?é
EFEPTERI TR EERAEER

(b) SEERME
REHEBEEROERNRE - PRNEAR
BIZRMERFTSTIR AR 10% (IR IEH B &5+ R
RFBOARER ) EREEEAES - RETES
BRRIOERTEE TREINRTE - AELES
A AERIH RS ER (N E)

(0 AHDIKEE
REFSHEARA(ZTEOFER]) - HRE
BEEURAR S E B - RARKRER BB X BIZD
EREEIHMNER - AARARMDEEREHA
FRIGA DR TR

d BE-T——Ft+-_A=+—HLFE EX
PRI HRER T EE 2 ARQ RSB AELFE
A ANR280,383,0000 (=T —FF : ARE
266,954,000 7T ) a%)@@% A/ i B A
# AR #238573,000L(—ZT—ZTF : ARK
252,314,0007T) ©

FA - ANEBEFARBEMNTIE - EHFRER
R N SER AN B RE 1 R K0 B AR 297,457,000
(ZZ—ZF : &) R AR235,028,0007(=%F
—ZF - BN ABEEYE - HE KRR o
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The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers and any person
or entity that provides research, development or technological support
to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval and adoption of the
Scheme provided that the Group may at any time seek approval from
its shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the total shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
these limits is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after
a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than
seven years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry
date of the Scheme, if earlier.

RARRRI BBt 8 (T5181)) - B RAED
UAREBEEBRIMELEBNAERS2EE - X
RESEHRE - AEANAERABNSRERRE
AARER(BRBELIFNTES) AKEZH
RS - AEB 2 ERAIREHER - FPAKR
AASBERHIAE - FEIEMSEROEFIAL
HER - BN _EERFANA T NABRER
BRAIERUHEIERTSN - BRINZ B +FRBK

B RIBRT B TR H 2 BIEEITEE A T&
TR BB RZHREF N A A BELL/E R ERAET

2 HEBITRMABEZ210% « HEREE ATRER
BORBCREL/ERS ERBHEE RBRN AR LR
EFFHBRAS EREBREIEE A 22T
P& 210% o PMER+ @A HEA - REMHEK
BRETTHENSUAER2EE ZRNHEE
RZ RIMEAREAAREZETROEEZ1% -
ABRHBEABL I R 2 BAHE - BAKRIR
FERRAE LA -

MARRES FETBAEBREEZRERHEE
AT AR B IR RIS BN FE A TE
FEEAE o I IR+ ZERBEA - A
MAAREERFIB L IENTESKFEE 2T
A B B8 A B M 2 AR AT AR R HE P I e AR
RIE BT 20.1% 38 E (R H B AR R R
B2 T {E&HE )2 5,000,000/ 7T + MBLARE
TR AS FSEiE -

AR AR RE A2k B AR 20(EE X A A
SNREMERES B TR ES - RIEBK
BZITEHAEEERE TEMHX-—BEH
BEF RENEBRHBREZZERLF AKX
HEIE B R ARPERE)R L -



44. Share-Based Payment Plan (ontinuea) 44. LR AERNZSETE @
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but B ZITREBRESET @ EPAEROERAF]
may not be less than the highest of () The Stock Exchange of Hong Hxﬁ)i"?“ﬂjﬁﬁﬂx%?i = BERBHMER A
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) closing price of the Company’s AR (BT ) Pl 2 Wi B (AR R EIRRD
shares on the offer date of the share options; (i) the average Stock EC?%T%E &% B A TLE S % B AR ST AT R 2

Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business
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days immediately preceding the offer date; and (jii) the nominal value

of the shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’” meetings.

Particulars of share options

BB AERE
BREFS

FHUTE - RN EEZRSE °

BRI BN REAE 1

Exercise price  Weighted average

Exercise period of share options per share option fair value
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) (notef)  per share option
SHEREN SHEREN
o AT
R EH BRENTER(EEEERA) (FfrEe) ARE
(HKS) (HKS)
(&) ()
26 October 2006 26 October 2007 to 25 October 2012 (note a) 13.40 4.82
“EEREF+AZ+RH —EEA A+ REE T —Ft+A-+HRB(E)
9 November 2007 9 November 2009 to 8 November 2013 (note b) 32.24 10.61
—TE+F+—ANA —EENF+—-ANBEZE—=F+—ANB (D)
18 August 2008 18 August 2010 to 17 August 2014 (note b) 22.03 7.60
—TENFENAHNH —2E2FN\A+N\BEE—IFN\A+ERA D)
23 November 2009 23 November 2011 to 22 November 2015 (note ¢) 24.40 8.50
ZTENFT—AZt=R ZE—Ft+-AZt=ZAEZZT-RF+—AZ+ZB(HFH
6 December 2010 6 December 2012 to 5 December 2016 (note d) 22.80 7.25
—“Z-2F+-FH —“E——F+-AREE-E—"F+ - ARHA ()
10 October 2011 10 October 2011 to 9 October 2018 (note e) 24.10 8.37
—T—F+A+H ZE—FTATHEZZ-/\FTANH (Fe)




China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2011 186

Notes to Financial Statements B4 3R 2% i =%

Particulars of share options (continued)

(@)

The share options will be vested in four equal batches with
25% of the share options granted vesting on the first, second,
third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition,
the share options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of the Group, the division of the grantee
and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50%
of the share options granted vesting on the second and third
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options
will lapse.

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%, 40%
and 40% of the share options granted vesting on, respectively,
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted, in aggregate,
20,116,500 share options are granted in exchange for and
replacement of the outstanding share options previously granted
on 9 November 2007 to better achieve the objectives of the
Scheme (the “Replacement”).

The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%, 40%
and 40% of the share options granted vesting on, respectively,
the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of the
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

MBS (|

(a)

(b)

©

(o)

BIEREBD RSN - 25%HEARED B
REREEREE— = = ROEBFES
J& o UESN - HEESIANEE - ARAFTEE
FIRARAZTREERRBIR - AIEAERE
TEERRB - MARREER LA 2ERR - AlA
RARB RIS R

BRIERRED RSN - 50%HEARED 5
REREBEREZR=(EBFHRE ot
(EEpeSrN SEIRNZS INGIE E RIS ZSc IN
ZEERBRBR  AGRBREL RS -
AR EH L2 EE R - RIGRBIER
R o

BREREBESAB=1D ' 20% * 40%40%
ERES RINBREBRE S - = RIUEA

5B o LA - WEERIARER A AR
BEHFRARAZEEREBE - AIEMAE
IRHER B o WMARREES M2 E T -
I8 ARSI R

A 3% H 889,025,000 BE Bk » Heh
20,116,50017 B8 A& #E Th ik 2242 R B R SE AT
—ETHF+— AN BRRHORITER
BiEmEL - UEFER N EE(E
K)o

BIREREBE S R=1  20% * 40% %40%
BIED BN B FE L BEEE = - = RU{E
BERB o N - WEERAER - ARA
FTB PR AZTBERFBIZ - AlGREE
BRERTESS - MAREEERLMEEE
12 - G RARERRIEAS RN o
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Particulars of share options (continued) AR E )

(e)  The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50% (&) BREBRBDEMED  50% &50% 5
of the share options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth AR S RIPA BRIR T B B S MY K A (ER F 55
anniversaries of the date of grant. In addition, the share options B o o - WEERIAERE - &R APTBE
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance targets FIRERAZEERIR BT - BIGRREARE
of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee are FERRB - AREER L a2 EE - Al
achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options RARARRAE S KRN o
will lapse.

(N The exercise price per share option was the average closing share (H ESHERENTEEDEERL AR AEE
price for the five business days immediately preceding the grant ¥ HHTFARMKMESER T B AR AR DU
date or the closing price of the share on the grant date. ME o

(g Except for the options granted on 10 October 2011, which have @ BRTRZZ——F+ATERENERES
a contractual life of seven years, the contractual life the above HWFEATFIN - EHl TR HBRERN S 4
options granted is six years. All the above options granted have FHIRINE o DHPRA R BB I
no cash alternatives. REEKm -

Movements of share options IBREEE

2011 —E——F

As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed Asat Exercisable at

1 January during during during 31 December 31 December

Date of grant 2011 the year the year the year 2011 2011
R®

R —F-F

i —g-F t=A

—2—-F +=ZA =t-H

Riti A —-A—-B EpRY ERTE FRXM  =1+-H AT
26 October 2006 “ZERFTAZTRA 1,757,642 - (1,497,827) (47,707) 212,108 212,108
18 August 2008 “ZEEN\FNATNH 73,125,280 - (27435173) (7,819,613) 37,870,494 37,870,494
23 November 2009 “TENF+—AZ+=H 86,538,000 - (519,442) (11,319,690) 74,698,868 12,911,988
6 December 2010 “Z-ZETCARRA 4,470,000 - - (100,000) 4,370,000 -
10 October 2011 “E——F+A+H - 65,000,000 - - 65,000,000 -

Total 3 165,890,922 65,000,000 (29,452,442) (19,287,010) 182,151,470 50,994,590
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Movements of share options (continued) MBI AES B ()
2010 —m

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed Asat  Exercisable at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
Date of grant 2010 the year the year the year 2010 2011
R —T—F
—TTF =R
R-Z—ZF +—A =t-R
BHEH —B-B ERBY  ERGE ERER S8 AR
26 October 2006 ZETRFTAZTRE 2,020,669 - (206,056) (56971) 1,757,642 1,757,642
18 August 2008 ZEENENATNH 74,989,000 - (589,759)  (1,273,961) 73,125,280 36,221,780
23 November 2009 “TENF+—AZ+T=H 89,025,000 - - (2,487,000 86,538,000 -
6 December 2010 ZE-TEFZARHA - 4,470,000 - - 4,470,000 -
Total @t 166,034,669 4,470,000 (795,815)  (3,817,932) 165890922 37,979,422

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, out of the total
outstanding share options of 182,151,470 (2010: 165,890,922) as at
31 December 2011, 1,058,720 (2010: 5,324,300) share options had

lapsed due to the unfulfilment of vesting conditions.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was estimated to be RMB444,559,000 (RMB6.84 each) (2010:
RMB27,759,000, RMB6.21 each) at the grant date. The Group
recognised an expense of RMB173,541,000 (note 6 and note 7)

during the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB366,183,000).

The fair value of the above equity-settled share options was estimated as

at the date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account the

terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.

R-ZE——F+= F=+— B rEREA
182,151,4701% (=2 —Z 4 : 165,890,92217 ) i
PEAEB I » 1,058,720/ B HE( = — T4 ¢
5,324,30017) B R RSB E MR IS ARE R
o

RERRLOERERLETREL BBEEA
AR 444,559,000 (B ARB6.847T) (=ZF
—ZT4F . AR¥27,759,0007T - FHARKE621
) AEEREE_E——F+-A=1+—H1t
FEMHER AR 173,541,0007T (Ffake M MizE7) 6
A (ZZ—ZF : AR¥366,183,0007T) °

LRABRS A EREN AR EBETIREL B S
ERA-IEHERAG - YEZEEMTARE
HH B fERTR B A o
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The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the two
option schemes granted in the year of 2011 and 2010:
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FRBIFHN =T ——FE R =F—BERLAN
(ERsRUER BIFTAEA B AIRE

Date of grant
& AR

10 October 2011 6 December 2010
—B——F —TFF
+A+8 +=A7H8
Dividend yield (%) % 5.5 (%) 1 0.7
Expected volatility (%) TRERR (%) 38 34
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 1 2 F 2R (%) 1.2 1.7
Expected life of options (years) BB ETEET R B (5F) 7 6
Spot price (HK$ per share) HEBGET/ E8K) 24.1 22.8
Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEEGET,/ BR) 24.1 228

In light of the lack of a historical exercise record, the expected life of
the options is based on the results of empirical studies performed in
the United States and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. The spot price is the closing price
of the Company’s shares at the grant date. The exercise price is the
closing price of the share on the grant date.

The 29,452,442 share options (2010: 795,815) exercised during the
year resulted in the issue of 29,452,442 (2010: 795,815) ordinary
shares of the Company and new share capital of RMB2,408,000
(2010: RMB68,000) and share premium of RMB518,208,000 (2010:
RMB13,343,000), as further detailed in note 41 to the financial
statements. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for these options was HK$26.78 (2010: HK$23.80).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 50,994,590
(2010: 37,979,422) vested share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 50,994,590 (2010: 37,979,422) additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital of R\MB4,134,000 (2010:
RMB3,232,000) and share premium of R\MB929,940,000 (2010:
RMB695,823,000) (before issue expenses).

ENRZBETELE  BIRENETFHS
REBIMEBARER - RORTAIERELEZTT
R - FRHK B R R BERE AT ARE
ZOER - BT ERERER - REER/AR
BN ER L BHKTHE - (TERERRL RS
HRs D Y (E

29,452, 440217 (=& —F 4 : 79581517 ) HE A e
REANFTHE - B2 #1729,452,442/% (=& —
T4 1 795815/ R) AR A EBIR - EEFRAS
ARBARE2,408000T(ZF—FF : ARK
68,0007T) * Ax 17 B AR #518,208,0007T( =&
—Z 4« AR¥13,343,0007T) © BRI ISR
RMTFEA o ZERBRENITE BB T HRE
£26.787%8L(ZF—Z4F : 23.80/87T) °

REREHIR - N2 A #£7550,994,59010 (ZF —
T4 ¢ 37,979,42210 ) 5T EIIB TR B BB ARITHE
RERRAE - IRA R RIRR 2 RAER - 2ETEN
B2 B I % o BB /N 1750,994,500 % (=&
—Z4F 1 37,979,422 %) AR R E @R A R
4,134,0007T(=Z—Z4F : AR¥E3,232,0007T)58
HNIE R Jo A R #5929,940,0007T (= E—F4 : A
R#695,823,0007T ) A% 175 (B (FBREEATE AT °
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(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (@ R=TB——FWE—XRFAF:

On 17 March 2011, the Group acquired an additional 41.66%
equity interest in Leshi, in which the Group originally had an
equity interest of 22.41%, from independent third parties. Leshi
is mainly engaged in the production of dairy products. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand
its market share of yogurt products in the PRC. The acquisition
was made in the form of cash, with RMB50,907,000 paid at
the acquisition date and the remaining RMB6,025,000 as a
contingent consideration, which is to be paid in 2014 if certain
operating results criteria can be achieved by Leshi over the three
years subsequent to the acquisition date.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest
in Leshi at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
Leshi’s identifiable net assets.

REZZ——F=A++tH  AEERBLE
= USRS FE N 66% BRAE - AR
RG24 %00 - LI FEZRELEE
FLELR o FZUREE AR S B A A R BUEE
EmMISHENREEN—305 o sZUEELIR
SR - Hp AREES0,907,0007T AU
BEHZA - Hef AR6,025,0007T &AM
B - a2 RN=FERET
IR BRI =T —F AT -

AR IR AR R 5 (P S 0 T 3
RSB AL (e R L0 0 EFEARAR R
s -
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45. Business Combination ontinued) 45. EK Pt
(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued) (@) R=E2——FWE—RTFAT : (@)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Leshi as R A2 r | EE R BB AR E

at the date of acquisition were as follows: R
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
RUREBEFRERER
ARE
RMB’'000
ARBTT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment R S ] 43,680
Construction in progress FETRE 10,994
Land use rights s AR 6,179
Other intangible assets HihmiaeE 2,938
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 1,000
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHET 54,175
Trade receivables FEMRBR K 430
Prepayments and deposits AR ke 2,714
Other receivables E Y R IE 97
Inventories =& 7,307
129,514
Liabilities =R
Trade payables FERTBRRR 21,779)
Accruals and customers’ deposits TERBAMEFR® (1,409)
Other payables HAb e FIE (26,611)
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEHRITER (19,500)
(69,299)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RAARBEIRZAIERFIFEELR 60,215
Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of FEIE AR IR B A 2 IR L ) D AT &
identifiable net assets BRVEEE (21,635)
Acquisition-date fair value of the Group's initial 22.41% 7S EFAULEE B 5 804405
equity interest in Leshi 22N %BHENARE (13,494)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 15) W A R B (M9EE15) 30,823
Purchase consideration BERE 55,909
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(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued) (@) R=F2——FWE—RTF2A7 : (@)

The fair value of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB430,000 and
RMB97,000, respectively. The gross amount of trade receivables
and other receivables were RMB430,000 and RMB97,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB12,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

The goodwill of RMB30,823,000 represents the value of
expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RIVIB6,025,000
was recognised at RMB5,002,000 as at the acquisition date and
then remeasured to RMB5,258,000 as at 31 December 2011.
This was classified as other financial liabilities (note 40).

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Leshi

S B Y B U R SR R B A GRIE 2 At
E5 Bl A& AR #430,0007T & A R #97,000
T © FEURERGR I ELf FEUGRIB A & KV 4R RE )
Al A AR #430,0007T KA R #97,0007T

AREBFZBBEER HKAARE12,000
TC ° ZERBRABRGAFIBRI $HI A
MNTERER -

AR #30,823,0007T 2 245 TB A sz B
EXNHRRENEE - BHEEAEENR
FTS B =18 N Al HR o

RIARBAREEE,025,0007THI A A BEE UL
% B RER A AR #5,002,000T R EER =
T——F+-A=t+—HEFEAARE
5,258,0007T ° LT3 D M AH fthE & & (
5£40) °

BB R SERENITAT

is as follows:
RMB'000
ARETT

Cash consideration HeRE 50,907
Cash and bank balances acquired FrUliEiR & MERITHETT (54,175)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in BREEREEYELENESREAN

cash flows from investing activities ReRESZEBEWFRA (3,268)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash BREEREEBEENRMENR

flows from operating activities WX Z AR 12

(3,256)




(a)

(b)

193

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued)

Since its acquisition, Leshi contributed RMB262,824,000 to the
Group's turnover and RMB20,444,000 to the consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year would have
been RMB37,430,289,000 and RMB1,785,271,000, respectively.

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2010:

On 30 November 2010, the Group acquired a 51% interest
in Junlebao from independent third parties. Junlebao is mainly
engaged in the production and distribution of yogurt products.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group's strategy to
expand its market share of yogurt products in the PRC. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form of
cash, with R\MIB369,200,000 paid at the acquisition date and
the remaining RMB100,000,000 as a contingent consideration,
which is to be paid in December 2014 if certain operating
results criteria can be achieved by Junlebao over the three years
subsequent to the acquisition date.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in
Junlebao at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
Junlebao’s identifiable net asset.

TREEFIEERAT 2 ——FFR
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(@)

(b)

REZB——FRE-XRFAF : (@)
BEEER S AAEERE_T——F
ToA=t+—BUEFENEERREZETN
B0 BB Bt AR 262,824,0007T M A R ¥
20,444,0007T °

BRAHRETEE - ZEERFEAMHKA
RAEE D Bl A A R E37,430,289,0007T &
AER#1,785,271,0007T °

R-Z2-ZFRE-RFAA:

RZZ—ZF+—A=+8  AEEEBET
FEZHUWEEB TS % - BHEEBH
FHERDHENER - ZUEANEEE
ARELFA AR BABL 973 EE G T 3510 BB ) SR B ) — 3P
Do ZUMBNBERERSHAIN - &
A AR 369,200,000 7T 7 U i B 8 A
Hep AR #100,000,0007C B ARE - il
EEABRENRERRRN=FERETK
SR - AR =T —OFE+ =Xt -

R EER R R RS S (B R
ARAE ARG BB B3
R AR SRS -
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45. FEBEFum)
(b) R=EB—Z2FRE—RFOF : (@A)
RUEE A EIE 2R #HFEERBENA

45. Business Combination ontinued)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2010: (continued)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Junlebao as

at the date of acquisition were as follows: AEWAT :
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
RULEERFRERE
ARE
RMB’'000
ARETT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment R Y 317,035
Construction in progress FETE 27,188
Land use rights T Hb s A 43,850
Other intangible assets Hibh\mpEE 184,476
Interests in associates B AR R 13,875
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 13,000
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTET 101,001
Pledged deposits REESTFHR 10,000
Bills receivable JEWEZER 6,247
Trade receivables FEUARTR 29,877
Prepayments and deposits TEfR ke 24,526
Other receivables H A FEUGRIA 94,883
Inventories ety 50,497
916,455
Liabilities afE
Trade payables FERTBRER (135,472)
Bills payable FERT SRR (20,000)
Accruals and customers’ deposits TERBALEP 2 (38,184)
Other payables HAbERFIE (74,346)
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings TR TE R E A AR (202,996)
Income tax payable FERTETISHR (18,139)
Long term payables RARFEFTFIE (2,761)
(491,898)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAMESIRZ TERBIFEERSE 424,557
Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of AR IR e R L AT B R
identifiable net assets FEEAN (221,287)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEER B 252,470
Purchase consideration BERE 455,740
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The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as
at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB29,877,000 and
RMB94,883,000, respectively. The gross contractual of trade
receivables and other receivables amounted to RMB29,905,000 and
RMB95, 198,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB1,156,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

The goodwill of RMB252,470,000 represents the value of expected
synergies arising from the acquisition. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000
was recognised at RMB86,540,000 as at the acquisition date and then
remeasured to RMB87,101,000 as at 31 December 2010. This was
classified as other financial liabilities (note 40).

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a
subsidiary is as follows:
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USRS B EA B R IR AR S R H M FEISGRIB A SR (B
Rl A R#29,877,0007T K A R #94,883,0007T °
FEUBR R Hofh FE FIB R & KVARFE D R A AR
#529,905,0007T }2 A EE#£95,198,0007T

AEBFZWEEERFHKRAARE1,156,000
T ° ZERBUAERER A FBER T $EI T ATT
HRER -

AR #252,470,0007T 2 B2 TR BRE s BB = A
M EBEREE - TREE EREERATSH E
KT = A5 AT HIR ©

FHARKEB AR B 100,000,000 TH AR EER
g B8 B HiRE 32 5 A R 586,540,000 7T N H & R
—E-ZTE+-_F=F+—HEFFEAARE
87,101,0007T ° Wi HEAEMmE & F (KT
40) °

BRENE X FRARNBRSRESNTAT

RMB’'000

ARBTT

Cash consideration BERE 369,200

Cash and bank balances acquired FrUiEIR & M ERTTASF (101,001)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in PIETREEBEENREREAN

cash flows from investing activities ReRRSEFEMFnL 268,199
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows B L EKELNIRSTRERND

from operating activities WFEHIRZ SRR 1,156

269,355
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Since its acquisition, Junlebao contributed RMB119,541,000 to the
Group's turnover and RMB4,089,000 to the consolidated profit for the

year ended 31 December 2010.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of that year ended
31 December 2010, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2010 would have been RMB31,505,889,000

and RMB1,374,404,000, respectively.

Save as the disclosure in note 45 and 50(b), the Group did not have

any significant contingent liabilities at the end of reporting period.

The Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities at the

end of reporting period.

Details of the Group’s bank loans, other loans and long term payables,
which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes

36, 37 and 38, respectively, to the financial statements.

(@) As lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

BEHWKER BELEALAEBEE—_ZT—ZTF
T A=+ —HIEFENEEBRLEESTES A
BHELAREE119,541,0007T B A R #54,089,0007T ©

BEEHREBEEZ—ZTF+_A=+—HI
FENRE  AEERBE_T—ZTF+=A
=+—HBIEFEANKARFENBEEDRIAA
R#31,505,889,0007T & A R #51,374,404,0007T ©

BREUA 345 R 50(0) I B ER SN » ARER IR E B
REELAERLARLE -

ARBRHERRL B EAEARARLE °

EHREAEBRNEEFRFNASERITER
B ERRRIEMNFIEFS - 2RISR % ®R
KMIEE36 ~ 37438 °

(@) ERHBEA
PR R ARERE T M ST
& + BRSNS RS 2
I

Group
EE
2011 2010
—e——= . ¥
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Within one year 1FA 762 -
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2FESF(PIEEREMFEA) 69,467 -

70,229 -
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(b) As lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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(b) fEREMEA
RBEHR - AEERRERENE TEER
H) AR S E AN ARSI &K

in respect of buildings and certain production equipment as T LagEn N
follows:
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—B——F —TFF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARYEET T ARETT
Within one year 1R 71,252 65,475
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2EESF(BIEERMEAEN) 205,406 239,844
Over five years SEFLAE 13,801 32,120
290,459 337,439

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
48, the Group had the following outstanding capital commitments
in respect of the purchase and construction of property, plant and
equipment as at the end of reporting period:

B T M REA8RE ML R B HE ARSI - RIS
R AEERBEEREEYE BB RREN
BAAENT

Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for BRTAME RS 694,483 527,900

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the board of directors
approved the capital expenditure (not contracted for) amounting
to approximately RMB2,500,748,000 (2010: RMB1,919,820,000),
out of which approximately RMB7,725,000 (2010: RMB5,850,000)
was related to the Group’s share of capital expenditure of a jointly-
controlled entity.

The Company did not have any significant commitments at the end of
reporting period.

REREHRE - EFSEEARST (BRETL)
495 ANR#2,500,748,00070( T —ZF : AR
1,919,820,0007T) + EAF#ARE7,725,0007T(=
T—THE . ARKS,850,000) EBAREEHE—[F
I EENEARAZ AR -

RIFEHR » NARALEAEABAASE -
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In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed @@ BRRAHBHREE { BB RN 5 AR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the Hh  REBEEBENT - XRIEFIEER
following significant transactions with its associates, a jointly- E bR AT NIIEAR S ©
controlled entity and other related parties.
Group
AEHE
2011 2010
—E2——F —ZF
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bt ARYTF T ARBFIT
() Sales of liquid milk products to ) MEEARIHES 0]
associates TRREINEE mh 4,719,948 4,856,436
() Sales of ice cream products to () mEEAEHES ()
associates IREEE i 336,646 546,971
() Sales of other dairy products to (I  REEARHEE i)
associates HihZl8m 14,734 25,141
(V) Sales of raw materials to V) mLEEHEEE (ii)
a jointly-controlled entity HEREMR 51,908 45,059
(V) Sales of raw materials to affiliates of (V) [EART]—EE 0
a major shareholder of the Company &% B BB A
HERMEL 158 257
(Vl) Purchase of raw materials from (V) MRS EES (ii)
a jointly-controlled entity fRE Hh 7 &m (84,300) (236,563)
(VIl) Purchase of ice cream products from — (VIl) [AEEE A TGS (i)
an associate PREINEE fh (56,565) (66,251)
(VIlly Purchase of liquid milk products from (Vi) MEE&ATIES @
an associate TR E M (42,445) (14,217)
(IX) Purchase of raw materials from (IX) MAARE—xE ()
affiliates of a major shareholder of A% ER AYE B A B
the Company B RAE (265,832) (110,963)
Notes: BaE
() The considerations were determined with reference to the then iy EBRIELREEEHISER,/BXRRKEE

prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged to third

parties.

(i) These transactions were conducted at cost, which approximated

to the prevailing market price of the materials.

(i

=HIEREEE °

WERZSBRAE (KRR 2TE)E

GE
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50. Related Party Transactions continued) 50. EAEE AR5 @)
(b) Other transactions with related parties (b) EEEEEEATETHHMRS
The Group has guarantees of the below amounts in connection REEFET BRI TESRIEROFIBLT

with interest-bearing bank loans:

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T ARETT
Guarantees provided for a AR E IR
jointly-controlled entity R 2,709 70,635
Guarantees provided by a partner of R R B R B
a jointly-controlled entity REEER = 67,104
Guarantees provided for an associate BTSN R HAER = 19,500
() Compensation of key management personnel of the (0 ZTEEHEEEEABSNRM
Group
Key management compensation is detailed in note 7 to the FEEIRA B BRI SRR I7E7 ©
financial statements.
Except for (a.V) and (a.IX), the above transactions did not BT @WVWk@IX)gh - Fal R B0 R T

constitute connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules. RAPTHRERRER S -
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51. Financial Instruments by Category 51. BERIEI T WEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RIBERR - ZESEN SR TANREENAT
as at the end of reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets SREE
Group
r5E
2011 2010

S —E-34

Available- Available-

for-sale for-sale

Loans and financial Loans and financial

receivables assets Total  receivables assets Total
Rk  OftHE ERk  AHHE

EEHE  SREE Bt EEEE SREE a5t
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETT ARMTT ARBTE

Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE - 295,206 295,206 - 301,681 301,681
Bills receivable JEW SR 261,024 - 261,024 20,539 - 20,539
Trade receivables JEUERTR 574,734 - 574,734 554,933 - 554,933
Other receivables Hi e EIE 289,427 - 289,427 169,897 - 169,897
Other financial assets HitemEE 69,961 - 69,961 71,754 - 71,754
Investment deposits RERR 102,800 - 102,800 - - -
Pledged deposits RESFR 175,289 - 175,289 102,399 - 102,399
Cash and bank balances BeRRTET 6,523,075 - 6523075 6,697,813 - 6697313

7,996,310 295206 8291516 7,617,335 301,681 7919,016
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51. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinued) 51. BRERIZIZMNEMITAE@

Financial liabilities SRBaE
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F ZETEF
Financial Financial Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at liabilities at liabilities at
fair value amortised cost fairvalue  amortised cost
BRARE R R AR BRARE IR SHRCR
S BRHY HIERHY 5l A=A HIEREY
SRaE = THREE Ea=N=l
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AR®TR ARBTT ARBTE
Trade payables FERTERIR - 2,543,405 - 2,061,193
Bills payable FER R - 1,141,141 - 1,487,302
Other payables H AR IR 6,731 1,575,050 - 1,061,253
Interest-bearing bank loans ETEIRTTER - 537,544 - 700,786
Other loans HA B - 119,094 - 140,018
Long term payables KA A - 188,739 - 14,102
Other financial liabilities HithemBeE - 480,531 - 420,027
6,731 6,585,504 - 5,884,681
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51. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the end of reporting period are as follows:

. BERESHER T Ew@m

REFEHR - FEIENS BT AMREELT

Financial assets SREE
Company
NG|
2011 2010
—E-F —E-54
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loans and financial Loans and finandial
receivables assets Total  receivables assets Total
EXRk  AHEE Rk AfEHE
BRHE  SREE a3t EYEUE eREE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR%®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT
Loans to a subsidiary included in -~ A F R RIRIER B ZH)
interests in subsidiaries (note 19)  [E—FRFARFIE
(PizE19) 741,060 - 741060 777835 - 71835
Loans to a subsidiary (note 18)  JEI—FK 72 rlzE
(FizE18) 2,656,684 - 2,656,684 2,680,430 - 2,680,430
Financial assets included in BIERNE A EUEIAR
other receivables TREE 52,171 - 52,171 36,949 - 36,949
Cash and bank balances B MR T 622,766 - 622,766 599,995 - 599,995
Available-for-sale investments AELERE - 69,008 69,008 - 114,831 114,831
4,072,681 69,008 4,141,689 4,095,209 114,831 4,210,040
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Financial liabilities
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ERAeE
Company
PN
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-ZF

Financial liabilities  Financial liabilities

at amortised cost at amortised cost

RIS AR A TR SER N
JIEEMEemEE JIRNEmaE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Financial liabilities included in other payables BREREMEANFIER
TRIBE 1,133 1,544
Fair value ARE

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, the current portion of
pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, current
interest bearing bank loans, other loans, approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of other financial assets, loans to a subsidiary, non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long term payables
and other financial liabilities have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

SREERBBEZAREAZTANBRINS
THREETZRSCREFBEHERIN AR
M7 SRR

IXEARMERT AR ERTDENERR

Re MRS FBYNRAE - RESTFHRAOMNH
;o - BEER  BENRARENRRE - 28R
BN e REAMRBYGRIENEREE - B4
REMENRBERBRERNSREIE  REE
BRTEFRREME RS T AREHNE HmE
B Z FREEARE

HMEMEE  BR—RFRAFIEA - FHERTT
EREREENFIRNIERBE S AR E i 2 R
BENARBETRAELER - EERRRST
3 A & T AR AT S RO M KT IR AR IRIR

ERERTHE
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Fair value (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices
or rates. The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting
from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair values,
which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with established
commodity trading exchanges. Derivative financial instruments are
measured using market quoted prices. The carrying amounts of the
commaodity futures contracts are the same as their fair value.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing
the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques

for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which any inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs)

DAEGE
ERBRARENRAABTIERTIHRE - JF LT
Al ERAR AR AR EE R ER I &R B
MIZERIN R FHERRNGEERMETRH
it - ERAE/RERImERNGET A EET
MNFEEMBARR) RAAERNRRES) (KA
Hitrlra e ) BB AR - WARRE BRNEE
EfhfE -

AEFEEKINEmE SR SR LITES R
THE-ITESRTANERTSREE - Bm
HIE A MR ERFE S AL ERR -

DREER
AEERAATERNEE REESRTANR
718 :

RIFEREER A BN ERTIHN
HBECREAR)FELAE

Sc‘Hi
2

FH . AnEENMLERMETE - A2
RSN AR EBEATENE
AR 2 A B RS ERERGEE

F= . AnEENMEERMETE - BEA
UM AR BEERTENE
ABUREIL FEERN A BRI T 5
B ESRBABER)
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52. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy ontinuea

J
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBRE
Assets measured at fair value: BRAREFENEE
Group
rEEH
2011
—E——F
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—& E=4 st
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARYTF T AR¥T T AR%T T
Available-for-sale investments at AR EFFER
fair value A ERE 69,008 103,319 172,327
Company
RAF]
2011
—E——5F
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E B=R Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARYEET T ARMEET T AR%ET R
Available-for-sale investments at  IZASLEETER
fair value A EIRE 69,008 - 69,008
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52. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy (ontinuea
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value:

Group

rEH

2010

—E-TF
Level 1 Level 3 Total
F— E= #ast
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETFTT AREFTT AREFT
Available-for-sale investments at WA ERTER
fair value A HERE 114,831 171,461 286,292
Company
ZA/NS]
2010
—TTF
Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—& E= st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT
Available-for-sale investments at IR ARBEFTER

fair value AHHERE 114,831 - 114,831
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52. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy ontinuea 52. ARERARERBR@
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBRE
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the year FAFE=RARETENESHNT

are as follows:

2011 2010

—E——5F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETIT
Available-for-sale investments — unlisted AEHERE LT

At 1 January n—H—H 171,461 -

Reclassification from available-for-sale B A ET e

investments at cost WEENOER = 12,000
Total gains recognised in other REAERE AR A

comprehensive income Wes4agE (68,142) 159,461

At 31 December m+—A=+—H 103,319 171,461

Liabilities measured at fair value: BARERENAE -
Group
REE
2011
—E2——F

Level 1 Total

F— et

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR%T T

Other payables — derivative financial instruments at - EAth B~ F018 — 2 AL B
fair value TENITESRITA 6,731 6,731
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Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBRE
Liabilities measured at fair value: RARBEFENARE
Group
REH
2010
—TTF
Level 1 Total
F— “@st
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFIT ARBFIT

Other payables — derivative financial instruments at  ELAf {3008 — R A A E
fair value STENITESRTA - -

——£R=F-FE+-A=t-8 &

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair N

A

value as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

Financial risk management

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables,
other receivables and payables, balances with related parties, interest-
bearing bank loans, other loans and long term payables. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly commodity
futures contracts. The purpose is to manage the commodity risks
arising from the Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
equity price risk. The board of directors and senior management meet
periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group'’s
exposure to these risks. Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies
on its risk management.

REVWEEEAAEFENSHAR -

M ERER
AEEZTRZSRTAGIETARIN BERE
MREEEY  BRRENERR - Etrk ke
IR - R A TR - SHRIRTER - K
MERERAEMNTIR - ZFEMTATERN
ERAEENLEEEEES - AEBRBEARKE
BEERRBEEBNEMEREENRAE - fINE
WHRR S B SRR X @

REENFILITER D TEREmAEEH -
BHRERAREXBEMEELNEMER

KEAKESRTANTIZARENXER - S
KRR  EERRRREIERERERAERR
o BFELSREEASTRHETEHR - O
REBFAZ R - WHIERAE R R
I » AEE—ARRNRIEL RIS E R AR -
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Financial risk management (continued)

0]

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings with floating
interest rates. The Group closely monitors its interest rate risk by
performing periodic reviews and evaluations of its debt portfolio
and gearing ratio. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the bank loans of the Group are disclosed in note 36 to the
financial statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used any interest
rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group'’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings):

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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MR EE ()
) FIEERE

AEEERS TSN EZEFE MR ERGRAN
SEMTEMEE o« NEEE R M EE
BEBHEA RERNBELE - SEF EERE
TTEYNER » NEBHYIRITE TN R g
IR B TSR M 361K 5E - EFRA - &%
B EEARIRRER - TRR S R EAFR
S EA S R A < e g

TRINEMBEMBREHTENIER
T MERAREHE A BB H A EET AT
(BB EEENTENTE

Group
TEE

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in profit

in basis points before tax

FlZ=E R BiAIFIE

#hn, (L) 2, (A4)

RMB’'000

ARETTT

2011 —Eg——5F
RMB AREE 50 (3.471)
RMB ARY (50) 3471
United States dollar ET 50 (210)
United States dollar ESr (50) 210
2010 —E—TF

RMB AR 50 (2,032)
RMB AR (50) 2,032
United States dollar e 50 (119)
United States dollar = (50) 119
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Financial risk management (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's businesses are principally located in Mainland
China and substantially all transactions are conducted in
RMB, except for the purchases of imported machinery and
equipment and sales of dairy products to Hong Kong and
Macau. As at 31 December 2011, substantially all of the Group’s
assets and liabilities were denominated in RMB except the
cash and bank balances of approximately RMB139,724,000
(2010: RMB67,366,000) and RMB163,027,000(2010:
RMB1,631,092,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, respectively, the interest-
bearing bank loans of approximately RMB264,044,000 (2010:
RMB27,866,000) and long term payables of approximately
RMB100,128,000 (2010: RMB49,208,000) which were
denominated in United States dollars, and long term payables of
approximately RMB2,716,000 (2010: RMB8,125,000) which was
denominated in Japanese yen. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group's
results of operations. However, in the opinion of the directors,
the foreign currency risk exposure is under management’s
control.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rate as compared to
United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Japanese yen with
all other variables held constant, of the Group'’s profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities)
and equity:

B3 B (4)
(i) IMEERERR

AEBNEBETZMNTBEARE  KTHE
FEARSNREUARBEEFVRPIH S

AR@mIN  BRBDRZARARBEH/A
A% - R=F——F+=A=+—8

AEBHEERAEBET  BRTREHA
[R#139,724,000 T ( —Z T —ZT4F : AR¥
67,366,0007T ) & A R ¥ 163,027,000 (=
T—Z24 : AR¥1,631,092,0007T) H3R &
RIRITHIF D RIAETT KRBT REN - 512
SRITERY A RE264,044,0000( =2 —=
F : AR¥27,866,0007T) K K HEAFEFRIAL)
AER¥E100,128,0007T( = —ZF : AR
49,208,0007T) JILAE T A AL - LARKARME
NREHARKE2,716,0007T( ZF—T4F :
AR #8,125,0007T) T3 A BBl ERLLASN -
BARIBAEIAARE BB - AR HINE
WEBERKE - AlRE EREEMNKEHE
& BEERRINERBRIEEEEMNIERZ
|:F| °

TRINFEME R MEHER T ENIER
T ARBEZT - BT R AR AR
ERHENAEEH(REREENABNA
REREE ) B AR BB AT FE R AE A

T
2.4 .
=78

=

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/

(decrease) in profit (decrease)

in RMB rate before tax in equity

ARMER BiRIFE i

EFH(THR) i, CrA) B, i)

% RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT
2011 —E——F 5 220,456 (218,838)
(5) (220,456) 218,838

2010 —E—TF 5 60,593 (224,790)
(5) (60,593) 224,790
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Financial risk management (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit risk

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged deposits, of
the Group are mainly deposited with state-owned commercial
banks in Mainland China.

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on a cash
basis. The Group has implemented policies to ensure that sales
of products are made to distributors, who wish to trade on
credit terms, with an appropriate credit history which is subject
to periodic reviews. Receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these assets.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the provision
of financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in
note 50(b) to the financial statements.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 27
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by performing
periodic reviews and evaluations of its liquidity with regard to the
industry characteristics, market conditions, business strategies
and changes in the Group's state of affairs and adjusting the
current and non-current portions of the Group’s debt portfolio
on a proper and timely basis. In addition, the Group aims to
ensure a continuity of funds and flexibility through the use of
various means of financing and by keeping committed credit
lines available.

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR
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SR EE (%)

(iii)

(iv)

FERR
REBRE MRITAEFURRES TR -
T EFNPBIARER B A RRIRIT

AEERBOOHETIRA S EELET - KN
SEEERBEARRERSE THAEE
EERSIL A BARRT A ETRZHKH
7 W EEEREETERNER - &5
E-EREERRRFUANGER - AEEL
HE AR o

BN 57 2 KEERIRE REMEKIR
BRHAEEEMEREENERERES
IREAMESEA I FEERRREE

A& B IR AR R R T E S B R
B - HE— SRHB R M B R M 5000) 1K

o

Br EattESN - AREEN BRI A THT
TREBAEREERR

BHAEERERUIRRMARRY 2 ERERR
ZEMB(CBIE - WERPEMKME27

TRED P B

AEEERERETESR  MHRENE
TR - BAISHORME L - HIEREMREIE
BT MER - BE YRS HEREEE
R AN R IERNEIRR D - SABTEER B 1
R o s - AEEINE BN BT RMEE
HARRFGE-ENFREERENERES
BEEM R EEM o
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Financial risk management (continued) B ERETE (&)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) REERERE(E)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group'’s TREFFINRN—_E—F+-_A=1+—HBRE
financial liabilities at 31 December 2011 based on contractual BRENENTNASE SR E ENEIHIE
undiscounted payments. e
2011
—F——fF
Less than More than
On demand 1year 1tob5 years 5 years Total
RER —FH0R —FRF HEUE #st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARMTRT AR®TR

Interest-bearing bank loans &+ 5 4R1TE K - 537,544 = = 537,544
Other loans HMER 119,094 = = = 119,094
Trade and bills payables FERTRRFN R B = - 3,684,546 - - 3,684,546
Other payables, excluding HAFERFIA -

current portion of long term NI RAAER

payables FIBRBNEIEE - 1,519,959 - - 1,519,959
Long term payables REAFENFUE = 72,216 203,068 15,204 290,488
Other finandial liabilities Hth&maE - - 363,328 593,060 956,388

Loan guarantees given to banks %5 FER1THY B FIE(R = = = - -

2010
—TTF
Less than More than
On demand 1year 1tob5 years 5 years Total
BEXK —FNURN  —ZERF  AFUE #Est

RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBETT ARETT

Interest-bearing bank loans ~ 5+BIRTTE - 550,786 150,000 - 700,786
Other loans HiER 140,018 - - - 140,018
Trade and bills payables JERTIRR BN RIB — 3,548,495 - — 3,548,495
Other payables, excluding H M ERTFIE -

current portion of long term @ 5 R BfES

payables FIERBVHRE - 1,017,321 . - 1,017,321
Long term payables REBFENTFIE - 45,545 15,517 - 61,062
Other financial liabilities Hiherta s - - 100,000 850,363 950,363

Loan guarantees given to banks %5 T IRTTHIE FIER - 2,500 - - 2,500
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Financial risk management (continued)
(v) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
available-for-sale investments (note 22) as at 31 December 2011.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity
investments, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for
factors such as impairment which might impact the income

PRERFIARARQR —F——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements B %k 2k Mt

MR EE ()

(v) BAERERE
RAMERS A R BUKT R EREHE
EEHEBRABSAABETEZER - 7
—E—FFt_A=1t—H AEEEHZ
BAERRERRE D BRAHEERE (M
i£22) Z (ARBARE

TRETEEMAEERRERTEER
SAERRBTEZER  BAREZ DA
BEE5%EFE 2 HRAE - THREAIRER
BERRZREESE - RADTME ¥
RAEHERARE  BREAIHEERE
BitFHRERTE - AR ER LA E
MEROEE - PIEIRIE

statement.
Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2011 investments equity
—E——F IRAIRE R AREE P2 4 B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR®T T
Investments listed in: A TIERHIRE
Hong Kong available-for-sale BB HHE 69,008 3,540
Unlisted investments at fair value: BAREETERNIELTIRE -
Available-for-sale AMEHE 103,319 5,166
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Financial risk management (continued)
(v) Equity price risk (continued)
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ISR EE ()
(v) RAERER(E

Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2010 investments equity
T —TF A& R RRE(E AR
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETTT ARETTT
Investments listed in: FIALATIEERIRE -
Hong Kong available-for-sale BEAHHE 114,831 5,742
Unlisted investments at fair value: BAREFTENIELTRE -
Available-for-sale AEHE 171,461 8,573

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to

maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure makes adjustments to it in

light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of

the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the

Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital

to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the

objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years

ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

EXER

AEEEREENER B RERANREREL
LN RRFRENEARLE - UXHEER
KIEmAREE -

REBBTRHEERERE I HARLERRNE
{tRIBEEENRBFHEL AR - BEFH
FEERZERE - AEE AR TR
fRE -~ RERAEARBI WM EFHITHR - RBEZ
T——F+A=+—BRZZT—ZF+=A
=T—HIEFEAEEABTENBRE  BERHE
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Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank loans and other loans, trade, bills and other payables,
accruals and customers’ deposits, long term payables, other financial
liabilities, less cash and bank balances, and excludes discontinued
operations. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The gearing ratios as at the ends of reporting periods were as
follows:

PEFFARARAT ~F——FER

Notes to Financial Statements B %3k 2k Mt

EXREE @)

AEBENERB B RERER - EXRAELE
ABaEFERAERNEEN LR EFEIM - &
ERFRERARRTERREMER - BAK
o BNRBEREMENRIE BRERAEEP
AT REEMNFENREMEREEEAES
MM - BERE RRITET L TEREDRLEL
BET - BAREARREA AEHIEL - X
BEHRNERNABLERIT

Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARBTT
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEIRITER 537,544 700,786
Trade and bills payables FERBRER R BN R 3,684,546 3,548,495
Accruals and customers’ deposits TEREBALEFP 2 1,180,720 880,142
Other payables HibfERTIE 1,581,781 1,061,253
Other loans EfER 119,094 140,018
Long term payables REAFERZIE 188,739 14,102
Other financial liabilities HthemaE 480,531 420,027
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRe RIBTTETT (6,523,075) (6,697,813)
Net debt FEIE 1,249,880 67,010
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNTHER NEIGHE 11,471,058 9,758,064
Capital and net debt BREEEE 12,720,938 9,825,074
Gearing ratio BAREELE 9.83% 0.68%

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by

the board of directors on 27 March 2012.

eV T —F=A-t++A#EREE

TIBEHREK



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2011 216

R

The following is a summary of the audited financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries for

the respective years.

THAFRFFIEBRAB(AAR ) REFRFRN
TOBEFE 2 EELZIHREME

Year ended
BEt-A=1t—HLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—2——f —T-TF —TTNF —TT/\F —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETIT ARETIT ARETT ARETT
Revenue WA 37,387,844 30,265,415 25,710,460 23,864,975 21,318,062
Profit/(loss) before tax T)DLELZLI 158, (E518) 2,060,630 1,538,102 1,346,346  (1,089,275) 1,130,310
Income tax income/(expense) Bl (ZH) (276,081) (182,185) (126,240) 161,454 (21,658)
Profit/(loss) for the year from K@ FIBICE ST
continuing operations I/ (E8B) 1,784,549 1355917 1,220,106  (927,821) 1,108,652
Profit for the year from a IREF LR ST
discontinued operation - - - 3,357 -
Profit/(loss) for the year REFE,/ (EE) 1,784,549 1355917 1,220,106  (924,464) 1,108,652
Attributable to: Y& T FEL -
Owners of the Company RAEHERA 1,589,274 1,237,273 1,115799  (948,600) 935,786
Non-controlling/minority FEFERS D HPE R
interests Té 195,275 118,644 104,307 24,136 172,866
Proposed dividend BB 349,953 278,078 245,465 - 187,535
Earnings per share attributable N2 51 @B A&
to ordinary owners of the BREMNARET)
Company (RMB) (note (i) (P5EG))
For profit/loss) for the year ANEFE, (E518)
— Basic — 5K 0.908 0.712 0.681 (0.639) 0.664
— Diluted —#y 0.905 0.711 N/A N/A 0.664
At 31 December
B+=—A=+—H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—B——F —T-TF —_TTNF —TTN\F —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETIT ARETIT ARETT ARETT
Total assets EEE 20,201,685 17,305,841 14,096,126 11,315,275 9,681,279
Total liabilities wa s 8,152,865 7,088,332 5,184,432 6,577,304 3,846,575
Equity attributable to owners of AR GEHB AFEEHERS
the Company 11,471,058 9,758,064 8,575,678 4,464,616 5,111,629
Non-controlling/minority interests FE22A% /L BiA% SR kE2R 577,762 459,445 336,016 273,355 723,075
Note: 5T
()  Calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to ordinary owners of ()  ZANA R EAREA AL SRR AT E LEFH NG

the Company is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

BTSSR IIRE ©
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